
 
 

(Established pursuant to section 103 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development  
and Construction Act 2009 as the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton  

and Wirral Combined Authority) 

 
MEETING OF THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION  

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

 
To: The Members of the Audit and Governance Committee 
 
Dear Member, 
 
You are requested to attend a meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee 
to be held on Thursday, 29th September, 2022 at 10.00 am in the Authority 

Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP. 
 
The meeting will be live webcast. To access the webcast please go to the 
Combined Authority’s website at the time of the meeting and follow the 
instructions on the page. 
 
If you have any queries regarding this meeting, please contact Lisa Backstrom 
on telephone number (0151) 330 1079. 
 

Yours faithfully 

 
Chief Executive  

 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 

 
This meeting will be filmed by the Combined Authority for live and/or 
subsequent broadcast on the Combined Authority’s website. The whole of the 
meeting will be filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items.  
 
If you do not wish to have your image captured or if you have any queries 
regarding the webcasting of the meeting please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer on the above number or email 
mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.ukdemocratic.services@liverpool
cityregion-ca.gov.uk.  
 
 A Fair Processing Notice is available on the Combined Authority’s website at 
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-
Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf 
 

 

mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf


 

 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. APOLOGIES  

   

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

   

3. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  

 To consider the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 27 July 
2022. 

  (Pages 1 - 14) 

INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

4. INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  

 To consider the report of the Head of Internal Audit. 

  (Pages 15 - 46) 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

5. RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE  

 To consider the report of the Head of Internal Audit. 

  (Pages 47 - 100) 
 
 

FINANCE 
 

6. EXTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21  

 To consider the report of the Executive Director of Corporate Services. 

  (Pages 101 - 118) 
 
 

7. EXTERNAL AUDIT 2021/22 PROGRESS UPDATE  

 To consider the report of the Executive Director of Corporate Services. 

  (Pages 119 - 138) 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

GOVERNANCE 
 

8. CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  

 To consider the report of the Monitoring Officer. 

  (Pages 139 - 168) 
 
 

9. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS  

   
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



LCR AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

At a meeting of the LCR Audit & Governance Committee held in the 
Authority Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP on Wednesday, 
27th July, 2022 the following Members were 
 

P r e s e n t: 
 

Councillors David Burgess-Joyce, Edna Finneran, Graham Morgan, Pat 
Moloney and Mike Wharton. 
 
Independent Member: Jean Gleave 
 
1. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR  
 

 The Chief Legal and Monitoring Officer, Jill Coule, opened the meeting 
and invited nominations for the appointment of Chair of the Audit and 
Governance Committee for the ensuring year 2022/23.  
 

 Councillor Graham Morgan, seconded by Councillor Mike Wharton 
nominated Councillor Edna Finneran as the Chair of the Audit and 
Governance Committee for 2022/23.  
 

 RESOLVED - That Councillor Edna Finneran be appointed the Chair of 
the Audit and Governance Committee for 2022/23.  
 

Councillor Edna Finneran 
Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee 

(in the Chair) 
 

2. APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR  
 
 Councillor Graham Morgan, seconded by Councillor Mike Wharton 
nominated Councillor James Hansen for the position of Vice-Chair of the 
Committee.  
 

 Jill Coule advised that Councillor Hansen was not in attendance today 
and therefore the Committee would need to confirm that appointment.  
 

 RESOLVED – That in his absence, Councillor James Hansen be 
appointed Vice-Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee for 2022/23. 
 
3. APOLOGY FOR ABSENCE  
 

 An apology for absence was received from Councillor James Hansen.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 A declaration of interest was received from Councillor Pat Maloney in 
respect of him serving as a member on the Merseyside Pension Fund Local 
Pension Board. 
 
5. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  
 

The minutes of the previous meeting held on 30 March 2022 were 
approved as an accurate record. 
   
6. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE 

COMMITTEE ANNUAL REVIEW 2021-22  
 

 The Committee considered the report of the Monitoring Officer which 
provided the Audit and Governance Committee with details of the Annual 
Review for 2021-22 including Audit and Governance activity and key 
achievements during the year. The report also proposed a work programme of 
wide activity for 2022-23 which was set out in Appendix 2, demonstrating how 
the Committee would discharge its functions for consideration and comment. 

 
 Some of the key achievements included: 
 

 the updating of the Merseyside Model Code of Conduct following 
collaboration with local authorities; 

 The review of the process dealing with Member complaints under 
the Code of Conduct; 

 A fundamental review of the Corporate Risk Register alongside 
alignment with the LCRCA Corporate Plan 2021-24; and 

 All the meetings of the Committee held in that year had been 
quorate. 

 
A series of pre-meeting briefings would also be facilitated this year in 

order to provide Members with information on relevant topics and to assist in 
the consideration of business on the agenda.  

 
Jean Gleave referred to the provisional work programme 2022-23 on 

page 31 of the report and noted that there had been no reports from External 
Audit included on the work programme. Lisa Backstrom confirmed that she 
had not been notified of any items for inclusion from the External Auditors, but 
she would share the proposed work programme with them so that they could 
notify her of any particular items they wanted to submit for consideration by 
the Committee during the year and these could then be added in consultation 
with the Chair and Vice-Chair, the Head of Internal Audit and the Monitoring 
Officer.  
 
 RESOLVED That:- 
 

(i) the Annual Review Report for 2021-22 at Appendix 1 and 
delegated authority be granted for any amendments/insertions to 

Page 2



be made in consultation with the Chair, Vice-Chair, the Head of 
Internal Audit and the Monitoring Officer; and 
 

(ii) the proposed work programme for the Audit and Governance 
Committee for 2022-23 at Appendix 2 be approved and delegated 
authority be granted for any amendments/insertions to be made in 
consultation with the Chair, Vice-Chair, the Head of Internal Audit 
and the Monitoring Officer. 

 
7. GOVERNMENT RESPONSE - LOCAL GOVERNMENT ETHICAL 

STANDARDS  
 

 The Committee considered the report of the Monitoring Officer which 
detailed the Government’s response to the Committee on Standards in Public 
Life (“CSPL”) review into Local Government Ethical Standards. 
 

 Jill Coule, Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer, stated the CSPL 
review into Local Government Ethical Standards report was printed in 
December 2018 and had been brought to the Committee in March 2019. As 
indicated in the work programme, some work had been undertaken in this 
area around the Code of Conduct for Members and the procedures in place to 
support the administration of that Code of Conduct. Work had been 
undertaken with Local Authorities to prepare the Code of Conduct and a 
Merseyside version had been adopted by the Combined Authority as 
recommended by this Committee in June 2022.  

 
The CSPL had also produced a number of recommendations which were 

set out in the table in the report. The Combined Authority had gone through 
each of those recommendations and said where it was in relation to each of 
those actions. The Combined Authority had done all the actions it could in 
respect of those that were in its control. There were a number of actions 
outstanding but they required either the Government to respond in a different 
way than they had responded or to introduce legislation which clearly they 
were not minded to do at this juncture.  
 

RESOLVED - That the contents of the report be noted. 
 

8. HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT AND OPINION 
2021-22  

 
 The Committee considered the report of the Head of Internal Audit 

which provided the Annual Report and Opinion for the financial year 2021-22. 
The report summarised the work undertaken by Internal Audit during the year, 
the key conclusions that could be drawn from this, and the overall opinion on 
the organisation’s governance, risk and internal control environment. 

 
 Laura Williams, Head of Internal Audit, advised that this was one of the 

most important reports of the year. It summarised all the work undertaken 
during the year, drew the key conclusions from that work and provided an 

Page 3



overall opinion of the organisation’s governance, risk and internal control 
environment.  

 
There had been 50 pieces of work completed by Internal Audit during the 

year, and these had been used to inform the annual opinion. There were 
additional pieces of work that had been completed which were more around 
advice and guidance and those had also been taken on board as part of the 
opinion.  

 
The report summarised those reports and outcomes and gave 

information as to how the opinions and recommendations broke down. All of 
those pieces of work had been reported to the Committee during the year. 
The only ones which would not have been seen were those which had been 
completed late last year or early this year, and these were included in the 
Internal Audit Update report on the agenda for this meeting.  

 
The single report covered the Combined Authority and Merseytravel and 

it recognised that there was a blended system of internal control, governance 
and risk management across the two organisations. However, in terms of the 
overall opinion for the year on each organisation, these had been delivered 
separately and it was noted that they were the same across both the 
Combined Authority and Merseytravel – i.e. that there was an adequate 
overall opinion for  both organisations and a good capacity for improvement 
rating again for  both organisations. An opinion of “adequate” is the highest 
rating that can be given, and this arises from due professional scepticism and 
also that Internal Audit cannot review every single control or be aware of 
every single risk or piece of governance or procedure.  

 
The report set out the key elements that arose from the annual review of 

governance and synergies would be seen between those findings and the 
Annual Governance Statement (AGS) as the work  is one of the feeder pieces 
of work upon which the AGS was based.  

 
Laura Williams concluded that it was a positive report and it did reflect 

the considerable progress that had been made across the organisation. She 
drew attention to section 7 of the report (pages 84 and 85) which set out the 
opinions, the work that was still to be done and the areas which still needed to 
be developed. It would also be necessary to continue to develop the 
organisation’s risk management arrangements..  

 
Councillor David Burgess-Joyce referred to a question that he had asked 

previously as to whether there was any work ongoing in respect of paperwork 
taken home by staff during the pandemic which would then be in the public 
domain and could cause embarrassment.  Laura Williams responded that this 
report was in respect of financial year 2021/22 and the culmination of that 
work. There was a piece of work around information governance in the current 
year’s Internal Audit Plan, but that the Monitoring Officer might wish to 
comment in respect of work her team was doing in that area. Jill Coule stated 
that there were two things that had been done in this regard. It had been an 
issue which had been raised in the Information Management Group and in 

Page 4



September it was proposed that an Information Management report would be 
brought to the Committee which would contain more detail. The Information 
Management Group oversaw the information handling practices and activities 
of the organisation and the profile of this issue had been raised and that 
sensitivity had been distributed across the organisation to make sure 
colleagues were aware. Secondly, the Information Management training was 
being refreshed and it would be picked up in that new training package as the 
current training package pre-dated the pandemic.  

 
Councillor David Burgess-Joyce asked whether there had been any 

opportunities for amnesty. Jill Coule confirmed that information risk was an 
important responsibility within the organisation. It was felt that there was not a 
need to do an amnesty as there had not been a large number of data 
protection breaches within the organisation. It was important to treat that type 
of information appropriately but the Combined Authority did not have the 
same volume of information or staff dealing with that information so the 
propensity of a breach was a little less than it would be for a Council. 
However, it was still a risk of concern and therefore it was necessary to 
ensure that the authority’s practices and activities were as sharp as they could 
be.  

 
Councillor Graham Morgan referred to the fraud, bribery and corruption 

section of the report. It was good to see that in 2021/22 there had been no 
notifications of suspected fraud, bribery or corruption. He noted that there was 
a recommendation in the report to make staff more aware and to give them 
more confidence to report fraud.  The report noted that the Head of Internal 
Audit had discussed it with ELT and SLT and he asked for an update on that. 
Laura Williams responded that there was a question around if concerns were 
not coming forward was that because they did not exist or was there a 
reluctance to report them. A number of things had been done which included 
a learning package which had been pushed out to all staff with a 72% 
completion rate. Conversations had also taken place with colleagues around 
the responsibility of managers. Further work is ongoing in ensuring there is 
adequate fraud awareness across the organisation. There would also be a 
clear focus on whistle blowing as these were high priority issues and it was 
important to raise the profile.  

 
Jean Gleave noted that on page 8 of the report there was a list of items 

that had had to be removed from the plan for various reasons. She referred to 
the one on Business Continuity Management and queried whether work would 
carry on that in follow up because obviously following on from the pandemic it 
was probably a key area or was it something that would be put back into the 
audit plan at the right time. Laura Williams confirmed that she had been 
involved in the discussions around this and when undertaking the follow up 
work it was clear that there were a number of actions to be taken forward but 
it had not been an opportune time to do that work. From a broader 
perspective work had been undertaken with that team to develop a view on 
what those recommendations would look like in implementation. From an 
audit perspective there would be a clear continuation of that piece of work, 
and it was not something that would be lost. There were two elements to that 

Page 5



– one was picking up on the thread of the recommendations which had been 
made previously but also some of those recommendations had arisen from a 
particular point in time and were pandemic related. There were probably some 
new elements that would come into play as the business continuity 
arrangements were tested and looking at the different threats that might be 
more relevant at the moment. It was certainly the intention to follow up on the 
piece of work that had been planned but also looking at those new risks and 
threats as well and the authority’s robustness to deal with those. She had 
been assured that progress had been really positive and in the Corporate Risk 
Register there were a number of actions that had actually been completed in 
respect of this area. She stated she would report back when this piece of work 
had been completed.  

 
Jean Gleave referred to the work around Seacombe Landing Stage and 

queried whether that would be follow up work and also the impact on that for 
other capital projects. Was that something that assurance was being sought 
on from across the organisation as it was a significant area and the only one 
with a major reputational risk. Laura Williams agreed that it was the only major 
report during last year and obviously that had been taken seriously as an 
organisation but also from an audit perspective. It was important that the 
weaknesses that came up through that audit were not being replicated in 
other parts of the business and therefore a very detailed response had been 
provided to those recommendations from the department. The Seacombe 
issues would be followed up specifically but the Authority was about to 
embark on other similar projects and it would be necessary for the 
organisation to put in place a strong level of control to ensure that they were 
managed effectively so the same situation would not arise again.  

 
Jean Gleave referred to page 81 of the agenda and in particular 

paragraph 5.5 which talked about development in governance and there was 
a list there against the principles. Having looked at the Annual Governance 
Statement she queried whether these were areas for development that had 
been drawn out of the Annual Governance Statement or whether these were 
separate. Laura Williams responded that this was one of the feeder 
documents to the Annual Governance Statement so all of the findings from 
the governance review had gone forward for consideration and each of the 
core principles had been broken down in the statement. Not all of them would 
be there as they might be worded differently but all of the points had been 
picked up as part of that process. There was a clear synergy between the 
work that Internal Audit did and what ended up in the statement.  

 
Jean Gleave noted that completion of the plan had been reported this 

year and there was a list of areas which had been taken out of the plan. Also 
attached to the report was the work that CIPFA had done. She asked whether 
Laura Williams was comfortable with the level of resource and expertise within 
the team over the last year and going forward. Laura Williams responded that 
generally she was comfortable with the level of resource in the team. One of 
the points that came out of the Public Sector Internal Audit Assessment was 
the need to move away from the grants processing function and someone 
was being trained to take over that work and in the next couple of weeks that 

Page 6



person would be handed over to a different team which would be a great step 
forward in freeing up some resource and taking back independence in that 
area. There were other changes in the team which meant there was an 
opportunity to look at the structure. New funding streams were also coming 
along but that also placed some strain on the service in being able to provide 
the audit and assurance functions that were required for our own purposes as 
well as from the perspective of Government. Thought was being given about 
what to do with the structure in terms of making best use of that vacant post to 
make sure that the resources available were used to the best effect. 
Additional resources would always be welcomed but the report was based on 
an adequate level of resource.  

 
 RESOLVED - That the report be noted.  
 

9. INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  
 

 The Committee considered the report of the Head of Internal Audit 
which provided the Combined Authority Audit and Governance Committee 
with an overview of the internal audit work completed in the fourth quarter of 
2021-22 and first quarter of 2022-23, in accordance with the Internal Audit 
Plans 2021-22 and 2022-23. 

 
 Laura Williams, Head of Internal Audit, advised that there was an 

element of duplication as some of this work had been included in the Annual 
Report due to the fact that it related to last year. The report summarised the 
15 new audits which had been completed and also included the outcomes 
from the governance work which again could be seen in the Annual Report 
and it also cut across to the Annual Governance Statement. Members might 
have noticed that the format of the report had changed a little and that was 
cognisant of the changes to the way that the Audit Plan had been set out. The 
report had been split into core work and responsive work and some detail had 
been provided around the responsive piece of the work as to what was in 
progress and why those particular pieces of work had been chosen and how 
these linked into the Corporate Risk Register. It was important to show that 
when selecting pieces of work it was not done on an arbitrary basis but that it 
was something that linked into our Corporate Risk Register and would likely 
be significant issues affecting the organisation.  

 
 The other element which had been included within the report was the 

CIPFA report on the state of Internal Audit. She confirmed that she had 
provided a summary of the key findings in the report and how those would 
impact on the Combined Authority and what was required to move those 
forward. The majority of the actions were things that had already been 
recognised and were being worked on. There were a couple of areas which 
had been teased out in the report where there was more work to do 
particularly around capacity and resources and work was ongoing as to how 
the team was resourced and how new entrants might be attracted to the 
Internal Audit profession.   

 

Page 7



Councillor Graham Morgan referred to section 3 on page 103 of the 
report which set out 13 high priority recommendations of which two were still 
outstanding in respect of the assurance framework and health, safety and 
wellbeing in  operational transport. He asked when it was expected that those 
responses would be received and were there any concerns in terms of the 
delay. Laura Williams advised that those pieces of work had only been issued 
very recently so were not causing concern at the moment. She advised that 
more attention was paid to recommendations now and the team worked with 
Executive Directors to inform them about where there might be delays in their 
directorate. If there had been any concerns, then they would have been drawn 
out in the report.   

 
Jean Gleave referred to section 4 on page 110 in respect of Responsive 

Audit which noted that this part of the plan related to work to be conducted in 
response to identified areas of significant risk to the organisation. She felt that 
it would be useful to cross-reference to say where those risks were within the 
organisation so that the links could be seen and also how would that balance 
be carried on working through the year if it had an impact on the core plan. 
Laura Williams confirmed that it was possible to tie these pieces of work to 
items in the Corporate Risk Register and she could easily provide that. She 
advised that an Audit Plan was always a balancing act and it all came down to 
risk at the end of the day as to what was the most pressing risk. There was 
always an element of work that had been identified at the start of the year that 
it was proposed to complete but clearly if something on the Corporate Risk 
Register or a new risk came forward then there was the flexibility to 
reprioritise the plan to make sure that resources were being focused 
effectively. In last year’s plan it could be seen that a number of audit areas 
had been sacrificed because there were more pressing priorities that had 
come along or that some of those pieces of work had not been timely. It was 
always a balancing act. The plan did highlight what were thought to be the 
core areas of work and it was quite specific about what the responsive areas 
of work were but that was not to say that that might not change as the year 
progressed and there was that transparency to the Committee if changes 
needed to be made.   

 
Councillor David Burgess-Joyce referred to the capacity and capability 

issues in respect of them being a bit thin. He asked whether there was an 
opportunity for a lot of the pre-work to be taken on as a responsibility of 
Department Heads as it seemed that Internal Audit was small tight knit team. 
He queried whether that was viable and if not why. Laura Williams was not 
sure that she had said that resources were stretched. The team was very 
much optimised in terms of its productivity. She stated that Internal Audit was 
classed as being the third line of defence. Management was the first line and 
they were responsible for implementing the controls for managing their 
systems, services and processes and they carried that responsibility. There 
were certain other review functions that formed the second line and then 
Internal Audit was the third line. She felt that it was not possible to have a 
dilution of distinction between those lines of defence and therefore the audit 
function should not be delegated to managers. It was necessary for Internal 
Audit to maintain its independence so that it was able to go into those 

Page 8



services, review them, look at how they operated, the quality of controls in 
place and to rely to a certain extent on the assurances that were provided 
obviously doing that on a risk basis but also with the use of evidence. It had 
been made clear that responsibility for the maintenance of risk management, 
internal control and governance processes sat with the first line which was 
management and Internal Audit would independently assess the quality of 
those processes as part of their work. It was necessary to maintain a clear 
line between those two elements but Internal Audit did work very closely with 
the managers within that area to make sure that it had the information, 
support and evidence required to undertake the audit effectively and therefore 
management were engaged as much as possible.  

 
Councillor David Burgess-Joyce asked if something went seriously 

wrong where did the responsibility lie. He was aware of the responsibility 
being held at the first line but it just felt a bit woolly. Laura Williams confirmed 
that responsibility would lie with management without dispute. She had a 
professional responsibility to undertake her work in a diligent way which was 
to identify any deficiencies in those controls but she could not be held 
responsible for management failures she could only bring them to the 
attention of managers through her work. Councillor Burgess-Joyce asked 
what sanctions there were for a Department Head if they failed to do what 
was asked of them. He felt that there was no accountability in the public 
sector and he queried whether there was something that could be done to 
improve that situation to help Internal Audit. Laura Williams replied that as 
Head of Internal Audit all she could do was to make it very clear to the 
organisation where deficiencies might lie and what action management 
needed to take. If she found she was not getting the answers she needed 
then she would continue to raise and escalate that further. 

 
Councillor Graham Morgan did not agree with the comments made by 

Councillor Burgess-Joyce as he felt that there were clear examples of 
accountability in the public sector when things went wrong.   

 
John Fogarty, Executive Director Corporate Services, stated that this 

Audit Committee was one of the ways in which Internal Audit discharged that 
function of holding managers accountable for their actions. The Executive 
Leadership Team took Internal Audit matters extremely seriously and 
managers were held to a very high standard for their actions or inactions. 
Internal Audit was used to inform where there were issues of non-compliance 
and he assured Members that the line of accountability was very strong. 

 
RESOLVED - That the report be noted.  
 

10. RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE  
 

 The Committee considered the report of the Head of Internal Audit 
which provided the Combined Authority Audit and Governance Committee 
with an update in respect of the system of corporate risk management and the 
activity that had been undertaken in continuing to embed this system during 
the first quarter of 2022-23. 

Page 9



 
Laura Williams, Head of Internal Audit, reported that as had been noted 

previously the Committee had undertaken a lot of work on the Corporate Risk 
Register and that was one of the key elements of this report in terms of 
bringing out the progress that had been made by the Executive Leadership 
Team and her service to move that position forward. During the period since 
the last meeting a review had been concluded and a new risk had been added 
to the Corporate Risk Register around financial sustainability. There had been 
significant discussions at previous Committee meetings which had talked 
about some of the pressures that the public sector and the population in 
general found themselves in and some of the potential issues that that might 
cause and the need to focus on financial sustainability into the future.   

 
Laura Williams noted that another review session had taken place with 

the Executive Directors. These were regular sessions as a group and 
meetings also took place with them individually to go through their progress 
and to update their actions.  

 
Laura Williams reported that two Risk Management training packages 

had been developed. There was a face to face training offer for senior 
managers and an e-learning package that had been rolled out to all staff to 
develop that basic understanding of what risk management was about.  

 
A Risk Group had been developed that met quarterly and some spin off 

groups had started to develop from that. Significant risks which had been 
identified across the organisation such as supply chain and “knowing the 
customer” in terms of the organisations who we were trading with or investing 
with. It was really positive to see that those risks were being considered 
together with the approaches that could be developed.  

 
Laura Williams noted that an Internal Audit of the Authority’s risk 

management arrangements had taken place and she had preserved her 
independence in terms of stepping out of her internal audit role. There had 
been some recommendations that had emerged from that report on which 
progress would be reported to the Committee.  

 
Laura Williams concluded that generally positive progress had been 

made and it was necessary to keep the profile of risk management activity 
high so that the benefits of good risk management could be harnessed across 
the organisation.  

 
RESOLVED - That the report be noted.  

  
11. COMBINED AUTHORITY AUDIT STRATEGY MEMORANDUM  
 

 The Committee considered the report of the Head of Internal Audit 
which provided the Combined Authority Audit Strategy Memorandum (ASM) 
from Mazars which detailed their proposed approach to the audit of the 
Combined Authority’s financial statements for the financial year 2021/22 for 
consideration and comment. 

Page 10



 
Mark Dalton, Engagement Lead for Mazars, stated that this report had 

been discussed and agreed with management prior to its presentation to this 
Committee. The ASM set out the responsibilities as external auditors in 
auditing the financial statements and informing a view on the authority’s 
arrangements in securing value for money in the use of resources. It 
described the audit approach, the timeline and it highlighted the proposed 
testing strategy to address the risks that had been identified both in relation to 
their own financial statements and value for money work.  

 
Mark Dalton highlighted the following key points: 
 

  Section 5 of the report on page 246 of the pack highlighted the 
approach to its value for money work. The Committee should note 
that at this stage the external auditors had not identified any risks 
or significant weakness in the local authority arrangements which 
was a positive. It should also be noted that the National Audit 
Office had extended the deadline for reporting the value for money 
work and that was three months from the date on which an opinion 
had been provided on the financial statements. As a result it would 
likely be early 2023 before the outcome of our value for money 
work for 2021/22 was reported;  
 

  Section 6 of the report on page 249 of the pack highlighted the 
planned fees for the audit. This section highlighted the recurring 
additional fees associated with the additional work required to be 
undertaken by our regulators on the pensions liability, property, 
plant and equipment, and also the additional fees associated with 
changes in auditing and accounting standards and the new code of 
audit practice and the new value for money approach that had 
come into effect in 2021. The planned fee was very much in line 
with that which had been charged for the prior year. The 
Committee could be further assured that the Government had 
confirmed that the additional £15m of funding that was announced 
last year to help meet these increased external audit costs had 
been extended for a further two years with the CA’s share of this 
£15m being £18,730. So comfortably covering the additional fees 
that was being proposed for the CA; and  

 

  In Section 7 of the report it was confirmed that the audit team was 
appropriately independent and objective.  

 
Dawn Watson, Engagement Manager for Mazars, highlighted the 

following key points: 
 

  Section 4 on pages 239-243 of the pack detailed the significant 
risks and the audit procedures proposed in relation to those risks. 
They were fairly consistent with the prior year. The first of those 
was the management override of controls and there were no 
concerns in respect of the Combined Authority but the external 

Page 11



auditors were required to look at this area. The second two were in 
respect of the defined benefit liability valuation for the pension and 
the property and equipment valuation. These were the largest 
estimates within the accounts and were both inherently complex 
areas which did rely on experts to inform these values;  
 

  Page 244 of the pack also detailed an enhanced risk which was on 
the group consolidation process. Again along with the planned 
response at this stage there was nothing of concern to bring to the 
authority’s attention. A report would be brought back to the 
Committee on these risks via the audit completion report in 
September following the financial statements audit that was due to 
commence next week; and 

 

  Section 8 page 254 of the pack contained details of the initial 
materiality thresholds which were consistent with prior years. They 
were based on 2% of gross expenditure as this Combined Authority 
was considered low risk so the higher end of the range had been 
applied when calculating materiality.  

 
RESOLVED That:- 
 
(i) the external audit plan as detailed in the Audit Strategy 

Memorandum appended to this report be noted; 
 
(ii) the approach detailed be noted; and 
 
(iii)  the approval of the Audit Strategy Memorandum be approved. 
 

12. COMBINED AUTHORITY DRAFT STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS  
 

 The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director 
Corporate Services which provided the Combined Authority Audit and 
Governance Committee with the Combined Authority’s draft statement of 
accounts for 2021/22 for consideration. The Members of the Committee were 
requested to review the statements and provide comments thereon.  

 
Sarah Johnston, Assistant Director Finance, stated that the report 

brought the draft accounts to the Combined Authority to the Committee 
Members for consideration. Members would be aware that the Authority was 
required to publish its accounts in line with the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations. For the last couple of years there had been amendments to the 
deadlines which had seen the deadlines for the publication of accounts 
pushed back to the end of July and subsequent audit for the period up to the 
end of September. The Combined Authority accounts had been published on 
8 July 2022 and as referenced by the external auditors, these would be 
subject to audit starting from the following week. The accounts were a very 
complicated document reflecting the accounts based on accounting standard.  

 
 

Page 12



RESOLVED That:- 
 
(i)  the content of the report be noted; and 
 
(ii)  any comments on the accounts to be provided as necessary. 
 

13. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS  
 
There were no further items of business for consideration.  
 
Minutes 1 to 13 received as a correct record on the 29 day of September 
2022. 
 

 

Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee 
 

(The meeting closed at 3.05 pm) 
 
 

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



 
 
Report Title 

 
Internal Audit Update 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

 

Summary of decision being sought  Report is for noting 
 

Is this report exempt?  No  
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

No 

Local Authorities affected  
 

None directly 

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 
Financial impact 
 

No                    

Dispensation of decision sought and 
details of approval  

 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
Tick which ones are appropriate  

aA Fairer City Region   
aA Stronger City Region   
aA Cleaner City Region   
aA Connected City Region   
aA Vibrant City Region 
 

 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

No  

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit 
laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
07713 095315  

Appendices Yes  
Background Documents No 

  

Page 15

Agenda Item 4

mailto:laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

LCR Audit and Governance Committee 
 

Thursday 29 September 2022 
 

Report of the Head of Internal Audit 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  
 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Combined Authority Audit and 

Governance Committee with an overview of the internal audit work completed in the 
second quarter of 2022-23, in accordance with the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee: 
 

(a)  notes the report. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms 

of Reference, the report details the work undertaken by the Internal Audit service in 
respect of the Combined Authority in the second quarter of 2022-23. The report 
highlights the following key points: 
 

 A summary of Internal Audit Plan delivery for the period; 
 

 Details of work undertaken, recommendations made, and key items of note; 
 

 Update on the implementation of recommendations; 
 

 A summary of the work undertaken in respect of fraud, bribery and corruption; 
 

 An update on internal audit performance with reference to the key performance 
indicators detailed in the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 
(QAIP); and 

 

 An update on the service’s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS). 

 
 

4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1 Risks and Mitigation 
 

It is the responsibility of the Combined Authority to establish effective arrangements 

Page 16



for the management of risk. Internal Audit reports highlight weaknesses which pose 
a risk to the achievement of the organisation’s objectives and the according 
recommendations assist in mitigating such risks. Internal Audit work is one strand of 
assurance regarding the effectiveness of the system of internal control and this can 
be utilised to inform the Combined Authority’s view of organisational risk and its 
management. 

 
5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 Internal Audit has made positive progress in the period of this report to deliver the 

Internal Audit Plan 2022-23. This report demonstrates how the provision of available 
Internal Audit resource has been utilised to provide appropriate assurance to the 
organisation. 

 
 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

 

 
 

Appendices: 
 
Internal Audit Update  
 
Background Documents:  
 
None 
 
 
 
 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 
                         

 
 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE 
 

 

Audit and Governance Committee 

29 September 2022 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 

 Head of Internal Audit 

 

P
age 19



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 1 
  

Contents 
 

       Page 
 

1. Introduction             2 
 

2. Summary of Internal Audit Plan Delivery         3 
 

3. Core Audit              4 
 

4. Responsive Audit            7  
 

5. Implementation of Recommendations        13 
 

6. Fraud, Bribery and Corruption                   16 
  

7. Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme                20 
 

8. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards                  22 
 

 
Appendices 

 
A - Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 Status Update                 25 
 
B - Internal Audit Organisational Risk Opinions and Recommendation Priority Levels            26   

   
       

P
age 20



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 2 
  

1.  Introduction 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of Internal Audit work completed in the second quarter of 2022-23, in 

respect of the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23.   
 
1.2 The report is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee to facilitate the discharge of obligations as defined in its 

Terms of Reference to highlight the outcomes of Internal Audit work as a source of assurance on the effectiveness of the 
organisation‟s governance, risk, and internal control environment.   

 
1.3 Internal Audit is defined as: “an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve 

an organisation‟s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach 
to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes” (Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards 2017). 

 
1.4 The mission of Internal Audit is: “to enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-based and objective 

assurance, advice and insight”. 
 
1.5 This report includes: 
 

 A summary of Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 delivery for the period; 

 Details of work undertaken, recommendations made, and key items of note; 

 Update on the implementation of recommendations made previously; 

 A summary of the work undertaken in respect of fraud, bribery and corruption; 

 An update on internal audit performance with reference to the key performance indicators detailed in the Quality 
Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP); and 

 An update on the service‟s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).  

P
age 21



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 3 
  

2.  Summary of Internal Audit Plan Delivery 
 
2.1 Audits Completed  

  
2.1.1 In the period since the last Internal Audit Update, four audits were completed, and one briefing note was issued. These are 

shown in Table 1: 
  

Audit Title Organisational Risk 
Opinion 

Entity 

Combined 
Authority  

 

Merseytravel 

Grant Auditing Arrangements at Local Authorities Minor Y  

IT Cyber Security Response (NIST) Minor Y  

Application Control - Customer Delivery - Docustore Minor  Y 

Corporate Governance - Gifts, Hospitality and 
Declarations of Interest 

Moderate Y  

Monitoring and Evaluation Indicator Framework N/A  
(Briefing Note) 

Y  

                                                            Table 1 

 
2.1.2 Appendix A gives a detailed breakdown of the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23, showing the status of each item of audit work that 

was contained within the Plan approved by the Committee at its meeting on 30 March 2022 and Merseytravel at its meeting 
on 19 April 2022.  

                                                                                                                                                    

P
age 22



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 4 
  

3.  Core Audit 
 
3.1 Background 
  
3.1.1 The “core audit” element of the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 relates to areas of audit work that are either statutory 

requirements or requirements of government or are areas of key risk.  Coverage of these areas is considered essential to 
delivering a comprehensive assurance on the effectiveness of internal control, governance, and risk management.   

 
3.2 Work Completed 
 
3.2.1 Three audits were completed in the period: 
 

 Merseytravel: 

 Application Control – Customer Delivery - Docustore  
 

 Combined Authority (including Corporate) 

 Grant Auditing Arrangements at Local Authorities  

 IT Cyber Security Response (NIST) 
 
3.3 Organisational Risk Opinion  

3.3.1 All three of the core audits received an organisational risk opinion of “Minor”, which means that a satisfactory level of 
assurance on the effectiveness of the internal controls reviewed can be derived, and that the risk presented to the 
organisation by the recommendations made is at a low level.  

 
3.4 Work in Progress 
 
3.4.1 The following items of work are in progress: 
 
 

P
age 23



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 5 
  

 Combined Authority (including Corporate): 

 IT Back Up Management; 

 Application Control - Homelessness - In-Form; 

 Treasury Management; 

 VAT; 

 Environment, Energy and Net Zero; 

 Performance Management - Data Quality; and  

 City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS). 
 
3.5 Recommendations of Note  
 
3.5.1 The core audits finalised within the period identified three recommendations classed as “high priority”. These are shown in 

Table 2: 

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

Application Control – Customer 
Delivery - Docustore 

Once a customer account is closed, Direct Debit mandates 
should be retained for an appropriate period and then deleted 
from Docustore when that period expires. This will require 
software development. 
 

Options around logic / purging will be 
explored with any future software 
development. 

Grant Auditing Arrangements at 
Local Authorities  

Evidence must be retained, and made available to the Combined 
Authority upon request, to provide assurance that a robust 
procedure for the review of compliance of grant funding with the 
grant funding agreement and relevant government guidance is in 
place. 
 

Reports were issued to each Local 
Authority in the LCR and where this 
recommendation has been made, 
action is to be taken to address this.  In 
addition, a session is to be held on 
grant auditing, so as to promote good 
practice. 

IT Cyber Security Response (NIST) The Cyber Security Incident Response Plan (CSIRP) should be 
compiled as soon as practicable and incorporate relevant 
information already available, as described. 
When compiling the CSIRP, IT should ensure that it aligns with 
the existing security protocols and plans including the 
Information Security Management Protocol and the MRF Cyber 
Resilience Plan.  

An updated response plan has been 
prepared and will be validated by ELT 
by end of September.  Following this, 
the plan will be socialized and tested. 
 

P
age 24



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 6 
  

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

The plan should also factor in the arrangements for calling on 
the services of ECSC in the event of a cyberattack.  
 

                                                          Table 2 

 
3.5.2 Improvement in those areas highlighted for attention will be monitored by Internal Audit as part of the follow up process and 

reported to the Executive Leadership Team for oversight.  
 

  

P
age 25



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 7 
  

4.  Responsive Audit 
 
4.1 Background 
  
4.1.1 The “responsive audit” element of the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 relates to work to be conducted in response to identified 

areas of significant risk to the organisation. So as to ensure that Internal Audit work is relevant and risk-based, meaning that 
this element of the Plan is not prescribed in advance, but is developed as the result of ongoing consultation and engagement 
with senior management so as to ensure it adds the value that is required and provides assurance on the key areas of risk. 

 
4.2 Work Completed 
 
4.2.1 Two audits were completed in the period: 

 

 Combined Authority (including Corporate) 

 Corporate Governance - Gifts, Hospitality and Declarations of Interest 

 Monitoring and Evaluation Indicator Framework (briefing note issued) 
 
4.3 Organisational Risk Opinion  

4.3.1 The audit of Gifts, Hospitality and Declarations of Interest received an organisational risk opinion of “moderate”, and this 
indicates that the audit identified weaknesses that present a moderate risk to the organisation, and that the risks identified 
should be considered for inclusion within service risk registers (if these have not already been included). The other piece of 
audit work, on the Monitoring and Evaluation Indicator Framework was presented as a Briefing Note and did not provide an 
audit opinion. The findings from this work will be reflected within the ongoing work on Data Quality, for which an opinion will 
be provided. 

 
4.4 Work in Progress 
 
4.4.1 Table 3 below shows the following items of work that are in progress: 
 

P
age 26



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 8 
  

Audit Title Entity Rationale for Completion Risk Register Linkages 

Bus Reform Merseytravel Key corporate project to provide a new model for 
the provision of bus services across the City 
Region. 
 

Corporate Risk 4 - Transport There is a risk 
that the role of transport in supporting the 
social, economic, and environmental 
objectives of the City Region is not 
maximised. 
 

Payment Card Industry 
Data Security Standard 
(PCI DSS) Compliance 
 

Combined 
Authority 

Corporate system that ensures the organisation 
operates within the law and mitigates risks of 
data security breaches and associated potential 
fines and reputational damage.  
 
 

Corporate Risk 2: Resilience 
There is a risk that the Combined Authority 
fails to develop and maintain robust 
arrangements to ensure business resilience 
and continuity. 
 

Money Laundering Combined 
Authority 

Corporate system that ensures the organisation 
operates within the law and mitigates risks of 
financial loss and associated potential fines and 
reputational damage.  
 
 

Corporate Risk 2: Resilience 
There is a risk that the Combined Authority 
fails to develop and maintain robust 
arrangements to ensure business resilience 
and continuity. 
 

Freeport Combined 
Authority 

Considered as part of the Programme, Project, 
Contract Management theme. Work concerns 
key risks relating to project and programme 
control management and delivery, in order to 
deliver schemes on time and within budget and 
to harness projected outcomes for the City 
Region. 
 

Corporate Risk 5: Economic Prosperity  
There is a risk that the Combined Authority 
does not contribute positively to economic 
prosperity within the City Region. 

Know Your Customer 
Checks 

Combined 
Authority 

Considered as part of the Supply Chain 
Management theme. Work concerns the 
increasing global risks in relation to suppliers, 
and how the organisation seeks to operate in a 
resilient manner without undue delays or 
reputational damage. 
 

Corporate Risk 2: Resilience 
There is a risk that the Combined Authority 
fails to develop and maintain robust 
arrangements to ensure business resilience 
and continuity. 
 

Housing Programmes - 
Retrofit, Sustainable 
Warmth etc. 

Combined 
Authority 

Considered as part of the Programme, Project, 
Contract Management theme.  Work concerns 
key risks relating to project and programme 

Corporate Risk 3: Environment  
There is a risk that the City Region does not 
achieve its ambition of being net zero carbon 

P
age 27



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 9 
  

Audit Title Entity Rationale for Completion Risk Register Linkages 

control management and delivery, in order to 
deliver schemes on time and within budget and 
to harness projected outcomes for the City 
Region. 
 

by 2040. 
 

Adult Education Budget Combined 
Authority 

Considered as part of the Programme, Project, 
Contract Management theme.  Work concerns 
key risks relating to project and programme 
control management and delivery, in order to 
deliver schemes on time and within budget and 
to harness projected outcomes for the City 
Region. 
 

Corporate Risk 5: Economic Prosperity  
There is a risk that the Combined Authority 
does not contribute positively to economic 
prosperity within the City Region 
 

                                                          Table 3 

4.5 Recommendations of Note  
 
4.5.1 The responsive audits finalised within the period identified twelve recommendations classed as “high priority”. These are 

shown in Table 4: 

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

Corporate Governance - Gifts, 
Hospitality and Declarations of 
Interest 

In respect of declarations of interest, the Gifts, Hospitality and 
Declarations of Interests Procedure should be amended so that 
it refers to “high risk” members of staff and cross-refers to the 
requirements of the Procurement Protocol. 
 

Procedures will be updated.  

Corporate Governance - Gifts, 
Hospitality and Declarations of 
Interest 

All completed Declarations of Interest forms must be reviewed 
by the officer‟s line manager, and any potential conflicts 
discussed so that the actions to take to avoid the conflict 
becoming problematic are understood and implemented.  The 
Declarations of Interest form should be amended to include a 
space for signature by the line manager to show they have 
reviewed the form and will take appropriate action in respect of 
any relevant declarations. 
 

Will be updated as part of policy and 
forms review which is due before the 
end of November as part of the 
scheduled review. 

Corporate Governance - Gifts, All declarations should be reviewed by an appropriate Manager Will be updated as part of policy and 

P
age 28



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 10 
  

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

Hospitality and Declarations of 
Interest 

in HR to ensure that the form is completed and has been 
endorsed by an appropriate officer. 
An escalation process should be established in cases where 
receipt of a gift/hospitality is considered inappropriate. 
 

forms review which is due before the 
end of November. 
The internal procedures within HR will 
be updated. 

Corporate Governance - Gifts, 
Hospitality and Declarations of 
Interest 

Regular reminders should be circulated to all staff to remind 
them of the need to complete the Gifts and Hospitality 
declaration, including hospitality offered by the organisation. 
 

Annual reminder to all staff at 
Christmas.  
 

Corporate Governance - Gifts, 
Hospitality and Declarations of 
Interest 

On receipt of a Gifts and Hospitality declaration, HR should 
check that it is complete and appropriate.  Returning the form to 
the employee via their Line Manager or reporting to the Chief 
Monitoring Officer if required. 
 

Will be updated as part of policy and 
forms review which is due before the 
end of November. 
The internal procedures within HR will 
be updated. 

Corporate Governance - Gifts, 
Hospitality and Declarations of 
Interest 

A method of recording consultation with the Monitoring Officer by 
Directors on matters of declaration of interest and gifts and 
hospitality should be formulated so that the rationale behind 
decision-making is evidenced. 
 

We will update the internal procedures 
within HR to detail any advice taken. 

Corporate Governance - Gifts, 
Hospitality and Declarations of 
Interest 

The Declaration of Interests register retained by HR should be 
amended so that detail of any conflict declared, and any relevant 
action taken in response, is recorded. 

Will be updated as part of policy and 
forms review which is due before the 
end of November. 
The internal procedures within HR will 
be updated. 
 

Monitoring and Evaluation Indicator 
Framework 

The refreshed list of Indicators pertaining to Project/Investment 
activity will need to be agreed and approved (e.g. between 
Research and Intelligence Team and Corporate Performance 
Management Team; and by ELT/SLT) and included as part of 
the corporate Performance Management Framework.   
All relevant teams within the CA will also need to be 
communicated with, to discuss the importance of the Indicators 
and the need to engage in the process. 
Ultimately this should help to facilitate having in place a core set 
of Indicators that support and facilitate reporting against the 
Corporate Plan, but also against specific Project/Investment 

Awaiting response 

P
age 29



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 11 
  

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

activity. 
 

Monitoring and Evaluation Indicator 
Framework 

A robust system for the collection of all relevant data must be put 
in place (pertaining to both outputs and outcomes, as set out in 
the Monitoring and Evaluation Indicator Framework guidance; 
and the activities and other success measures collated as part of 
the overarching Corporate Performance Framework).  The 
system must support the ability to collect, review, share and 
report upon the data in an efficient and effective manner.  
It is acknowledged that procuring a performance information 
management IT system has been discussed for a number of 
years and the latest position in terms of having such a system 
should be determined.  A decision should then be taken to 
potentially wait until a new system is in place; or, if a new system 
is not to be procured, or will not be procured any time soon, 
steps must be taken to ensure the data/information collection 
source is robust, integrated and aligned to the requirements of 
each Indicator. 
 

Awaiting response 

Monitoring and Evaluation Indicator 
Framework 

The proposed Guidance Sheet to be completed for each 
indicator, advocated as part of the Monitoring and Evaluation 
Indicator Framework, should be consistent with that pertaining to 
corporate Indicators included within the corporate Performance 
Management Framework (i.e. further helping to facilitate that it is 
all part of the same overarching framework).  Only one such 
sheet should have to be completed per Indicator.  It would 
appear feasible and appropriate to integrate the proposed 
Guidance Sheet with the PI Data Sheet produced by the 
Corporate Performance Team.  This should ensure areas such 
as the following are covered: inclusion of any applicable 
benchmarking data; how any applicable targets have been set; 
monthly/quarterly targets if applicable; tolerance levels; 
applicable RAGB status criteria;  additional detail to clarify how 
the Indicator is calculated; the need to ensure what is reported 
has been verified; a reference note when having to place 
reliance on external data and the steps taken to ensure data 

Awaiting response 

P
age 30



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 12 
  

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

quality, and whether the availability of such data may have an 
impact on reporting timescales; clarification in respect of the 
reporting period; and contact details in relation to contingency 
arrangements.  
 

Monitoring and Evaluation Indicator 
Framework 

Data „owners‟ must be reminded, and steps must also be taken, 
to ensure the data/information is subject to robust and effective 
review and challenge prior to being reported.   
 

Awaiting response 

Monitoring and Evaluation Indicator 
Framework 

A reporting timetable, incorporating the Monitoring and 
Evaluation Framework as part of the Corporate Performance 
Framework, should be established; providing clarity as to when 
and to whom the information generated through the Framework 
will be reported, and who will be responsible for producing such 
reports.   
 

Awaiting response 

                                                          Table 4 

 
4.6 Advice, Guidance and Consultancy 

4.6.1 During the period, the service has provided advice and guidance in a number of areas: 

 Attending Delivery Boards to advise on audit and risk matters, and to contribute to Board development; 

 Continued involvement in providing advice on major projects, including bus reform, and rolling stock; 

 Contributing to the development of new schemes such as the UK Shared Prosperity Fund, by providing input on the role 

of Internal Audit in this area; and 

 Provision of feedback on the draft monitoring and evaluation framework, which is detailed in the Briefing Note referred to 

above. 

 

 

P
age 31



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 13 
  

5.  Implementation of Recommendations 
 
5.1 Background 
 
5.1.1 The implementation of recommendations is subject to ongoing monitoring and where dates of agreed action have passed 

and confirmation of implementation has not been received, Internal Audit contacts managers to establish progress, confirm 

actions completed or agree revised implementation dates, if appropriate. 

 

5.1.2 Significant work continues to be undertaken with members of the Senior Leadership Team (and Executive Leadership Team 
where necessary) to encourage completion of outstanding recommendations, particularly those that are long-standing.  This 
has generated engagement and has prompted fresh focus and action on progressing the issues, and consequently a number 
of recommendations have been closed during the period. Work continues with managers to encourage the timely 
implementation of recommendations and will pay particular attention to those outstanding from 2019-20 and 2020-21. 

 
  
5.2 Combined Authority 

 

5.2.1 Table 5 below provides a summary of progress in respect of the implementation of previous recommendations made in 

respect of Combined Authority specific systems: 

 

P
age 32



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 14 
  

  
                      Table 5 

  

5.2.2 Two recommendations remain open from reports issued prior to 2019-20 which both relate to the updating of organisational 
policies and are expected to be implemented by the end of September 2022.  

Year Department Auditable Area High Medium Completed In Progress Overdue High Overdue

Corporate Development & Delivery

2022-23 HR - Strategy & Systems Gifts, Hospitality & Declarations of Interest 7 4 0 11 0 0

2021-22 Corporate Dvelopment Ethics / Standards of Conduct 0 2 0 2 0 n/a

2021-22 HR - Learning & Development Learning & Development 2 4 0 6 0 0

2021-22 HR - Operations Payroll 0 3 3 0 0 n/a

2021-22 HR - Operations Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Corporate Review 4 9 4 9 0 0

2021-22 HR - Strategy & Systems Ethics / Standards of Conduct 0 2 0 2 0 n/a

2021-22 HR - Strategy & Systems Absence Management 0 7 2 5 1 n/a

2020-21 HR - Operations Payroll 0 5 4 1 2 n/a

2019-20 HR - Strategy & Systems Procurement Cards 1 5 5 1 1 1

2019-20 HR - Operations Recruitment and Selection 2 10 8 4 4 1

2019-20 HR - Strategy & Systems Time & Attendance 1 6 6 1 1 1

2018-19 HR - Strategy & Systems Travel, Accommodation & Expenses 0 3 2 1 1 n/a

2021-22 IT - Service Delivery IT - Asset Management 0 7 2 5 1 n/a

2020-21 IT - Service Delivery Service Desk Management 0 3 3 0 0 n/a

2019-20 IT - Service Delivery IT - Service Continuity 0 11 9 2 2 n/a

2019-20 IT - Service Delievry Patch & Vulernability Management 0 1 0 1 1 n/a

Corporate Services

2021-22 Accountancy Creditors 0 3 1 2 2 n/a

2021-22 Internal Audit Risk Management 1 2 0 3 0 0

2021-22 Legal Procurement & Prepaid Cards 0 6 5 1 1 n/a

2021-22 Legal Insurance Claims 2 0 0 2 0 0

2021-22 Procurement Procurement 0 7 0 7 0 n/a

2019-20 Procurement Commissioning 2 2 1 3 3 1

2019-20 Procurement Procurement 0 1 0 1 1 n/a

2017-18 Procurement Procurement 0 8 8 1 1 n/a

2021-22 Programme Management Office ESIF 1 3 0 4 0 0

Investment & Delivery

2021-22 Investment Future Innovation Fund - Tranche 2 1 3 0 4 0 0

2021-22 Investment SIF2 Assurance Framework 1 1 0 2 0 0

2021-22 Investment Investment Models 0 3 2 1 1 n/a

2021-22 Programme Delivery Race Equality 0 7 5 2 2 n/a

2020-21 Investment / PMO / Finance Pre Payment Assurance 0 3 0 3 3 n/a

Place

2019-20 Customer Delivery Business Continuity 5 14 16 3 2 0

2021-22 Tidal QS Procurement 0 10 8 2 2 n/a

2020-21 Policy Development Active Travel Fund 0 4 1 3 2 n/a

Policy Strategy & Government Relations

2022-23 Evidence, Research & Intelligence Monitoring & Evaluation Indicator Framework 5 1 0 6 0 0

Other

2021-22 LEP LEP Governance Annual Review 21-22 1 1 0 2 0 0

Recommendations

P
age 33



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 15 
  

 
5.3 Merseytravel 

 
5.3.1 Table 6 below provides a summary of progress in respect of the implementation of previous recommendations made in 

respect of Merseytravel specific systems:  
  

 
                                             Table 6 

  
5.3.2 It is pleasing to note that recommendations from reports issued prior to 2019-20 have now all been implemented.  

Year Department Auditable Area High Medium Completed In Progress Overdue High Overdue

Place

2021-22 AM - Maintenance Delivery Health, Safety & Wellbeing 3 6 0 9 1 1

2021-22 AM - Maintenance Delivery Application Control - SCADA Control 0 6 1 5 1 n/a

2021-22 AM - Technical Services Seacombe Ferry Landing Stage - Capital Project 3 4 3 4 0 0

2021-22 AM - Technical Services Service Maintenance Contracts 0 8 8 0 0 n/a

2020-21 AM - Technical Services Application Control - Paxton 2 12 14 0 0 0

2018-19 AM - Maintenance Delivery Vehicle Tracking System 1 3 4 0 0 0

2017-18 AM - Maintenance Delivery Fleet Management 3 20 23 0 0 0

2021-22 Bus - Hubs Travel Centres - Income / Stock Reconciliation 1 4 5 0 0 0

2020-21 Bus - Network Performance Bus Services - Contract Management 0 10 8 2 2 n/a

2019-20 Bus - Network Performance Bus Services - Contract Management 0 4 3 1 1 n/a

2022-23 Customer Delivery Docustore 1 5 0 6 0 0

2021-22 Customer Delivery Health Safety & Wellbeing - Operational Transport 2 4 0 6 0 0

2021-22 Customer Delivery Fast Tag & T-Flow Account Management 0 5 2 3 0 n/a

2021-22 Customer Operations (Ferries) Mersey Ferries - Ticketing and Admissions 2 4 5 1 0 0

2021-22 Customer Operations (Ferries) Application Control - Commuter Club 0 8 8 0 0 n/a

2021-22 Customer Operations (Tunnels) Tunnel Tolls Income Recording 0 2 2 0 0 n/a

2020-21 Customer Delivery Fast Tag Account Management 1 1 2 0 0 n/a

2020-21 Police Operations (Tunnels) CCTV 1 8 7 2 2 1

2019-20 Customer Delivery Catering Concession - Contract Management 0 5 4 1 1 n/a

2019-20 Customer Delivery Ancillary Income and Debt Recovery 3 2 4 1 1 0

2021-22 The Beatles Story Information Governance 1 10 1 10 0 0

2021-22 Rail - Concession Development Rail Operators - Ticket Stock Control 0 9 6 3 0 n/a

2021-22 Rolling Stock Rolling Stock - Power Supply Project 3 1 0 4 0 0

Recommendations

P
age 34



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 16 
  

6.  Fraud, Bribery and Corruption  
 
6.1 CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption (2014) 
 
6.1.1 The CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption is the key guidance document for the sector on 

managing fraud risk. 
 
6.1.2 In the Counter-Fraud Update report presented to this Board at its November 2021 meeting, it was noted that a full review of 

the organisation‟s compliance with the guidance had been undertaken, and that this had resulted in a number of action 
points. Table 7 below gives an update on the progress being made to address the actions: 

 

Ref Action Responsibility Implementation 
Due Date 

Progress Update 

1 Encourage the Executive and Senior Leadership 
Teams to raise awareness of counter-fraud 
issues with their teams, including promoting 
take-up of counter-fraud training, discussion of 
fraud risks and controls and exploring 
opportunities for fraud detection and prevention. 
 

Internal Audit to 
facilitate 
 
ELT/SLT to action 

31 March 2022 Completed 
Head of Internal Audit has presented to ELT 
and SLT on this subject during 2021-22, but 
this remains an area of ongoing focus and 
activity. 

2 Risk Management Policy to be updated to make 
explicit mention of fraud risk and its treatment, 
including the escalation of significant fraud risks. 
 

Risk Manager 30 September 2022 Completed 
This has been included in the updated Risk 
Management Policy being presented to this 
meeting under the “Risk Management 
Update” agenda item. 

3 Support the development of fraud risk 
assessment by facilitating fraud risk workshops 
with areas of the business where fraud risks are 
highest and ensuring that the results of the 
workshops are used to inform Service Risk 
Registers.  
Establish regime of regular reminders to update 
fraud risks in Service Risk Registers, including 
consideration of any new/emerging 

Risk 
Manager/Audit 
Manager 

31 March 2023 In progress 
Joint audit and risk workshops are being 
planned to explore fraud risk and ensure this 
is adequately reflected within Service Risk 
Registers.  Work in this area has stalled due 
to other pressures on the service but the 
sessions are being planned and will be taking 
place in Q3, with an expected completion date 
of the end of the financial year.   

P
age 35



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 17 
  

Ref Action Responsibility Implementation 
Due Date 

Progress Update 

fraud/corruption risks. 
Consider the use of fraud loss estimates to 
inform the risk assessment. 

4 Utilising the data gathered from the fraud risk 
assessment, compile and implement a Counter- 
Fraud Strategy for the organisation.  Once 
compiled, the effectiveness of the Strategy 
should be evaluated and reported, including 
within the Annual Governance Statement. 

Head of Internal 
Audit with input 
from ELT/SLT 

30 September 2022 In progress 
Draft Strategy has been compiled and is to be 
finalised in 2022-23.  This will be presented to 
the November Audit and Governance 
Committee. 

5 As well as providing internal communications on 
fraud awareness (particularly during International 
Fraud Awareness Week), consideration should 
be given to providing fraud awareness and 
prevention/detection messaging to external 
customer and other stakeholders. 

Head of Internal 
Audit with input 
from ELT/SLT 

30 September 2022 In progress 
Planning for International Fraud Awareness 
Week 2022 is underway, incorporating the 
possibility of external communications on 
fraud awareness and the prevention and 
detection of fraud. 

6 Monitor the take-up levels of the Fraud 
Awareness e-learning and follow up to 
completion with Executive and Senior 
Leadership Teams as necessary. 

Head of Internal 
Audit 

31 March 2022 In progress 
There has been a continued corporate push 
on levels of mandatory training completion 
and the completion level for the Fraud 
Awareness e-learning now sits at 72%.  
Attention continues to be paid to promoting 
the training. 

7 Monitor the quality and completeness of how 
fraud risks are dealt with in Committee reports 
and provide input to report authors to support the 
written guidance. 

Risk Manager Ongoing Completed 
There is an established process of the Risk 
Manager reviewing all Committee reports and 
there continues to be a particular emphasis 
on fraud, bribery and corruption risks going 
forward.  

                                           Table 7 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 36



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 18 
  

6.2 Proactive Counter Fraud Work 
 

6.2.1 The Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 includes 30 days for proactive counter-fraud work across both Merseytravel and the 
Combined Authority. It is also of note that key anti-fraud controls are also evaluated as part of a significant number of other 
audits within the Plan such as Creditors, Payroll and Gifts, Hospitality and Declarations of Interest.   

 
6.2.2 The Plan includes the following areas of focus shown in Table 8:  
 

Audit Title Days Allocated Progress 

Recruitment and Selection 15 Not commenced 

Rail Operators - Stock Control 15 Not commenced 
Table 8 

 
6.3 Fraud Risks 

 
6.3.1 Members of the Senior Leadership Team have been reminded to review the fraud risks contained within their Service Risk 

Registers.  This is with the objective of updating of reflecting new and emerging fraud risks, and to ensure that they have 
acknowledged such risks in their planning and development of internal controls.   

  
6.4 National Fraud Initiative (NFI) 
 
6.4.1 The organisation will be participating in the National Fraud Initiative 2022 co-ordinated by the Cabinet Office. Data from the 

Payroll, Creditors and concessionary travel systems will be uploaded to the dedicated Cabinet Office website in October and 
will be matched with data within and between participating bodies so as to identify potential frauds, overpayments, and 
errors. On receipt of the results, the organisation has responsibility to follow up and investigate the matches. The results of 
these matches are fed into a national report at the end of each cycle.  

 
 
 
 
6.5 Reactive Audit Work  

P
age 37



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 19 
  

 
6.5.1 There is also a provision of 58 days in the Plan for reactive work such as the investigation of allegations of fraud or 

irregularity, and this has not been utilised during this quarter. 
 
6.6 Fraud Protocol Framework  
 
6.6.1 All fraud protocols within the Protocol Framework are up to date, having been approved by the Audit and Governance 

Committee at its meeting on 24 November 2021. Merseytravel approval was not required as the updates were minor in 
nature. 

  

P
age 38



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 20 
  

7.  Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 
 
7.1 Performance Update 
 
7.1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) require that the service maintains a Quality Assurance and Improvement 

Programme (QAIP) which includes a series of performance measures and associated targets.  
 
7.1.2 Performance measures defined in the QAIP are also included within the Internal Audit Service Plan and are thus reported to 

senior management in accordance with the corporate quarterly performance reporting process. This provides senior 
management oversight and scrutiny of performance and of any remedial actions required to meet identified targets.  

  
7.1.3 Table 9 below details the performance measures and the results for the period: 
 

Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation 

Compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS) 
This measures the extent to which the Internal Audit 
Service complies with the requirements set out in the 
Standards and the Local Government Application Note. 

100% 100% No variance 
The result of the external assessment (August 2021) details 
that the service fully complies with the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards.  The annual internal self-
assessment has also been completed and this confirms 
continued compliance (see s8.2 of this report). 

Percentage of recommendations implemented within 
a reasonable timescale 
This measures the extent to which managers feel that the 
recommendations made are appropriate and valuable in 
strengthening the control environment and also provides 
the Board with a view on how effective management 
action is in responding to recommendations. 

100% 100% No variance 
There are no concerns in respect of recommendations made 
in 2021-22 and 2022-23 to date. 

Percentage of client survey responses indicating a 
"very good" or "good" opinion 
This measures the feedback received on the service 
provided and seeks to provide assurance that Internal 
Auditors conduct their duties in a professional manner. 

100% 100% No variance 
Feedback positive although response levels are low. 

Percentage of annual senior management survey 
responses indicating satisfaction with the Internal 

100% N/A Not applicable 
The annual survey is undertaken in Q4. 

P
age 39



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 21 
  

Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation 

Audit service provided 
This measures the feedback received from Directors and 
Heads of Service on the service provided and seeks to 
provide assurance that Internal Audit is adding value at a 
strategic level. 

 

       Table 9                                          

 
7.2 Resources 
 
7.2.1 During the quarter, the grant claim review function, which has historically been undertaken by Internal Audit, was relocated to 

the Finance team. This issue was raised by the external assessment in relation to Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
compliance, and this affirmation of internal audit independence, as well as the impact on the resources of the team are 
greatly positive. 

  

P
age 40



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 22 
  

8. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 

 
8.1 External Assessment 

 
8.1.1 It is a requirement of the PSIAS that the service must be subject to an external assessment of its compliance with the 

Standards every five years. The service was subject to such an external assessment (peer review validation of self-
assessment) against the requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) in August 2021.  

 
8.1.2 It was reported to the November Committee meeting that the final report has now been received and this details that the 

outcome of this assessment was that the service fully conforms to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.   
 

8.1.3 The recommendations arising from the review, and the associated progress being made to address these, are shown in 

Table 10. All recommendations have been completed: 

      

Ref Action Implementation 
Due Date 

Progress Update 

1100 1. Internal audit should be removed from the grant 
awarding process  
 
Medium priority 
 
At the time of the EQA, Internal Audit were required to 
audit every grant the CA intends to make to external 
organisations prior to the grant payment being made. This 
effectively makes Internal Audit part of the grant awarding 
process and is therefore a potential impairment to their 
independence and objectivity. The CA‟s management 
should review this arrangement and find a solution that 
removes Internal Audit from the grant awarding process, 
ideally by relocating this activity to another part of the 
Authority. 

March 2022 Completed.  Handover took place on 31-8-22. 
 

2400 2. Prepare formal service level agreements for the April 2022 Completed 

P
age 41



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 23 
  

Ref Action Implementation 
Due Date 

Progress Update 

two external companies  
 
Low priority 
 
The Service should enter into formal service level 
agreements with the Beatles Story and the Local 
Enterprise Partnership for the internal audit services 
provided to them. 
 

 
Service Level Agreements are in place with both entities. 
 

1100 3. Consider reporting to the senior leadership teams 
on a regular basis  
 
Advisory 
 
It is good practice to report regularly to the Executive 
Leadership Team, not only to discuss progress on 
delivering the audit plan, but to also have a regular 
dialogue on other matters such as corporate issues and 
emerging risks where input from Internal Audit would 
benefit the organisations in achieving their objectives and 
identifying organisation wide issues and risks that could 
be considered for inclusion in the audit plan. 
 

November 2021 Completed 
 
Recommendation agreed.  Quarterly attendances at ELT 
to discuss delivery of the audit plan and related issues 
commenced in November 2021. 
 
Recommendation completed, quarterly ELT attendances 
to present the Internal Audit Update commenced in 
November 2021. 

1100 4. Consider introducing an annual conformation 
statement to supplement the declarations of interest 
returns 
 
Advisory 
 
It is becoming good practice in local authority internal 
audit services to enhance their annual declarations of 
interest returns by introducing or including a statement for 
internal audit staff to sign to confirm that they have read 
and understood the PSIAS, the core principles for the 
professional practice of internal auditing, the code of 

Q4 2021-22 and 
annually thereafter 

Completed 
 
Recommendation agreed. A statement for the 
acceptance of the various ethical standards will be 
drafted and all audit staff will be required to complete this 
on an annual basis. This will follow a refresher session 
with the team on ethics. 
 
Refresher session undertaken in March 2022 Team 
Meeting and declarations completed by all staff. 

P
age 42



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 24 
  

Ref Action Implementation 
Due Date 

Progress Update 

ethics, and the seven principles of public life (the Nolan 
Principles). The HoIA may wish to consider introducing 
such a statement. 

Table 10 

8.2 Internal Self – Assessment 

8.2.1 In accordance with the Standards, an annual self-assessment must be completed to assess the compliance of the service 

with the Standards, so as to assess the impact of any changes to working practices, or indeed any changes to the Standards 

themselves.  

8.2.2 The Standards have not changed since the external assessment was carried out in August 2021. The self-assessment has 

been updated however, to reflect the revised arrangements arising from the recent removal of the Audit, Risk and 

Governance Board from Merseytravel. 

8.2.3 The results of the self- assessment were that the service is assessed as continuing to be being fully compliant with the 

Standards.   

P
age 43



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 25 
  

Appendix A: Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 Status Update 
 

  

Auditable Area LCRCA Merseytravel
Organisational Risk 

Opinion
Status

CORE

IT Application Control  - Docustore Y Completed

IT Application Control  - In-Form Y Commenced

Business Continuity Management Y

Staffing & Capacity Y

Payroll Y

Key Financial Systems - VAT Y Draft Report

Key Financial Systems - Treasury Management Y Draft Report

Annual Governance Review Y

Risk Management Y

Environment, Energy and Net Zero Y Mgmt Review

Procurement Y

Proactive Counter-Fraud Y

Performance Management - Data Quality Y Commenced

Programme / Project Assurance - Delivery Boards Y

Financial Sustainability Y

City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement Y Draft Report

Investment Schemes / Assurance Frameworks Y

Capital Schemes Y Y

Rolling Stock Y

Transport Operators Y

ICT Technical Audit Y

RESPONSIVE

Bus Reform Y Draft Report

Corporate Governance - Gifts, Hospitality & Declarations of Interest Y Completed

Data Management Y

Equality Y

Government Funding Y

Grant Assurance Y Ongoing

Health, Safety and Wellbeing Y

HR Operations and Systems Y

Programme / Project / Contract Management - Freeport Y Commenced

Stakeholder Engagement, Communications and Reputation Management Y

Supply Chain Management - Know Your Customer Y Commenced

Monitoring & Evaluation Indicator Framework Y Completed

PCI DSS Compliance - Procedural not IT Y Commenced

Money Laundering Y Commenced

Housing Programmes - Retrofit, Sustainable Warmth etc. Y Commenced

Adult Education Budget Y Commenced

P
age 44



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 26 
  

Appendix B: Organisational Risk Opinions and Recommendation Priority 
Levels 

 

Organisational Risk Opinions 
 

Recommendation Priority Levels 

 

Major 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a major impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Moderate 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a moderate impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Minor 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a minor impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Negligible 
No risks were identified within the review. 
  

 

 

High 
The recommendation is essential to the management of risk 
within the area under review.   
 

 

Medium  
The recommendation is important to the management of risk 
within the area under review.   
 

 

Advisory  
The recommendation is a suggestion intended to enhance 
the existing management of risk within the area under 
review. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 45



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Report Title 

 
Risk Management Update 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

 

Summary of decision being sought  Report is for noting 
 

Is this report exempt?  No  
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

No 

Local Authorities affected  
 

None directly 

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 
Financial impact 
 

No                    

Dispensation of decision sought and 
details of approval  

 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
Tick which ones are appropriate  

A Fairer City Region   
A Stronger City Region   
A Cleaner City Region   
A Connected City Region   
A Vibrant City Region 
 

 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

No  

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit 
laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
07713 095315  

Appendices Yes  
Background Documents No 

  

Page 47

Agenda Item 5

mailto:laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

LCR Audit and Governance Committee 
 

Thursday 29 September 2022 
 

Report of the Head of Internal Audit 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 
  

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update in respect of the system of 

corporate risk management and the activity that has been undertaken in continuing 
to embed this system during the second quarter of 2022-23. The report also 
presents the updated Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook for 
approval. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee: 
 

(a)  notes the report; and 
(b)  approves the updated Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms 

of Reference, the report details the key activities undertaken to embed the system 
of corporate risk management. The report highlights the following key points: 
 

 an update on the Corporate Risk Register including the key changes made 

since the last report;  

 the ongoing activity to embed risk management further into the organisation; 

and 

 provides a summary of the key updates made to the Corporate Risk 

Management Policy and Handbook.  

 
4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1 Risks and Mitigation 

 
The implementation of an effective system of corporate and service risk 
management supports the organisation in the delivery of its objectives, by 
identifying threats that may jeopardise their achievement and maximising 
opportunities as these arise. The contents of this report give a narrative on the 
continued progress being made to embed such a system. 
  

 

Page 48



 
 
5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 The organisation continues to make positive progress in embedding a more robust 

and effective system for the management of risk.   
 
 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

 
Appendices: 
 
Risk Management Update 
Corporate Risk Register Summary 
Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook 
Risk Register Template  
 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 

Audit and Governance Committee 

29 September 2022 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 

 Head of Internal Audit 

 
 

 

P
age 51



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 1 
 
 

Contents 
 

   
            Page 

  
1. Introduction            2    
 
2. Corporate Risk Register          3      
    
3. Embedding Effective Risk Management        4 
 
4. Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook      9  
 
 
     
               
       
 
 
 
   

 
 
           
  

P
age 52



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 2 
 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of the Combined Authority‟s risk management activity for the second 
quarter of 2022-23, and to provide the updated Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook for approval. 
 

1.2 It is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee and its purpose is to facilitate the Committee in discharging its 

obligations as defined in its Terms of Reference: “to review the Combined Authority‟s financial affairs, internal control, 

corporate governance arrangements and risk management”. It is also intended to assist in continuing the progress made to 

date in embedding effective strategic and operational risk management into the organisation. 

 
1.3 The report covers: 

 an update on the Corporate Risk Register including the key changes made since the last report;  

 the ongoing activity to embed risk management further into the organisation; and 

 a summary of the key changes made to the Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook.   

P
age 53



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 3 
 
 

2. Corporate Risk Register  
 
2.1 The Corporate Risk Register reflects the highest scoring risks across the organisation – those with a residual score in 

excess of 16 (to the maximum score of 25) and graded as “red”. These are the risks which present the most significant 

threats to the achievement of the objectives articulated in the Corporate Plan, and so these risks span the whole Combined 

Authority. 

2.2 The Corporate Risk Register is owned by the Executive Leadership Team (ELT) and each risk has a designated risk owner 

who is a member of ELT, and they are responsible for co-ordinating activities to manage the risk and reduce its impact and 

likelihood to its target level, drawing on the support of colleagues across the organisation. 

2.3 The Corporate Risk Register features six corporate risks: 

P
age 54



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 4 
 
 

 

2.4 The Corporate Risk Register has been reviewed by the Executive Leadership Team as a whole and by each individual 

Executive Director in their capacity as Risk Owners, with the objective of ensuring that: 

 The risks identified are pertinent; 

 The control measures are in place and working, and reflect any new or additional controls that have been 

implemented; 

 The risk scoring identified is still considered an accurate representation; 

 The actions identified are appropriate, and progress is being made in progressing these; 

 Any new or emerging risks are captured; and 

 Risks that are reducing in score are identified and de-escalated to service risk registers as necessary. 

P
age 55



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 5 
 
 

2.5 The results of this review were: 

 In relation to Risk 1, Accountability, a project delivery infrastructure has now been established and quarterly meetings 

have been implemented with SIF / Growth Directors to monitor progress;  

 All but one of the actions relating to Risk 2, Resilience, have been completed and these now support a number of the 

controls already established to mitigate this risk. Further actions will now need to be identified to continue to mitigate 

this risk with a proposed review of the risk scores; 

 A process has been established to monitor economic influences, such as inflation, the energy crisis and cost of living 

increases to support budget setting and progressing the work towards medium term financial planning (the “red” 

action status on risk 6, Financial Sustainability, reflecting the urgency attached to the Medium Term Financial Plan 

work); and  

 Actions have been confirmed and assigned to action owners for every corporate risk. The next round of bi-monthly 

reviews with Executive Directors and the Risk Manager have been diarised to capture updates on progress with 

regard to actions.   

2.6 A summary of the Corporate Risk Register is included in this report at Appendix A.   

  

P
age 56



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 6 
 
 

 

3. Embedding Effective Risk Management 
 
3.1 Internal Audit continues to play a key role in facilitating the system of risk management. Key strands of activity in the period 

have been: 
  

 Organising and chairing the quarterly Risk Group meeting, which has representatives from all Directorates, to discuss 

emerging risks, progress in managing key risk issues, and promote discussion/awareness of governance issues across 

the organisation. The group is proving particularly useful in identifying new risks emerging across the business, and 

where there are synergies or common areas of risk. Recent meetings have identified that a number of Directorates are 

identifying risks such as supply chain and staffing capacity as starting to have an impact on delivery. Task and finish 

groups have been established as spin-offs from the Risk Group to look at supply chain and ethical investment risks and 

the organisational approaches to these. These discussions have informed the “stock” risks that are proposed in the 

revised risk register template; 

 Facilitating review and update of risk registers via meetings with individual executive directors and their management 
teams, which is particularly pertinent in terms of ensuring alignment with the Corporate Plan and Directorate Plans; 

 Facilitating the Executive Leadership Team discussions on Risk Management and leading the discussion on the update 
of the Corporate Risk Register; 

 Development and launch of a risk management skills training offer for senior managers, for which face-to face delivery 
will commence in October 2022; 

 Provision of an e-learning package for all staff to provide general awareness of the principles of risk management; 

 Continuing to facilitate the review of service risks by members of the Senior Leadership Team;  

 Providing corporate support in respect of risk management across the organisation, including facilitating risk workshops 
and supporting colleagues in their risk management activities; and 

 Maintenance of a “SharePoint” folder for each Directorate to access and update their risk registers in one dedicated 
location.  

 

P
age 57



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 7 
 
 

 
3.2 It is important that the revised Corporate Risk Register is used as a tool, along with performance management, to facilitate 

delivery of the Corporate Plan priorities, and that the very positive progress made so far in embedding the process 

continues.  

For this reason, the service has adopted two performance indicators, which are designed to measure the extent to which risk 

management data is being utilised to drive delivery of the Corporate Plan priorities. The latest information shows the 

following: 

Description Performance  Progress 

Rating 

Percentage of service areas with a Risk Register that 

complies with the Risk Management Policy 

88% Amber 

Percentage of corporate risks that have a suitable action 

plan in place 

100%  Green 

 

3.3 Most service areas have an up-to-date service risk register, but work continues to ensure a consistent approach to 

embedding risk across directorates. There has been a positive increase in the request for risk workshops to assist in this 

process.    

3.4 During 2021-22, Internal Audit conducted a review of the organisation‟s risk management arrangements. The overall opinion 

for this work was a Minor organisational risk, and there were a number of recommendations made and these, along with an 

update on the progress being made to implement the actions, are detailed in the table below:   

 

P
age 58



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 8 
 
 

 Recommendation Implementation Date Progress 

1. The wording included in the Risk Management Policy 
should be reviewed, to determine whether all key areas 
of the organisation are encapsulated as part of the 
requirement to produce a Service Risk Register.  Any 
update to the wording/requirement should be approved 
as part of the next review of the Policy; and any new 
applicable areas of the organisation notified accordingly.  
A list of agreed service areas, for which a Risk Register 
is required, should be utilised as part of implementing 
Recommendation 02. 

31 August 2022 Completed 
The revised Corporate Risk Management 
Policy and Handbook includes reference to 
lead officers.   

2. The applicable 'risk register' folders within 
Teams/SharePoint, should be reviewed and updated, to 
ensure each contains the correct Risk Registers (i.e., for 
the directorate; and all are correctly named), with access 
and permissions appropriately assigned to relevant 
officers. 

31 October 2022 In progress 
 
 

3. Advice should be sought (likely to be from the 
organisation's Senior Information Management Officer) to 
determine whether Service Risk Registers could, for 
example, be subject to a Freedom of Information request, 
and reach the public domain.  
 
Steps should be taken in response to the advice 
provided, primarily: 
- notifying officers responsible for Service Risk Registers 
Heads of Service/Assistant Directors of the outcome; 
- updating the Risk Management Policy to reflect the 
advice; 
- ensuring the content of Service Risk Registers is 
reviewed and deemed appropriate (depending upon the 
advice provided, it may be that the information contained 
within some Registers needs to be scaled back; or 

31 July 2022 Completed 
 
The matter has been clarified and no further 
action was deemed necessary. 

P
age 59



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 9 
 
 

 Recommendation Implementation Date Progress 

alternatively, it may that additional information can now 
be included). 

4. The Risk Manager should take steps to ensure a robust 
Risk Register is in place for each applicable area of the 
organisation (by the end of Q1 2022/23). Formal 
feedback should be provided to the relevant manager 
and Executive Director in those instances where it is felt 
the Risk Register does not meet expectations and/or has 
not been produced. Reminders should be issued on a 
quarterly basis to prompt Risk Registers being reviewed 
and updated; and feedback provided to Executive 
Directors where there is evidence of non-compliance. 

31 October 2022 In progress 
 
Work to support service areas in this 
respect is ongoing. 

5. The Risk Register template should be reviewed, and a 
decision taken as to whether the format can be 
enhanced, in order to: 
- facilitate the inclusion of comments (by both the „Risk 
Owner‟ and/or the „Risk Team‟) in a more effective 
manner; and  
- clearly flag where an amendment has been made that 
impacts upon the risk „rag‟ rating. 

31 August 2022 Completed 
 
Two additional columns have been added to 
the revised risk register template to facilitate 
this. 

 

3.5 The reports to this Committee will continue to give an overview of the progress being made in delivering the activities above, 

and the effectiveness of these actions in increasing the level to which effective risk management arrangements are 

embedded into the organisation. 

  

P
age 60



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, September 2022 Page | 10 
 
 

4. Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook 
 
4.1 For ease, the changes to the revised policy (which is attached at this report in Appendix B) have been highlighted in yellow, however a 

summary of those key changes has been provided below: 
 

 The Risk Management Policy has now been renamed to “Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook”. This is to demonstrate 
that document not only contains the policy but also provides practical guidance (including the agreed corporate risk register template) 
for implementing the risk management framework, and to reflect its applicability to all directorates, services, programmes and projects; 

 

 The LCRCA acronym has been removed and now refers to the “Combined Authority”; 
 

 A number of roles and responsibilities have been updated – including reflecting the role of the delivery boards; and including the roles of 
the policy lead officers and the Risk Manager; 
 

 The Merseytravel Audit, Risk and Governance Board has been removed from the policy, in line with Merseytravel‟s decision to disband 
it; 
 

 The risk management cycle has been simplified but now includes a fifth stage to demonstrate the importance of communicating and 
consulting with action owners when the risk owner is assessing threats and opportunities and when assigning actions to relevant action 
owners; 
 

 The policy emphasises that when setting the risk appetite this will be dependent on the project and the risk that the organisation and/or 
the Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) is prepared to accept in each instance (within the framework described); 
 

 The risk register template (see Appendix C) has also been updated to include a number of “stock risks” which can be used to prompt 
consideration of key risks such as inflation, fraud, bribery and corruption, and capacity and skills; and 

 Two new columns have been added to the risk register template to enable risk owners to reflect comments in relation to the update of 
their risks, and to allow the Risk Manager to provide comments and suggestions. 

 
   

P
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Risk Register 2022-23
Audit and Governance Committee

29 September 2022P
age 63



P
age 64



Risk 1: Accountability- There is risk that the Combined Authority does not 
develop and maintain sufficient capacity to deliver its obligations and 
responsibilities

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Investment and Delivery

 
Controls:
• Assurance Framework approved by Government 
• Delivery track record, for example Getting Building Fund, Adult Education Budget, Households into Work
• Use of 'single pot' approach with freedom and flexibility to manage funding deadlines
• Regular reporting of performance to relevant delivery boards to identify and resolve barriers to delivery
• Annual conversation with Government and associated feedback
• Resource funding to support delivery of projects
• Internal resources identified
• Quarterly SIF / Growth Directors meetings

P
age 65



Risk 1: Accountability
Actions:

• Strengthen collaborative approach with Local Authorities to support and 
develop their delivery capacity and encouraging the use of the pre-
development funding offer 

• Using opportunities to develop a shared vision with Local Authorities

• Explore internal capacity and identify responsibilities and/or key roles 
including consideration of shared resources (procurement, legal etc) to 
improve routes to delivery (working with Place Directorate)

• Residual Score:

• Progress on completion of 
actions within timescale:

Amber

• Next Review:

October 2022

16

P
age 66



Risk 2: Resilience - There is a risk that the Combined Authority fails to develop and 
maintain robust arrangements to ensure business resilience and continuity

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Corporate Development and Delivery

Controls:

• Suite of supporting ICT policies

• Business continuity arrangements detailed in Business Continuity Policy

• Regular business continuity desk top exercises

• Member of the Local Resilience Forum (LRF)

• Cyber Essentials Plus accredited

• Internal Resilience Group established 

P
age 67



Risk 2: Resilience
Actions:

• Business Continuity Management (BCM) training package to be scoped 
and agreed 

• Quarterly report to be drafted to provide Directors update information on 
BCM plans and activities in each service area

• Develop and agree reporting process for Chief Executive on all BCM 
plans and activities 

• Deliver the Cyber Security Action Plan

• Cyber risk training to be scoped and rolled out to ELT and relevant 
officers

20

• Residual Score:

• Next Review:

October 2022

• Progress on completion of 
actions within timescale:

Green

P
age 68



Risk 3: Environment - There is a risk that the City Region does not achieve its ambition 
of being net zero carbon by 2040

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Policy, Strategy & Government Relations 

Controls:

• ‘Pathway to Net Zero’ document published

• Lobbying of Government for funding

• Development of sustainable transport solutions

• Net Zero Delivery Board established

• Climate partnership involving external partners

• Climate and renewable energy portfolio role established 

P
age 69



Risk 3: Environment
Actions:

• Net Zero Carbon approach to all policy development 

• Net Zero Carbon approach to SIF projects to be developed

• Develop an affordable Net Zero delivery plan for 3-5 years

• Establish next phase of tidal project in conjunction with other renewable 
clean sources 

• “Stock” risk to be added to all service risk registers for consideration by 
Heads of Service/ Assistant Directors/ Project leads

• Develop a Net Zero performance monitoring framework

• Roll out climate literacy training across all Directorates

• Develop a delivery plan for the de-carbonisation of the Combined 
Authority estate

• Residual Score:

20

• Next Review:

• Progress on completion of 
Actions within timescale:

October 2022

Amber

P
age 70



Risk 4: Transport - There is a risk that the role of transport in supporting the social, 
economic and environmental objectives of the City Region is not maximised

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Place

Controls:
• Delivery Boards established which include regular reporting on performance to identify and resolve barriers to delivery of key 

projects

• Place Directorate Plan that aligns to corporate priorities

• Service specific plans to manage business as usual and new project activities

•  Qualified and expert staff delivering a range of transport-related services, including overseeing and operating the rail network, 
the bus network, the active travel network,  the key route network (including tunnels) and the Mersey Ferries 

• Appropriate level of resource / capacity  identified  (See Actions)

• Ongoing work with transport partners / operators to maintain and improve service delivery

• Established business continuity and contingency plans for directly operated services

• Recording and monitoring of use across all modes, changing services to reflect demand

P
age 71



Risk 4: Transport

Actions:

• Work with Executive Director Corporate Development and Delivery to 
establish interconnecting activities on resilience relating to transport

• Ensure transport solutions align to the wider Place agenda

• Improve evidence and intelligence to prioritise schemes /services and 
make evidence-based decisions

• Develop an investment programme on directly operated assets to ensure 
service continuity 

• Maximise potential of digital technology on the transport network

• Seek solutions to issues that are not mode specific – joined up approach 
to build capacity and resources in the right place to ensure delivery 
objectives are met

• Ensure that all transport activity and investment strives to contribute to 
Net Zero ambition

• Residual Score:

20

• Next Review:

• Progress on completion of 
actions within timescale:

October 2022

Amber

P
age 72



Risk 5: Economic Prosperity - There is a risk that the Combined Authority does 
not contribute positively to economic prosperity within the City Region

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Investment and Delivery

Controls:

• Plan for Prosperity sets out priorities for economy and investment 

• Government engagement to ensure understanding of funding streams required to support economic recovery 
and influence prosperity

• Delivery Boards established

• Assurance Framework 

• Monitoring and Evaluation Framework

P
age 73



Risk 5: Economic Prosperity

Actions:

• Embed Plan for Prosperity and keep under review so that content 
remains current and relevant

• Increased engagement with private sector, ensuring increased 
partnership/investment in recovery/growth projects 

• Develop and deliver recovery/growth projects on prioritised basis 

• Horizon scanning for funding opportunities to support economic recovery 

• Develop longer term view and strengthen linkages to the Investment 
Strategy

• Residual Score:

20

• Progress on completion of 
actions within timescale:

Amber

• Next Review:

October 2022

P
age 74



Risk 6: Financial Sustainability - There is a risk that  financial pressures will 
impact negatively on the financial sustainability of the Combined Authority 

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Corporate Services

Controls:
• Budget monitoring and reporting processes  

• Reserves Policy and strategy for use of reserves

• Constitution and Financial Procedure Rules in place

• Income and expenditure controls 

• Delegated Authority and Scheme of Delegation in place

• Financial risk and reserves embedded into reporting

• SIF Assurance Framework

• Established process for monitoring economic influences (i.e. inflation, cost of living etc)

P
age 75



Risk 6: Financial Sustainability

Actions:

• Progress towards medium term financial planning

• Develop organisational approach to maximisation of income and 
identification and delivery of budget efficiencies

• Investigate opportunities for commercial income 

• Develop sustainable models for addressing the cumulative financial risks 
associated with evolving methods of transport delivery (working with 
Place Directorate)

• Residual Score:

20

• Progress on completion of 
actions within timescale:

Red

• Next Review:

October 2022

P
age 76



 

 

 

CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT 

POLICY AND HANDBOOK 

 
 
 

Document Owner Internal Audit 

Document Version 0.6 

Approved By  Audit and Governance Committee: 
29 September 2022 

Merseytravel: 
3 October 2022 

 

Review Date August 2023 

 
This document is the property of the Combined Authority/Merseytravel. It may 

not be reproduced or used for any other purpose than that for which it is 
supplied without the written permission of the Combined 

Authority/Merseytravel. 
 

Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place 
  

Page 77



 

Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook 2022              | 2 
 

 
 

Contents 
 
 
 Page 
 

1. Introduction          3 
 
2. Objectives 3 
 
3. Responsibilities 4 

 
4. Risk Management Handbook  8 

  
Stage 1: Identification of Risks  9 
Stage 2: Evaluation of Risks  10 
Stage 3: Addressing Risks 12 
Stage 4: Ongoing Risk Review and Reporting  13 
Stage 5: Consultation and Communication 13 
  

5. Appendices 
  
A: Risk Group: Terms of Reference 15 
B: Risk Impact: Scoring Guidance 17 
C: Risk Likelihood: Scoring Guidance 18 
D: Risk Evaluation Scoring Matrix 19 
E: Risk Register Template 21 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 78



 

Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook 2022              | 3 
 

1. Introduction 
 
Risk is defined as “the effect of uncertainty on the achievement of objectives, where 
the effect is any deviation from the expected – positive or negative”. (ISO 31000) 
 
Any large and complex organisation faces a range of risks that may affect the 
achievement of its defined objectives. These risks have varying levels of likelihood of 
materialising and of impact to the organisation and its stakeholders if these did 
materialise. Equally, opportunities will present themselves which will support and 
enhance the delivery of objectives. Therefore, the effective management of risks and 
opportunities is a key component of an organisation that is effective in meeting its 
defined objectives.   
 
Risk Management is the process by which risks, and potential opportunities are 
identified, evaluated and controlled or optimised. 
 
The Combined Authority/Merseytravel (“the organisation”) recognises the importance 
of effective risk management as a key element of its performance and governance 
framework. It is the responsibility of the organisation to ensure that it establishes and 
maintains a system that provides assurance that there is accountability and ownership 
of the key risks that the organisation faces, maximises the achievement of its 
objectives, and ensures that good governance can be demonstrated. 
 

2. Objectives 
 
The objectives of this Policy are to: 
 

 Embed risk management into the culture and operations of the organisation; 

 Promote risk management as an integral part of business planning, decision-
making and performance management; 

 Maintain an effective process of key risk identification, analysis and control  

 Anticipate and respond to changing internal and external factors, including 
political, economic, social, technological, legislative or environmental (PESTLE); 

 Ensure that there is clear accountability for both the ownership and cost of risk and 
the tools used to control risk or optimise opportunities; 

 Improve governance and raise awareness of the need for risk management by all 
those connected with the organisation’s delivery; 

 Demonstrate how effective risk management can improve delivery of 
organisational objectives and increase resilience and: 

 Maintain documented corporate procedures for risk and the provision of suitable 
information, training and guidance to ensure a consistent approach. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

3. Responsibilities 

Page 79



 

Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook 2022              | 4 
 

 
Chief Executive 
Has overall responsibility for the Combined Authority/Merseytravel’s risk management 
arrangements. This involves being the corporate sponsor for risk management and 
ensuring that the system of corporate risk management is effective, consistently 
applied and embedded into the organisation. 
 
Executive Directors 
Executive Directors have responsibility for identifying and managing the most 
significant risks to corporate objectives.  They will ensure that these are reflected in 
the Corporate Risk Register, which will be considered and reviewed on a regular 
basis. They will ensure that appropriate controls and actions are in place so as to 
control and manage the corporate risks for which they have responsibility, and for 
those service risks which sit within their area of responsibility.   
 
Assistant Directors/ Heads of Service / Lead Officers 
Assistant Directors, Heads of Service and Lead Officers have responsibility for 
identifying and managing the risks to service objectives.  They will ensure that these 
are reflected in the relevant Service Risk Register, which will be considered and 
reviewed on a regular basis. They will ensure that appropriate controls and actions are 
in place so as to manage the risks which sit within their area of responsibility. They are 
responsible for establishing sound systems of internal control within their service 
areas. 
 
Assistant Directors/Heads of Service must notify the Head of Internal Audit of any 
significant changes in business activity that may impact on insurance provision, so as 
to ensure that appropriate and adequate insurance is in place.  
 
Any decision submitted through the Delegated Decisions system or Committee report 
(via the Modern.gov system) must include appropriate consideration of risk and 
implications associated with the proposed decision-making. 
 
Delivery Boards 
The Delivery Boards have been established to inform the Senior Responsible Officer 
(SRO) on the key risks and opportunities to support them in key decisions relating to 
major projects. 
 
Risk Group 
The Risk Group is the key forum for the consideration of opportunities and risks facing 
the achievement of the Corporate Plan, the Directorate plans and key projects 
including the identification of a suite of corporate stock risks (i.e., fraud, supply chain, 
social value) etc) to be included in the risk register template. It sets the tone for 
corporate risk management and uses this to drive improvement in delivery of corporate 
objectives.  This group’s Terms of Reference are detailed at Appendix A.   
 
Project/Programme Managers 
When an officer is managing a project/programme, it is their responsibility to ensure 
that adequate consideration is given to the management of risks that threaten the 
delivery of the project/programme, and that effective controls are in place so that these 
are managed; and ensuring that opportunities that exist are maximised. Such risks and 

Page 80



 

Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook 2022              | 5 
 

opportunities should be captured within a Project Risk Register (the template and 
guidance, which are both aligned to this Policy, are included in the “Project Toolkit”), 
and should be reviewed with appropriate regularity throughout the project lifecycle.  
 
Programme Management Office (PMO) 
The Programme Management Office supports Project/Programme Managers in the 
delivery of projects/programmes and assists them in identifying and assessing the 
risks that could jeopardise the delivery of the projects/programmes, and in facilitating 
the planning of controls and actions to minimise the likelihood of such risks 
materialising, and/or their impact if they did materialise. 
 
Risk Manager 
The Risk Manager’s primary role is to determine, implement and review the corporate 
risk management framework and facilitate its usage across the organisation. The Risk 
Manager is responsible for the development and review of the Corporate Risk 
Management Policy and Handbook and for developing specific programmes and 
procedures for establishing and maintaining risk management activities across the 
organisation. The Risk Manager provides training, guidance, and support to facilitate 
the dissemination of good risk management practice across the organisation. 
 
Managers 
Managers should understand their role in the risk management process, and the 
benefits of effective risk management.  It is their responsibility to assist their Assistant 
Director/ Head of Service in the management of relevant service risks and 
opportunities through maintaining an effective system of internal control and through 
undertaking appropriate actions in the management of service risks. 
 
Risk Group Members  
Risk Group members act as Risk Champions, representing their service area on the 
Group. They report on issues and make recommendations to the Risk Group on any 
actions required to enhance the effectiveness of the risk management process. They 
should be a catalyst for embedding the risk management process into corporate 
business processes within their service area and provide feedback from the Risk 
Group to their service on the key risks or opportunities affecting their service area and 
wider Directorate. They should also support in the development and maintenance of 
both the Corporate and Service Risk Registers and report on any risks or opportunities 
in relation to partnerships and key projects that may have an impact on the delivery of 
the organisation’s Corporate Plan objectives. 
 
All Employees  
All employees have responsibility for complying with the defined internal controls 
designed to minimise risk and for being aware of the risks that they encounter in their 
day-to-day roles. They also have a responsibility for highlighting new risks and 
opportunities that are presented in their work. 
                                                                                                        
 
The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Audit and Governance 
Committee 
This Committee has overall oversight of the governance and risk management 
arrangements for the Combined Authority and has responsibility for approving the 

Page 81



 

Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook 2022              | 6 
 

Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook. It has responsibility for the 
monitoring and review of the effectiveness of risk management arrangements and 
overseeing the continued development of these arrangements. This is chiefly 
implemented by reviewing the relevant aspects of the Corporate Risk Register, so as 
to obtain assurance that the risks identified as most significant threats to the 
achievement of objectives are being managed and controlled effectively.   
 
The Committee also monitors progress in addressing any risk-related issues reported 
to it, including those identified through Internal Audit work. 
 
Merseytravel Meeting 
This group has overall oversight of the governance and risk management 
arrangements for Merseytravel and has responsibility for approving the Corporate Risk 
Management Policy and Handbook. 
 
Internal Audit Service 
Internal Audit, specifically the Risk Management function within it, has responsibility for 
facilitating the system of risk management, and ensuring the continued development of 
the system so as to maximise its effectiveness.  This comprises: 

 Compilation and dissemination of the Corporate Risk Management Policy and 
Handbook;  

 Facilitating/supporting the process of risk review and reporting; 

 Promoting the embedding of effective risk management processes into the normal 
business processes of the organisation; 

 Advising on how to treat and manage risks; 

 Providing dynamic risk management advice in rapidly changing situations (such as 
during the COVID-19 pandemic); 

 Providing training on risk management; and 

 Helping to improve risk management through advising and supporting the 
identification of current and emerging risks and opportunities. 

 
Internal Audit is responsible for monitoring the effectiveness of risk management 
arrangements, through delivery of the Internal Audit Plan. The work of Internal Audit in 
assessing the effectiveness of the Combined Authority/Merseytravel’s management 
and control of risk will inform the Head of Internal Audit’s Annual Report and the 
Annual Governance Statement (AGS).  
 
So as to preserve the independence of Internal Audit, it is important to note that its role 
will not comprise: 

 Dictating or influencing risk identification, scoring or risk appetite; and 

 Acting to mitigate or control risks. 
 
  

Page 82



 

Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook 2022              | 7 
 

4. Risk Management Handbook 
 
This section gives detailed practical guidance in how to approach the risk 
management process, so as to provide consistency in relation to how the principles 
are applied and how Risk Registers are constructed. The Risk Register template is 
included within this document at Appendix E. 
 
The following diagram highlights the five key stages of the risk management process: 
 

 Identification of risks and opportunities; 

 Assessment of risks and opportunities; 

 Addressing risks and opportunities; 

 Ongoing review; and 

 Communication and consultation. 
 

 
 
Based on the ISO 31000 Framework 
 
 
 
 
 
STAGE 1: Identification of Risks or Opportunities 

Page 83



 

Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook 2022              | 8 
 

 
The first stage in the process is to identify the risks and opportunities that threaten or 
may enhance the delivery of the organisation’s objectives. These can be identified in 
various ways, including through formal risk workshops, planning sessions or often, 
these emerge “naturally” through business as usual. The identification of risks and 
opportunities should not be seen as a one-off exercise, and once an initial 
identification exercise has been undertaken, this should be updated on an ongoing 
basis so as to ensure that the risks/opportunities identified are still reflective of those 
facing the organisation. 
 
The identification and accurate framing of risks/opportunities is crucial to the success 
of the process that follows, and so this stage should receive sufficient attention to 
ensure it is comprehensive.   
 
The following Risk Wheel identifies the main risk categories which can be used as 
prompts during the identification process: 
 

 
 

Key factors to consider when identifying a risk or opportunity: 
 

 Be specific in framing what the risk/opportunity is; 

 Be clear on how the risk/opportunity may impact the achievement of objectives – 
which objective is affected; 

 Think about the different facets of the risk/opportunity and how it may affect a 
number of objectives or impact across a wider area of the business; and 

 Where a risk/opportunity has a wider applicability, consult colleagues so that it can 
be framed to take account of cross-cutting issues. 

 
 
 
 
STAGE 2: Evaluation of Risks or Opportunities 
 

Business 
Interruption 

Financial 
Exposure 

Reputation 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

Legislative/ 
Regulatory 

[CATEGORY 
NAME] 

Environmental/ 
Public Health 

Economic 

Page 84



 

Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook 2022              | 9 
 

The first part of evaluating a risk/opportunity is to be clear on the consequences if the 
risk was to materialise or the opportunity was not optimised. This should include clear 
reference to the objective which would be compromised by the materialisation of the 
risk. This should also include other consequences such as “negative media attention” 
or “legal challenge”, which may be knock-on effects of the risk materialising.  Where 
an opportunity is missed or not maximised, there should be an evaluation of the impact 
this would have on the relevant objective. 
 
The risk/opportunity should then be allocated an owner.  Ownership should sit with the 
officer in the organisation who has the appropriate level of control over the 
management of the risk. Risks should sit at Director level (for corporate risks), 
Assistant Director/Head of Service level (for service risks) or Project/Programme 
Manager level (for project/programme risks).  So as to promote accountability, a single 
post should be named as the owner, rather than a group of people. 
 
The third stage is to score the “inherent risk” for its likelihood and impact. This relates 
to the likelihood of the risk materialising, and its impact if it was to materialise, without 
any controls or mitigating actions having been applied. This helps to give a view of the 
“raw” risk prior to the organisation having taken any action to minimise it. Both aspects 
are allocated a score between 1 and 5, and one is multiplied by the other to give a 
total inherent risk score out of 25. Guidance on scoring impact and likelihood is 
provided at Appendix B and C respectively. 
 
Whilst the inherent risk score identifies the likelihood and impact of the risk if it was to 
materialise without the implementation of controls, it is highly unlikely that this reflects 
the actual position.  With the potential exception of very new or emerging risks, it is 
likely that the organisation will have implemented one or a number of control measures 
to reduce the likelihood of the risk materialising and/or the impact if it was to 
materialise.  Controls are defined as “any action taken by management, the board or 
other parties to manage the risk and increase the likelihood that established objectives 
and goals will be achieved.” 
 
The next stage of the evaluation process is to identify what control measures the 
organisation has already put in place. It is important that the controls listed genuinely 
relate to the risk under consideration, and that the control is actually in place and is 
effective – i.e., controls that are planned to be implemented should not feature at this 
stage.  Again, it is important to be specific in detailing the controls. Assurances that 
have been received that indicate the effective operation of a control should be 
available to demonstrate that it is fulfilling its intended purpose – inspection reports, 
customer feedback or internal audit reports are examples of such assurances. 
 
The implementation of effective controls should serve to reduce the risk score 
associated with the risk. This is the residual risk score – the likelihood and impact if the 
risk should materialise. The implementation of controls which do not reduce these 
scores should lead to examination of the value for money of these controls having 
been implemented: controls consume resources and should be proportionate to the 
risk they are intended to mitigate. The risk is now rescored, using the same criteria (as 
detailed in Appendix B and C) to evaluate its likelihood and impact now that controls 
have been applied.  Again, one score is multiplied by the other so as to give a total 
residual risk score out of 25. 

Page 85



 

Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook 2022              | 10 
 

 
Risk Appetite 
 
The organisation’s risk appetite is the level of risk that it is prepared to tolerate so as to 
meet its objectives.  It is accepted that all activities carry risk, and risk cannot, and 
should not be avoided, but should be managed in a proportionate manner that 
supports organisational performance.  However, there will be some risks that are 
beyond what the organisation is prepared to tolerate, as these would have too great an 
impact should these materialise, or it may be judged that to put in place further control 
measures to reduce the risk is not possible, practical or cost-effective.   
 
Therefore, in determining how the organisation will treat a specific risk, there needs to 
be a consideration of the impact of the risk on the organisation, and indeed the wider 
City Region and other stakeholders should the risk materialise. This is done by utilising 
the Risk Impact Scoring guidance detailed at Appendix B to arrive at a residual risk 
impact score. This guidance details the factors that should be taken into account when 
evaluating the various impacts, a risk would have if it materialised, and a view should 
be taken across these factors (which are not exhaustive and other factors relevant to 
the risk can be taken into account) to arrive at a residual risk score.   
 
It should also be noted that when setting the risk appetite for a particular activity, 
project, or programme, this will be dependent on the project and the risk that the 
organisation and/or the Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) is prepared to accept in 
each instance.    
 
The factors are: 
 

 Business Interruption – the impact on the organisation’ ability, and the ability of 
stakeholders, to maintain service continuity in the event of the risk materialising; 

 Financial Exposure – the financial costs associated with the risk materialising, 
such as fines, recovery costs, increased insurance premiums; 

 Reputational - the reputational impacts of the risk materialising, including negative 
reaction by government which may impact on future devolution, or negative press 
coverage which may impact on the credibility of the organisation;  

 Health, Safety and Wellbeing – direct or indirect impacts of the risk materialising 
on the health, safety and wellbeing of staff, key stakeholders or the wider City 
Region;  

 Legislative/ Regulatory – the impact of any legal or regulatory sanctions that may 
be applied to the organisation if the risk materialised; 

 Delivery of Service – the impact on the organisation’s ability to deliver its services 
in the event that the risk materialised;  

 Environmental/ Public Health – the impact on the City Region and potentially wider 
population in respect of environmental or public health considerations in the event 
that the risk materialised; and 

 Economic – economic implications for the City Region and potentially wider 
economy if the risk materialised, such as a negative impact on local businesses. 

 
 
 

Page 86



 

Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook 2022              | 11 
 

This will inform the decision of whether the risk presents something that can be 
managed in some way (by treatment, tolerance or the transfer of some element of the 
risk) or whether the associated activity should be terminated as the impacts are judged 
to be too serious for the organisation to bear.  
  
There are four main options for treatment of a risk: 
 

 Terminate – can an activity be discontinued so that the risk is eliminated? This 
usually applies to risks with very high residual scores.  

 Treat – can the risk be mitigated by the application of controls? 

 Tolerate – can the risk be accepted?  This usually applied to risks with very low 
residual scores. 

 Transfer – can the risk be transferred to another party?  It is rare that a risk can be 
fully transferred, but a significant element could be transferred via insurance, for 
example. 

 
Once it has been established whether the risk is within risk appetite and that the risk is 
going to be managed and not terminated, the final assessment stage is to identify the 
target risk. This represents the lowest score that a risk owner believes the residual risk 
can reduce to once where all control measures are in place there are no other controls 
that could be implemented in a cost-effective manner. The risk is once again re-
scored, using the same criteria (as detailed in Appendix B and C) to evaluate its 
likelihood and impact once all controls have been applied. This is usually aspirational 
and sets the direction for the management of the risk. The same multiplier is applied to 
give a total target risk score out of 25. 
 
 
STAGE 3: Addressing Risks or Opportunities 
 
It may be that it is felt that the risk has been reduced as much as possible or that any 
remaining actions to be taken are unpalatable or unfeasible – for example they may 
consume more resource than is worthwhile, considering the impact if the risk 
materialised. This should mean that the score has reached its target score. 
 
In most cases, however, a set of actions can be agreed that would have a beneficial 
effect on the risk’s impact and/or likelihood and represent good value for money. The 
implementation of such actions is intended to increase the level of risk control 
measures in place and progress the risk towards it target score. The actions should be 
defined in a SMART way – specific, measurable, achievable, relevant and timely. A 
responsible officer should be assigned to each of the actions, and this should be a 
person who has the autonomy to implement the action and does not necessarily have 
to be the Risk Owner. A due date, by which the action will be implemented, should 
also be added. A red/amber/green rating should also be assigned to the action, so that 
there is a view on whether the completion of the action is progressing in line with the 
planned timescale.   
 
 
 
 
STAGE 4: Ongoing Risk Review and Reporting 

Page 87



 

Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook 2022              | 12 
 

There is a clear relationship between the residual risk score and where the risk is 
owned and how it is reported.  This ensures that risks are managed at the most 
appropriate level of the organisation. Therefore, the Risk Evaluation Scoring Matrix, 
shown at Appendix D, should be used to determine the review and reporting 
arrangements for each identified risk.  Flexibility can be applied to this model, as for 
example emerging risks which score less than 16 may be included in the Corporate 
Risk Register so as to encourage early consideration and action prior to their expected 
escalation.   

STAGE 5: Communication and Consultation 

The management of any risk will usually require a number of actions. These may be 
distributed widely across the organisation. Therefore, it is vital that communication and 
consultation is strong, so as to ensure that actions are clear, consistent, and SMART 
(Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Realistic, Timely) and that action owners are held 
accountable for their delivery.  

 
Corporate Risks 
The Corporate Risk Register is the subject of a full quarterly review by Executive 
Directors. This review is informed by updated Service and Project/Programme Risk 
Registers. 
 
The updated Corporate Risk Register is then presented on a quarterly basis to the 
Audit and Governance Committee. 
 
Service Risks 
Service Risk Registers are maintained at Assistant Director/Head of Service level and 
are the subject of a quarterly review within Service Management Team meetings. New 
or escalating risks that score 16 or above, (or are expected to escalate towards a high 
score in the future if left untreated), should be put forward for review and potential 
inclusion in the Corporate Risk Register. 
 
Project/Programme Risks 
Project/Programme Risks are maintained at Project/Programme Manager level and 
are the subject of review within the governance structure relevant to the 
project/programme. 
 
Risk Review 
In reviewing a risk register, the following key items should be considered: 
 

 Are all existing risks relevant to the delivery of corporate/service/programme 
objectives included? 

 Have any of the risks changed, and does the risk description, controls, actions and 
scoring need to be updated to reflect the change? 

 Have any new risks emerged? 

 Are controls still in place and working effectively? 

 Do any new controls need to be put in place? 

 Is the scoring of the identified risks correct – are risks increasing or decreasing 
and if so, does the risk need to the escalated to the Corporate Risk Register or 
can it be de-escalated or closed? 

Page 88



 

Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook 2022              | 13 
 

 Are agreed actions being implemented according to the timescale? 

 Have any actions been completed, meaning that there is a new control in place, 
and so does the residual score need to reduce as a result (so bringing the risk 
closer to its target score)? 

  

Page 89



 

Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook 2022              | 14 
 

 

5. Appendices 

APPENDIX A 

RISK GROUP 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 

CORE PURPOSE  

To focus on how the organisation’s risk management, performance management and 

governance arrangements can be developed to optimise delivery of the Corporate 

Plan. 

 

FUNCTIONS 

The key functions of the Group are: 

 

 To facilitate delivery of the Corporate Plan by appraising the organisation’s 

arrangements for the management of risk, performance, and governance and 

making recommendations to the Delivery Panel/Directors in order to develop these 

arrangements as to optimise their effectiveness. 

 

 To champion effective and appropriate risk management at all levels of the 

organisation, so as to ensure that benefits are harnessed. 

 

 To support corporate improvement by monitoring the progress made in 

addressing relevant actions arising from sources such as external audit, internal 

audit, external bodies (including government) and those identified in the Annual 

Governance Statements. 

 

 To inform the Annual Governance Statements by appraising the organisation’s 

governance arrangements so as to provide focus to the ongoing development of 

these arrangements. 

 

 To identify emerging risks and hot topics relevant to the organisation and to 

recommend organisational approaches to manage these. 

 

The Risk Group may establish task and finish sub-groups to consider specific issues in 

more detail. These may involve officers who are not permanent members of the Risk 

Group. Such groups will report their work and its outcomes to the Risk Group for 

onward consideration and reporting. 

 

MEMBERSHIP 

 

 Chair: Head of Internal Audit 

 Secretary: Risk Manager 

 Major Transport Programme 
Director 

 Senior Investment Manager 

 Head of People and 
Organisational Development 

 Assistant Director - Rail 

Page 90



 

Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook 2022              | 15 
 

 Head of IT 

 Deputy Chief Legal Officer and 
Deputy Monitoring Officer 

 Executive Director - Corporate 
Services 

 Assistant Director of Evidence, 
Research and Intelligence  

 Head of Policy Co-ordination 

 Head of Asset Management 

 Assistant Director – Finance 

 Assistant Director - Mayoral 
Programme Delivery 

 Corporate Performance and 
Research Manager 

 
 

FREQUENCY 

The Group will meet on a quarterly basis but can meet more frequently if required. 

 

REPORTING 

The Group’s work will be reported to the Executive Leadership Team (ELT) in the first 

instance, with onward reporting of agreed actions to the Audit and Governance 

Committee. 

Page 91



 

Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook 2022 
             | 16 
 

APPENDIX B 

RISK IMPACT: SCORING GUIDANCE 

 

Type of Impact 
1 

Negligible 
2 

Minor 
3 

Moderate 
4 

Major 
5 

Critical 

Business 
Interruption 

Brief disruption to 
important service areas 

Complete loss of 
non-crucial service 

Complete loss of a non-crucial 
service area for a protracted 

period or an important service 
area for a short period 

Major loss of service for less 
than one month 

Major loss of service for over one 
month 

Financial 
Exposure 

 
Up to £10,000 

 
£10,001 to £250,000 £250,001 to £3m £3m to £10m Over £10m 

Reputational  
Contained within 

directorate 

Contained within 
the organisation  

 

Adverse local public or press 
interest; complaints 

Adverse national public or press 
interest 

Adverse central government 
action 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing  

Minor injury or discomfort 
to an individual 

Minor injury or discomfort to 
more than one individual 

Major injury or psychological 
damage to an individual 

Major injury or psychological 
damage to more than one 

individual 
 

Major incident involving multiple 
agencies 

Legislative/ 
Regulatory 

One-off minor breach 
resulting in minor adverse 

publicity / regulatory 
attention 

Some minor infringements of 
regulations / legislation resulting 

in minor fines or adverse 
publicity 

One-off moderate breach resulting 
in moderate fines or adverse 

publicity 

Systematic non-compliance 
resulting in significant litigation / 

fines or court appearance 

Forced closure of the 
organisation/loss of decision-

making powers 

Delivery of 
Service  

One-off minor reduction in 
performance in one 

service area 

Sustained reduction in 
performance in one area or 

reduction in performance across 
more than one service area 

Sustained reduction in 
performance in more than one 

service area 

Sustained systematic non-
performance against most 

performance targets 
Complete performance failure 

Environmental/ 
Public Health 

Minimal environmental or 
public health impact 

Short term disruption of the 
ecosystem or minor public 

health impact 

Medium term disruption of the 
ecosystem or moderate public 

health impact 

Long term disruption of the 
ecosystem or significant public 

health impact 

Major disruption of the ecosystem 
or long-term exposure to chronic 

health risks 

Economic  
Minimal economic decline 

relative to current forecasts 

Significant but localised decline 
in economic in line with current 

forecasts 

Significant but temporary decline 
in regional economy 

Significant regional decline in 
economy such that businesses 

are unable to thrive and impacts 
employment/growth figures  

Major regional decline leading to 
widespread business failure, loss 

of employment and hardship – 
long term impact affecting national 

economy  

P
age 92



 

Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook 2022 
             | 17 
 

 
APPENDIX C 

RISK LIKELIHOOD: SCORING GUIDANCE 

5 
Highly Probable 

 Extremely likely 

 The event is expected to occur in almost all circumstances 

 There has been a history of regular occurrences, i.e., on multiple occasions in the last twelve 
months 

 If new event, likelihood of occurrence regarded as almost inevitable 

4 
Probable 

 There is a strong possibility the event or risk will occur 

 The event is expected to occur in a majority of circumstances 

 There is a history of several occurrences, i.e., on more than one occasion in the last twelve months 

 If new event, likelihood of occurrence regarded as very likely 

3 
Possible 

 There is a reasonable probability the event or risk will occur 

 There may be a history of frequent occurrences  

 Everyone with knowledge of issues in this area knows this could happen 

 No or few effective measures have been implemented to reduce the likelihood of the risk 
materialising 

 If new event, likelihood of occurrence will probably occur in most circumstances 

2 
Unlikely 

 The event might occur at some time 

 There could be a history of ad hoc occurrences  

 Most of the team knows that whilst unlikely, the risk might occur 

 Measures that reduce likelihood have been taken but are not fully effective 

 If new event, likelihood of occurrence regarded as unlikely but possible 

 
1 

Highly Unlikely 

 Not expected, but there is a slight possibility it could occur at some time 

 Some of the team considers that this is a risk that might occur 

 Team considers there is an appropriate control framework in place 

 Conditions exist for this to occur, but is highly unlikely 

 Probably requires more than two coincident events 

 

P
age 93



 

Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook 2022 
             | 18 
 

APPENDIX D 
 

RISK EVALUATION SCORING MATRIX 
 

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D
 

Highly 
Probable 

5 5 10 15 20 25 

 

Probable 

4 4 8 12 16 20 

 

Possible 

3 3 6 9 12 15 

 

Unlikely 

2 2 4 6 8 10 

 

Highly 
Unlikely 

1 1 2 3 4 5 

 

   

1 2 3 4 5 

 

   
Negligible Minor Moderate Major Critical 

  
 
 

   
IMPACT 

    
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 94



 

Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook 2022 
             | 19 
 

 
 
 
RISK REPORTING FRAMEWORK 
 
 
  

Colour Coding Red Risks Amber Risks Green Risks 

Residual Risk Score 
Range 

16 - 25 8 - 15 1 - 6 

Risk Register  Corporate Risk Register  Service Risk Register 

Project/Programme Risk Register 

Risk Owner Executive Director Assistant Director/ Head of Service 

Project/Programme Manager 

Officer Reporting 
Forum 

Executive Leadership Team 

Directorate Management Teams 

 Service Management Team  

Project/Programme/Delivery Board 

Member Reporting 
Forum 

Audit and Governance 
Committee (Corporate Risk 

Register) 

 

None 

P
age 95



 

Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook 2022 
             | 20 
 

            APPENDIX E 

RISK REGISTER TEMPLATE 

 

 

 

Risk Register 

Template 2023 - including stock risks.xlsx
 

P
age 96



Corporate / Service / Project Risk Register 
Date of Review: 

Control Measures in Operation

Corporate
Objective 

Jeopardised

Service 
Objective 

Jeopardised

Risk Description Consequences of Risk 
Materialising

Risk Owner 
(post title)

Impact 
Score

Likelihood 
Score

Total 
Score

Te
rm

in
at

e

Tr
ea

t

To
le

ra
te

Tr
an

sf
er Impact 

Score
Likelihood 

Score
Total 
Score

Action Action Owner Timescale Progress on 
completion of 
Action within 

timescales 
(Red, Amber, 

Green)

Impact 
Score

Likelihood 
Score

Total 
Score

Risk Owner's 
Latest Comments

Risk Manager 
Comments / 

Recommendations

Supply Chain / Contractor 
availability - There is a risk of 
disruption to services as a result of 
significant difficulties in obtaining 
goods and/or services due to 
national shortages and increased 
costs

Lack of suitable bidders

Increased costs

Timescales are unachievable  / 
project creep

Reputational damage

Funding underspend / 
Government clawback

0 0 0

Capacity - There is a risk that 
failure to recruit and retain key staff 
will impact on the Service's ability 
to achieve the goals and objectives 
set out in the Directorate / Service 
plan

Objectives are not met

Low staff morale

Increased agency costs

Increased staff turnover in key 
roles / teams

Safeguarding - There is a risk we 
fail to fulfil our responsibilities in 
relation to safeguarding children 
and/or vulnerable adults.

Harm / injury to an individual

Reputational damage

Negative media interest

Legal claim / costs

0 0 0

Know your Customer / Supplier - 
There is a risk that new and/or 
existing customers / suppliers 
provide goods and /or services 
obtained from countries sanctioned 
by UK Government.

Ethical/ moral implications

Reputational damage

Negative press interest

0 0 0

Social Value
There is a risk that the service 
area/project/ procurement exercise 
does not maximise social value for 
the City Region.

Legal challenge

Reputational damage

Impact on local residents / 
SME's

0 0 0

Target Risk ScoringRisk Treatment
(indicate with an X)

Action PlanRef. Inherent Risk Scoring Residual Risk ScoringRisk Details

P
age 97



Equality and Diversity - There is a 
risk that the 
organisation/service/project does 
not meet its statutory or best 
practice responsibilities in respect 
of equality diversity. 

Legal challenge

Reputational damage

Negative staff culture

0 0 0

Increased cost living /inflation - 
There is a risk that the key 
activities become unaffordable in 
the light increased costs/inflation.

Limited availability of goods / 
services

Unrealistic budget setting

Negative impact on local 
residents / SME's across CA 
Region

Reduced income

Cessation of non-essential 
activities

0 0 0

Information Governance - There is 
a risk that poor information 
governance and management 
could have an adverse impact on 
the business finances and 
reputation. 

Financial penalties

Reputational damage

Legal action

Negative press interest
Creditor Fraud
Creation of bogus suppliers / 
invoices; False refunds, altered / 
tampered cheques, Direct debit 
fraud, online payment fraud, use of 
stolen credit / debit cards
Partners, providers defrauding the 
organisation by claiming payment 
for goods / services not provided
Delivering goods / services of 
substandard quality
Overpricing
Duplicate invoicing
Bogus change of bank details

Financial loss

Reputational damage

Debtor Fraud
Generating false sales
Falsifying invoices
Failure to invoice
Unauthorised credit notes / write 
offs
Misappropriation of payments 
received
Falsification of receipt
Ineffective credit limits (bad debt)
Supression of recovery

Mis-statement of accounts

Financial loss

Reputational damage

Misuse of European Funds Financial loss

Clawback

Reputational damage

Grant funding does not achieve 
its objectives/intended purpose

Procurement Fraud
Activities including price-fixing, bid-
rigging and cover pricing, to 
maximise profit margins or share 
out contracts. 
Bribery of officers/members by 
bidders/contractors so as to secure 
favourable outcome

Financial loss

Non-achievement of objectives

Legal challenge

Value for money compromised

Reputational damage

Theft of Intangible Assets
Abuse of annual leave, flexi leave, 
time off in lieu system
Abuse of sickness absence 
system
Theft of intellectual property

Financial loss

Non-achievement of objectives

Legal challenge

Value for money compromised

Reputational damage

P
age 98



Payroll Fraud - Submission of 
claims for duties not carried out:
Inflation of expenses claims;
Creation of ghost employees and 
generating payments;
Payroll staff falsfication of records

Financial loss

Non-achievement of objectives

Legal challenge

Value for money compromised

Reputational damage

P
age 99



1 2 3 4 5
Negligible Minor Moderate Major Critical

Business 
Interruption

Brief disruption to 
important service areas

Complete loss of non-
critical services

Complete loss of a non-
crucial service area for a 
protracted period or an 

important service area for a 
short period

Major loss of service for less 
than one month

Major loss of service for over one 
month

Financial 
Exposure

Up to £10,000 £10,001 to £250,000 £250,001 to £3m £3m to £10m Over £10m

Reputational 
Contained within 

directorate
Contained within the 

organisation
Adverse local public or press 

interest; complaints
Adverse national public or 

press interest
Adverse central government response

Legislative/ 
Regulatory

One-off minor breach 
resulting in minor 
adverse publicity / 

regulatory attention

Some minor 
infringements of 

regulations / legislation 
resulting in minor fines 

or adverse publicity

One-off moderate breach 
resulting in moderate fines or 

adverse publicity

Systematic non-compliance 
resulting in significant 

litigation / fines or court 
appearance

Forced closure of the organisation/loss 
of decision-making powers

Delivery of 
Service 

One-off minor reduction 
in performance in one 

service area

Sustained reduction in 
performance in one area 

or reduction in 
performance across 

more than one service 
area

Sustained reduction in 
performance in more than 

one service area

Sustained systematic non-
performance against most 

performance targets
Complete performance failure

Environmental/ 
Public Health

Minimal environmental 
or public health impact

Short term disruption of 
the ecosystem or minor 

public health impact

Medium term disruption of 
the ecosystem or moderate 

public health impact

Long term disruption of the 
ecosystem or significant 

public health impact

Major disruption of the ecosystem or 
long-term exposure to chronic health 

risks

Economic 
Minimal economic 
decline relative to 
current forecasts

Significant but localised 
decline in economic in 

line with current 
forecasts

Significant but temporary 
decline in regional economy

Significant regional decline 
in economy such that 

businesses are unable to 
thrive and impacts 

employment/growth figures 

Major regional decline leading to 
widespread business failure, loss of 

employment and hardship – long term 
impact affecting national economy 

Type of Impact

Major incident involving multiple 
agencies

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

Minor injury or 
discomfort to an 

individual

Minor injury or 
discomfort to more than 

one individual

Major injury or psychological 
damage to an individual

Major injury or psychological 
damage to more than one 

individual

Page 100



 
Report Title 

 
External Audit Annual Report 2020/21  
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Metro Mayor, Policy, Reform and Resources 

Summary of decision being sought  None report for noting 
 

Is this report exempt? No 
 
 

Local Authorities affected  
 

All 

Impact and implications of this report 
 

 

Financial impact 
 

No 

Delegation (s) sought  
 

None 
 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
 

A Fairer City Region  √ / X 

A Stronger City Region  √ / X 

A Cleaner City Region  √ / X 

A Connected City Region  √ / X 

A Vibrant City Region 
 

√ / X 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

No  

Risk and Mitigation No 
 

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 
 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Assistant Director of Finance  
 

Appendices Yes – Annual Audit Report 2020/21 
 

Background Documents No 
 

 

Page 101

Agenda Item 6



 

LCR AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday, 29 September 2022 
 

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

EXTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21  
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

This report sets out the conclusions and findings of the External Auditors, Mazars, 
audit of the annual statement of accounts for 2020/21.  The findings are detailed in 
the attached audit report. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee: 
 

(a) Consider the external auditor’s report on the annual Statement of Accounts 
of the Combined Authority attached at Appendix One; and 

(b) Recommend the approval of the audit report.  
 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 

The Annual Audit Letter provided by the Combined Authority’s External Auditors, 
Mazars, summarises the outcome from their audit work at the Combined Authority 
in relation to their 2020/21 audit. It is attached at Appendix One for information only.
  

 
4. CONCLUSION 
 

The 2020/21 annual audit letter is shared with the Members of Audit and 
Governance Committee for information only. 

 
 

JOHN FOGARTY 
Executive Director of Corporate Services 

  

STEVE ROTHERAM 
Metro Mayor, Policy, Reform & Resources 

  
Date:  15 September 2022 

 
Appendices: 
 
1 Annual Audit Letter 2020/21 
 
Background Documents:  
 
None 

Page 102



Auditor’s Annual Report

P
age 103



01

02

03

04

Contents

Introduction

Audit of the financial statements

Commentary on VFM arrangements

Other reporting responsibilities

Our reports are prepared in the context of the ‘Statement of responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies’ issued by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd. Reports and letters prepared by appointed auditors and addressed to members or officers are
prepared for the sole use of the Authority. No responsibility is accepted to any member or officer in their individual capacity or to any third party.

Mazars LLP is the UK firm of Mazars, an international advisory and accountancy group. Mazars LLP is registered by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales

2

P
age 104



Section 01:
Introduction 

P
age 105



1. Introduction

Purpose of the Auditor’s Annual Report
Our Auditor’s Annual Report (AAR) summarises the work we have undertaken as the auditor for Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (‘the Authority’) for the year ended 31 March 2021. Although this report is addressed to
the Authority, it is designed to be read by a wider audience including members of the public and other external stakeholders.

Our responsibilities are defined by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice (‘the Code’) issued by the National Audit Office (‘the NAO’). The remaining sections of the AAR outline how we have
discharged these responsibilities and the findings from our work. These are summarised below.

4

Introduction Audit of the financial statements Commentary on VFM arrangements Other reporting responsibilities and our fees

Opinion on the financial statements
We issued our audit report on 5 November 2021. Our opinion on the financial statements
was unqualified.

Wider reporting responsibilities
We have not yet received group instructions from the National Audit Office in respect of our
work on the Authority’s WGA submission. We are unable to commence our work in this area
until such instructions have been received.

The 2014 Act requires us to give an elector, or any representative of the elector, the
opportunity to question us about the accounting records of the Authority and to consider any
objection made to the accounts. We did not receive any formal questions or objections in
respect of the Authority’s financial statements.Value for Money arrangements

In our audit report issued on the 5 November 2021 we reported that we had not completed
our work on the Authority’s arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in
its use of resources and had not issued recommendations in relation to identified significant
weaknesses in those arrangements at the time of reporting. Section 3 confirms that we have
now completed this work and provides our commentary on the Authority’s arrangements. No
significant weaknesses in arrangements were identified and there are no recommendations
arising from our work.

P
age 106



Section 02:
Audit of the financial statements

5

P
age 107



2. Audit of the financial statements 

The scope of our audit and the results of our opinion

Our audit was conducted in accordance with the requirements of the Code, and International Standards on
Auditing (ISAs).

The purpose of our audit is to provide reasonable assurance to users that the financial statements are free from
material error. We do this by expressing an opinion on whether the statements are prepared, in all material
respects, in line with the financial reporting framework applicable to the Authority and whether they give a true
and fair view of the Authority’s financial position as at 31 March 2021 and of its financial performance for the
year then ended. Our audit report, issued on 5 November 2021 gave an unqualified opinion on the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Our Audit Completion Report, presented to the Authority’s Audit and Governance Committee on the 22
September 2021, provides further details of the findings of our audit of the Authority’s financial statements. This
includes our conclusions on the identified audit risks and areas of management judgement, internal control
recommendations and audit misstatements identified during the course of the audit.

6

Introduction Audit of the financial statements Commentary on VFM arrangements Other reporting responsibilities and our fees

P
age 108



Section 03:
Commentary on VFM arrangements 

7

P
age 109



Approach to Value for Money arrangements work 
We are required to consider whether the Authority has made proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. The NAO issues guidance to auditors that underpins the
work we are required to carry out and sets out the reporting criteria that we are required to consider. The
reporting criteria are:

• Financial sustainability - How the Authority plans and manages its resources to ensure it can continue to
deliver its services

• Governance - How the Authority ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its risks

• Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness - How the Authority uses information about its costs
and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services.

At the planning stage of the audit, we undertake work so we can understand the arrangements that the
Authority has in place under each of the reporting criteria; as part of this work we may identify risks of
significant weaknesses in those arrangements. Where we identify significant risks, we design a programme of
work (risk-based procedures) to enable us to decide whether there is a significant weakness in arrangements.
Although we describe this work as planning work, we keep our understanding of arrangements under review
and update our risk assessment throughout the audit to reflect emerging issues that may suggest there are
further risks of significant weaknesses. We did not identify any risks of significant weaknesses through our work
on Value for Money arrangements.

Where our risk-based procedures identify actual significant weaknesses in arrangements, we are required to
report these and make recommendations for improvement. There are no significant weaknesses to report.

The table below summarises the outcomes of our work against each reporting criteria. On the following page
we outline further detail of the work we have undertaken against each reporting criteria, including the
judgements we have applied.

3. VFM arrangements – Overall summary

8

Reporting criteria Commentary page reference Risks of significant weaknesses in arrangements 
identified?

Actual significant weaknesses in arrangements 
identified?

Financial sustainability 9 No No

Governance 10 No No

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness 11 No No

Introduction Audit of the financial statements Commentary on VFM arrangements Other reporting responsibilities and our fees

P
age 110



3. VFM arrangements – Financial Sustainability

9

Introduction Audit of the financial statements Commentary on VFM arrangements Other reporting responsibilities and our fees

Overall commentary on the Financial Sustainability reporting criteria

As Liverpool City Region Combined Authority and Merseytravel share the majority of their financial
sustainability arrangements, large elements of our commentary are common across both bodies.

Background to Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) operating environment in 2020/21

The Combined Authority was established on 1 April 2014 as a statutory transport and economic development-
related statutory body for Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton, Wirral and Halton local authority areas. The
majority of the Authority’s operational activities are funded by the transport levy, paid by the six constituent
Liverpool city region local authorities, tunnels income and grants to support the areas rail networks. The
Authority sets its revenue budget and transport levy annually and this process includes approval by Members
for the six constituent local authorities.

LCRCA entered 2020-21 at the start of the national lockdown, and faced a significant operational impact from
the effects of the pandemic. Patronage on the transport network across Liverpool reduced significantly, leading
to material shortfalls in revenue, the authority worked closely with government departments to secure additional
grant funding, mitigating the lost revenues throughout 2020/21.

LCRCA’s financial planning and monitoring arrangements

In January 2020 LCRCA set a balanced budget, however due to the impact of Covid and the national lockdown,
budget holders were asked to submit revised budgets in October 2020. This was based on conservative income
forecasts and required contributions from reserves to produce a balanced budget.. Throughout the year a
programme of budget monitoring and review was undertaken with budget holders, this provided crucial
information in what was a fast-changing and uncertain operating environment as a result of the pandemic. As
part of our VFM work we obtained a number of budget documents for review including for a sample of
functions. We confirmed that the underlying assumptions made by Management appeared reasonable in the
context of the pandemic, and were updated regularly throughout the year.

Following cost savings and higher than expected income, the Authority reported a breakeven outturn position at
31 March 2021. The reduction in expenditure and increase in sales resulted in a reduced contribution from
reserves. We have considered the arrangements in place in respect of budget management as part of the
Governance criteria on page 10.

During the year the Authority reported its financial position to the Combined Authority. We reviewed the reports
presented in 2020/21, which contain detail of performance against revenue, with explanations for any significant
variances detailed in the report. The Finance reports also contain information on progress against approved
capital programme and reasons for over or underspends against the budget profile.

As part of the annual accounts process the Authority completes a detailed review of its ability to operate as a
going concern, highlighting any risk areas for the following financial year. In 2020-21, the Authority has not
highlighted any significant going concern risks. This judgement was predicated by continued receipt of the
transport levy, regardless of performance and robust levels of reserves.

LCRCA’s arrangements for the identification, management and monitoring of funding gaps and savings

At the start of the budget process work is undertaken with services to eliminate any gaps through the budget
setting process. Gaps were identified using a ‘top down’ budget, forecasting the difference between expected
income and budgeted costs. Work is undertaken by budget holders to close any gaps through a combination of
removing applications for additional budget, generating additional savings, and generating additional income.
Through a combination of the above factors and grant support for Covid-related losses the Authority has been
able to close the savings gap for 2021/22.

The budget setting process also identifies savings for the next 3 years with the focus on transformation and
invest to save with the aim to develop a financially sustainable position over the medium term.

LCRCA’s arrangements and approach to 2021/22 financial planning

The arrangements for the 2021/22 budget setting process have largely followed the arrangements in place for
2020/21. Increases to the base budget has been limited to contractual inflation, agreed pay awards and
changes in grant funding. The 2021/22 budget was approved by the Combined Authority in March 2021 and
took account of known operational changes.

Using the methodology described above, LCRCA was able to eliminate any gaps through the budget setting
process and set a balanced budget for 2021/22. The 2021/21 budget was approved with no increase in the
transport levy. This has been managed through efficiencies, a review of fees and charges, alternative funding
options and reserves.

Based upon the above considerations we are satisfied there is not a significant weakness in Liverpool
City Region Combined Authority's arrangements in relation to financial sustainability.

P
age 111



3. VFM arrangements – Governance

10

Introduction Audit of the financial statements Commentary on VFM arrangements Other reporting responsibilities and our fees

Overall commentary on the Governance reporting criteria

As Liverpool City Region Combined Authority and Merseytravel share the majority of their governance
arrangements, large elements of our commentary are common across both bodies.

LCRCA’s risk management and monitoring arrangements

LCRCA has a comprehensive risk management system in place which is embedded into the governance
structure of the organisation. The framework is managed by Internal Audit and the Audit, Risk and Governance
Committee has the responsibility for providing the Authority with assurance that the risk management process
in place is effective.

Services maintain and update their own risk register, which feeds into the corporate risk register at an
organisational level. We have reviewed an example risk register and confirmed it is sufficiently detailed to allow
for effective risk management, with each risk having an assigned risk owner and a risk score based on a
probability and impact matrix. Where mitigating actions are identified they are assigned a risk owner and due
date to provide accountability and allow for effective oversight of the risk.

The corporate risk register provides the executive leadership team with oversight of the key risks faced by its
services. Regular updates are taken to the Audit and Governance Committee providing assurance over the
effectiveness of the arrangements in place.

In order to provide assurance over the effective operation of internal controls, including arrangements to
prevent and detect fraud, the Combined Authority has a team of internal auditors, led by the Head of Internal
Audit. The annual Internal Audit plan is agreed with Management at the start of the financial year and reviewed
by the Audit and Governance Committee prior to final approval.

We have reviewed the Internal Audit Plans for 2020/21 and 2021/22 and confirmed work is planned on a risk
based approach. The risk rating of each audit area determines the audit scope and how resources will be used,
particular attention for has been paid in ensuring that the IA plan reflects the changing risk landscape including
the impact of the pandemic. Progress reports are presented to each Audi and Governance Committee meeting
including follow up reporting of recommendations not fully implemented by agreed due dates. This allows the
Committee to effectively hold Management to account on behalf of the Board. At the end of each financial year
the Head of Internal Audit provides an opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Authority’s
framework of governance, risk management and control. For 2020/21 this gave an adequate level of
assurance.

LCRCA’s arrangements for budget setting and budgetary control

The Authority runs a detailed annual budget setting process whereby budget holders are required to provide
detailed budgets for all cost and income headings within their service. Information from the budget is used to
update the Medium Term Financial Plan annually. Budget would also be reviewed and updated where
significant changes occurred such as receipt of new funding. The detailed budgets prepared include the agreed
staffing establishment. Any changes to the establishment requires approval through the Executive Leadership
Team. The Combined Authority is currently looking to enhance the arrangements around workforce planning
and deliver improvements in the future. The consolidated budget is then presented to the Combined Authority
for approval. As part of our review of a sample of functional budgets we were able to confirm the budget returns
contained the necessary details and had been appropriately uploaded into the financial system.

In parallel, all Directors and Heads of Service are required to prepare a Delivery Plan that details strategic
actions that link through to the combined authorities corporate plan. These are reviewed quarterly against
agreed actions and outputs with reports going to Executive Leadership team and directors. Bi annually reports
are taken to the Overview and Scrutiny committee of the Combined Authority.

Following approval of the budget, progress is monitored on a monthly basis including the preparation of monthly
monitoring reports and challenge on key variances to agreed budgets. A member of the finance team attends a
number of committees and boards, so they aware of any financial issues raised, and can raise appropriate
challenge to ensure the financial aspects of any key decisions have been appropriately considered.

As set out in the previous section the financial position is reported to the Combined Authority and includes
sufficient detail to allow for effective review and challenge at the senior leadership level.

P
age 112



3. VFM arrangements – Governance

11

Introduction Audit of the financial statements Commentary on VFM arrangements Other reporting responsibilities and our fees

Overall commentary on the Governance reporting criteria (continued)

LCRCA’s decision making arrangements and control framework

The Authority has an established governance structure in place which is set out within its Annual Governance
Statement. This is supported by the constitution and scheme of delegation which shows the levels of authority
required for all key decisions. Directors and Heads of Service have clear responsibilities linked to their roles
and the structure in place allows for effective oversight of LCRCA’s operations and activity. Reports are
presented to appropriate committees and boards in accordance with the Scheme of Delegation for the
appropriate scrutiny and approval of decisions.

Decisions which require ‘new’ investment or expenditure for projects or schemes not included in the annual
budget must go through the appropriate process whether a delegated decision or approval by Combined
Authority for consideration and approval before any expenditure can be incurred. All reports must follow a
standard format which ensures that all financial, legal, risk and regulatory matters have been considered in
reaching the recommended decision. We have reviewed an example project decision taken to Investment
Panels and confirmed the decision making process was supported by appropriate justification for the
investment, including the strategic fit, planned programme management and financial implications.

The Authority has a full suite of governance arrangements in place. These are set out in the Statement of
Accounts and Annual Governance Statement. We reviewed these documents as part of our financial
statements audit and confirmed they were consistent with our understanding of the arrangements in place. In
addition to the Constitution, the Authority has a Code of Conduct for both officers and members which they
need to be aware of and adhere to. All formal meetings include a request for declarations of interests from all
attendees at the start of the meeting. The Authority also has a Gifts and Hospitality policy which sets out the
limited occasions when gifts or hospitality may be acceptable.

In addition there are a number of policies including Anti Bribery, money laundering, and other areas of
regulatory compliance that staff are required to keep up to date on through the completion of regular mandatory
e-learning modules.

Based on the above considerations we are satisfied there is not a significant weakness in the
Authority’s arrangements in relation to governance.

P
age 113



3. VFM arrangements – Improving Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness

12

Introduction Audit of the financial statements Commentary on VFM arrangements Other reporting responsibilities and our fees

As Liverpool City Region Combined Authority and Merseytravel share the majority of their arrangements for
improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness, large elements of our commentary are common across both
bodies.

LCRCA’s arrangements for assessing performance and evaluating service deliver

Each Directorate and Service within the Combined Authority prepares a Delivery Plan which includes key
actions and milestones and forms the focus of monthly discussions with Directorates. Financial performance is
also reviewed monthly with services which identifies where resources may be refocused where there are
emerging or new priorities.

Monthly performance reports by directorates following review by Executive Directors are presented to the
Executive Leadership Team (ELT). Consolidated performance against delivery plans are also reported ELT and
to the Combined Authority overview and scrutiny committee. We have reviewed examples of these reports
presented to ELT and confirmed these include RAG ratings of the Directorates performance against actions,
with performance updates and remedial actions for discussion.

Financial monitoring and reporting of performance against year-to-date budgets includes explanations of any
variance against agreed budget, financial risks and actions taken. Through our review of Board and committee
minutes we have confirmed the Finance Reports are sufficiently detailed to allow for effective performance
analysis, covering key areas such as budget updates, spend against budget, forecast revenue outturn and
capital outturn. Variances are accompanied by detailed explanations with remedial actions highlighted where
necessary.

On an annual basis, the Authority's overall performance is summarised in the Narrative Report as part of the
Statement of Accounts. This outlines the Authority’s progress against the Business Plan, key objectives and
identified risks. This provides wider stakeholders, including service users, with an overall assessment of
activities for the financial year.

LCRCA’s arrangements for effective partnership working

The combined works closely with the six local authorities in the Liverpool area, public transport operators,
Transport for the North, and the business community in delivering its priorities, per its transport plan,
Authority’s Corporate Plan, and LEP Delivery Plan.

The Authority works collaboratively with the Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise Partnership and its
constituent local authorities to promote and deliver inclusive economic growth. The Local Enterprise
Partnership also ensures that the views of businesses are represented in strategic decision making.

The Authority is a constituent authority of Transport for the North, which was formed to improve strategic
transport decision across the North of England, by bringing together the North's twenty local transport
authorities, business leaders, Network Rail, Highways England, HS2 and Central Government. This
representation on a number of external bodies ensures the coordination of its outputs and support for the
overall strategic priorities for the region

LCRCA continues to play an important and active role in providing the vehicle for closer partnership working
between the local authorities of the Liverpool City Region and the Local Economic Partnership to improve the
economic outcomes for people living in the Liverpool City Region. We have seen examples of this effective
partnership working as part of our review.

The authority maintains a Partnership working register which records all key strategic partnerships and
relationships. This provides Management with a risk based view the organisations the authority collaborates
with.

LCRCA’s arrangements for commissioning services

The Authority’s procurement team and procurement processes ensures that it complies with all legal and
regulatory requirements as well as achieving best value in procurement processes. The Authority has recently
strengthened its policies and processes to ensure best practise and these are available to all staff via a
SharePoint hub. Standardised templates and procurement standing orders are used throughout the
procurement process to ensure consistency of approach.

Any deviation from the Authority’s procurement rules have to be agreed via a waiver process as described in
the standing orders and are reported to the Regulatory and Compliance Board.

Based on the above considerations we are satisfied there is not a significant weakness in Liverpool
City Region Combined Authority’s arrangements in relation to improving economy, efficiency and
effectiveness.

Overall commentary on the Improving Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness reporting criteria

P
age 114



Section 04:
Other reporting responsibilities and 
our fees

13

P
age 115



4. Other reporting responsibilities and our fees

Matters we report by exception

The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 provides auditors with specific powers where matters come to our
attention that, in their judgement, require specific reporting action to be taken. Auditors have the power to:

• issue a report in the public interest;

• make statutory recommendations that must be considered and responded to publicly;

• apply to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to the law; and

• issue an advisory notice.

We have not exercised any of these statutory reporting powers.

The 2014 Act also gives rights to local electors and other parties, such as the right to ask questions of the
auditor and the right to make an objection to an item of account. We did not receive any such objections or
formal questions.

Reporting to the NAO in respect of Whole of Government Accounts
consolidation data

The NAO, as group auditor, requires us to complete the WGA Assurance Statement in respect of its
consolidation data, and to carry out certain tests on the data. We have not yet received group instructions from
the National Audit Office in respect of our work on the Authority’s WGA submission. We are unable to
commence our work in this area until such instructions have been received and we cannot issue our 2020-21
audit certificate until this work is completed.

14

Introduction Audit of the financial statements Commentary on VFM arrangements Other reporting responsibilities and our fees

P
age 116



4. Other reporting responsibilities and our fees

15

Area of work 2019/20 fees 2020/21 fees

Scale fee in respect of our work under the Code of Audit Practice £36,334 £36,334

Additional testing on Defined Benefit Pensions Schemes and Property, Plant and Equipment £7,067 £7,067* 

Additional testing as a result of the implementation of new auditing standards: ISA 220 (Revised): Quality control of an audit of financial 
statements; ISA 540 (Revised): Auditing accounting estimates and related disclosures; and ISA570 (Revised) Going Concern

- £1,500* 

Other additional costs (2020/21 additional fees relate to enquiries from and correspondence with a local elector) £9,032 £4,000* 

Additional work arising from the change in the Code of Audit Practice in respect of Value for Money arrangements - £6,000* 

Total fees £52,433 £54,901

Fees for work as the Authority’s auditor
We reported our proposed fees for the delivery of our work under the Code of Audit Practice in our Audit Strategy Memorandum presented to the Audit and Governance Committee in July 2021. Having completed our work for the
2020/21 financial year, we can confirm that our fees are as follows:.

* Fee variations subject to approval and confirmation by the Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA).

Fees for other work
We confirm that we have not undertaken any non-audit services for the Authority in the year.

Introduction Audit of the financial statements Commentary on VFM arrangements Other reporting responsibilities and our fees

P
age 117



Mazars

Mazars is an internationally integrated partnership, specialising in audit, accountancy, advisory, tax 
and legal services*. Operating in over 90 countries and territories around the world, we draw on the 
expertise of 40,400 professionals – 24,400 in Mazars’ integrated partnership and 16,000 via the 
Mazars North America Alliance – to assist clients of all sizes at every stage in their development.

*where permitted under applicable country laws.

One St Peter’s Square
Manchester
M2 3DE

Mark Dalton, Director – Public Services
mark.dalton@mazars.co.uk

P
age 118

mailto:mark.dalton@mazars.co.uk


 
Report Title 

 
External Audit 2021/22 Progress Update  
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Metro Mayor, Policy, Reform and Resources 

Summary of decision being sought  None for information only 
 

Is this report exempt? No 
 
 

Local Authorities affected  
 

All 

Impact and implications of this report 
 

No 

Financial impact 
 

No 

Delegation (s) sought  
 

No 
 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
 

A Fairer City Region  √ / X 

A Stronger City Region  √ / X 

A Cleaner City Region  √ / X 

A Connected City Region  √ / X 

A Vibrant City Region 
 

√ / X 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

No  

Risk and Mitigation No 
 

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 
 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Assistant Director of Finance  
 

Appendices Yes – External Audit Progress Update Report 
 

Background Documents No 
 

 

Page 119

Agenda Item 7



 
 

LCR AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday, 29 September 2022 
 

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

EXTERNAL AUDIT 2021/22 PROGRESS UPDATE  
 
 
 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

The purpose of this report is to provide the Members of the Audit and Governance 
Committee with an update on the progress of the 2021/22 external audit. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

It is recommended that Audit & Governance Committee note the contents of this 
report. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1. The Accounts and Audit Regulations (England) 2015 require that the Chief Financial 

Officer must certify the annual Statement of Accounts by 31 May each year. 
However, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), 
now called the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (from 
September 2021) put in place revised regulations that came into force on 31 March 
2021. The Accounts and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2021 extended the 
statutory audit deadlines for 2020/21 and 2021/22 for all authorities. 

 
3.2 Under the Accounts and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2021, the deadline for 

publishing draft accounts was moved from 31 May to 31 July and the final date for 
the publication of audited accounts was moved from 31 July to 30 September.  In 
December 2021, the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
(successor to MHCLG) proposed that the deadline for publication of audited 
accounts was extended to 30 November, reverting back to a September deadline 
for a further five years in response to the Redmond Review of local authority 
financial reporting and external audit. 

 
3.3 The Authority’s External Auditors, Mazars, have tabled an audit progress report, 

which details progress against their audit plan.  This is included at Appendix One. 
  

Page 120



 
 
4. CONCLUSION 
 

The Authority’s external audit is underway and External Auditors, Mazars are 
making good progress against their audit plan, the details of which are included in 
the attached report. 

 
 

JOHN FOGARTY 
Executive Director of Corporate Services 

   

STEVE ROTHERAM 
Metro Mayor & Portfolio Holder Policy, 

Reform and Resources 
  

 
Appendices: 
 
1 External Audit Progress Update 
 
Background Documents:  
 
None 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit Progress Report

P
age 123



2

1. Audit Progress
2. National publications

P
age 124



Section 01:
Audit Progress

P
age 125



4

Audit progress

Purpose of this report

This report provides the Audit and Governance Committee  with an update on progress in delivering our responsibilities as your external auditors. It also includes, at Section 2, a summary of recent national 
reports and publications for your information..  

2020/21 audit

We completed our audit of the financial statements and signed our unqualified audit opinion on 5 November 2021. Our final audit completion letter issued at the conclusion of the audit. We  updated the Audit 
and Governance  (A&G) Committee on the items listed as outstanding in our Audit Completion Report presented to the previous A & G Committee meeting. There were no new matters arising to bring to the 
Committee’s attention.

We completed our work on the Authority’s value for money arrangements in July 2022. There were no significant weaknesses identified.

Our Auditor's Annual Report for 2020/21, which provides a summary of our work for the year ending 31 March 2021, was issued on the 26 July 2022 and is a separate item on the September A&G committee 
agenda.

Our one remaining responsibility in respect of the 2020/21 financial year is a review of the Authority’s whole of government accounts (WGA) return.  We have received the NAO  group instructions and are  
currently waiting on confirmation of sample audits to be tested. Once the NAO has confirmed this, we will liaise with Officers to complete any work we are required to do. Following this, we will issue our Audit 
Certificate to formally close the 2020/21 audit.

2021/22 audit

During March 2022, we completed our initial planning work and early substantive testing for the 2021/22 audit. Following this we presented our Audit Strategy Memorandum to the July 2022 A&G Committee 
meeting, setting out the audit risks we identified in respect of the 2021/22 financial statements. There has been no change to our risk assessment since issuing our Audit Strategy Memorandum. 

We received the Authority’s draft Accounts  and annual governance statement in July 2022, in line with the timetable agreed with Officers and the national timetable. Our fieldwork commenced on 1 August 
2022, and is due to continue until early October. We plan to report our  findings from our audit to the November A&G Committee meeting. However, this is subject to the resolution of a national technical issue 
in respect of accounting for infrastructure assets. Further information on this issue is included on page 8 of this report. 

We plan to complete and report our Value for Money arrangements work within three months of the date of our audit opinion on the financial statements (in line with National Audit Office (NAO) guidance). 

P
age 126



Section 02:
National publications

P
age 127



6

National publications

Publication/update Key points

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountability (CIPFA)

1 CIPFA LASAAC issues urgent consultation on Code of 
Practice – Infrastructure Assets

The CIPFA LASAAC Local Authority Code Board has released temporary proposals to update the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom for infrastructure assets.

2 Updated statement on the deferral of IFRS 16 leases Following its emergency consultation on proposals for changing the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom, CIPFA LASAAC issued its preliminary decision and feedback statement. 

3 Local Authority Controlled Companies: a good practice guide A good practice guide due to be published in May 2022; highlighted for potential interest to Committee Members, noting the full guide 
needs to be purchased. 

4 CIPFA/LASAAC Code Of Practice On Local Authority 
Accounting In The United Kingdom 2022/23 Code of Practice for 2022/23 financial statements

Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities

5 Creation of the Audit Reporting and Governance Authority A new regulator, the Audit Reporting and Governance Authority (ARGA), to be established as the system leader for local audit within a 
new, simplified local audit framework.

6 Guidance on flexible use of capital receipts Updated guidance on the type of projects that qualify for the capital receipts flexibility programme 2022-2025

P
age 128



7

National publications

Publication/update Key points

National Audit Office (NAO)

7 Audit and Assurance Committee effectiveness tool NAO’s effectiveness tool provides a way for ARACs to assess their effectiveness 

8 Improving government data: A guide for senior leaders A good practice insight guide for senior leadership

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd

9 Annual Quality Monitoring Report 2019/20

This covers the work of local auditors appointed by PSAA for the 2019/20 financial year. The report provides information from PSAA’s 
quality monitoring arrangements throughout the year, survey results and findings from professional regulation and contractual
compliance.
The report details how the Financial Reporting Council reviewed four Mazars financial statements audits and all were assessed as
meeting the required standard.

10 Consultation on 2022/23 scale of audit fees Consultation document 

P
age 129



8

NATIONAL PUBLICATIONS
CIPFA
1. CIPFA LASAAC issues urgent consultation on Code of Practice – Infrastructure Assets – May 2022

The issue of accounting for infrastructure assets is a technical accounting one, and arises principally because of information availability relating to these assets.

Accounting for infrastructure in local government has not historically been considered to be an area of significant audit risk, due to the inalienable nature of the assets and the use of a historical cost basis of 
accounting. However, concerns have been raised that some authorities are not applying component accounting requirements appropriately. The issue raised is in relation to the derecognition (removal of the 
carrying amount) of parts of infrastructure assets when replacement expenditure is undertaken. There are also related issues for the reporting of gross historical cost and accumulated depreciation. 
Infrastructure assets are one of the few categories of property, plant and equipment assets measured at historical cost rather than at ‘current value’. The valuation process for these assets was deemed to be 
too costly and, therefore, infrastructure assets are held in local authority balance sheets at depreciated historical cost.

Normal custom and practice for (highways) infrastructure assets is that derecognition does not affect asset balances because the assets are expected to have been fully used up before the replacement 
expenditure takes place; this does require that assets are properly depreciated in line with the requirements of the Accounting Code. This issue arises in part because of limitations on historical information 
relating to when the assets were first recorded on balance sheets in the early 1990s, and where there have been transfers of assets because of local authority reorganisations. It is also extremely difficult to 
clearly identify the parts of the assets which are being replaced.

The CIPFA LASAAC Local Authority Code Board has released temporary proposals to update the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom for infrastructure assets. An urgent 
consultation on these proposals closed on 14 June 2022.

The temporary proposals address the above issue regarding the derecognition of parts of local authority infrastructure assets as they are replaced. CIPFA LASAAC and CIPFA established a Task and Finish 
Group to find a solution to this issue and consider the outcome of any proposed changes to the code. Following advice from the Task and Finish Group, CIPFA LASAAC has now issued temporary proposals 
for changes to the code relating to how these issues are reported. They include:

• confirming the accounting consequences of derecognition, e.g. that the effect on the carrying amount is nil (on a presumption that the replaced parts are fully depreciated);

• temporarily adapting the code to remove the reporting requirements for gross historical cost and accumulated depreciation

• providing extra guidance on how depreciation may be applied for infrastructure assets

• CIPFA LASAAC will consult on a longer-term solution later in the year.

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/urgent-task-and-finish-group-local-authority-infrastructure-assets

P
age 130

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/urgent-task-and-finish-group-local-authority-infrastructure-assets


9

NATIONAL PUBLICATIONS
CIPFA
2. Updated statement on the deferral of IFRS 16 leases – April 2022

Following its emergency consultation on exploratory proposals for changing the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom, CIPFA LASAAC issued its preliminary decision and 
feedback statement. This preliminary decision was subsequently considered by the government's Financial Reporting Advisory Board (FRAB). FRAB advised CIPFA LASAAC that it agreed with the deferral of 
IFRS 16 Leases until 1 April 2024. FRAB also advised CIPFA LASAAC that the Code had to allow and should encourage local authorities to adopt the standard before this date should they wish to. 

CIPFA LASAAC has therefore followed its preliminary decision with its formal decision: to defer the implementation of IFRS 16 until 1 April 2024 (and therefore in the 2024/25 Code). However, both the 
2022/23 and the 2023/24 Codes will allow for adoption as of 1 April 2022 or 2023. CIPFA LASAAC would note that the 2022/23 Code has not yet completed its due process so local authorities should follow 
the CIPFA LASAAC pages of the website for further updates. Formal due process for the Code by LASAAC and by CIPFA's Public Financial Management Board is anticipated to be complete by the third 
week in April. 

https://www.cipfa.org/about-cipfa/press-office/latest-press-releases/updated-statement-on-the-deferral-of-ifrs-16-leases

3.  CIPFA Local Authority Controlled Companies: a good practice guide, May 2022

In recent years, the potential risk associated with local authority trading companies and joint ventures has increased. Nothing is risk free, but it is important to learn lessons from others and access support.

This guide aims to assist local authorities by setting out and highlighting existing best practice. It focuses on identifying organisational goals, the process to find the right option to achieve that goal and how to 
structure the organisation for success.

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/l/local-authority-owned-companies-a-good-practice-guide

P
age 131

https://www.cipfa.org/about-cipfa/press-office/latest-press-releases/updated-statement-on-the-deferral-of-ifrs-16-leases
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/l/local-authority-owned-companies-a-good-practice-guide


10

NATIONAL PUBLICATIONS
CIPFA

4. CIPFA/LASAAC Code Of Practice On Local Authority Accounting In The United Kingdom 2022/23, July 2022

Local authorities in the UK are required to keep their accounts in accordance with 'proper (accounting) practices'. Public sector organisations responsible for locally delivered services are required by 
legislation to comply with the terms of the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code). This 2022/23 edition of the Code has been developed by CIPFA/LASAAC and has 
effect for financial years commencing on or after 1 April 2022.

The Code specifies the principles and practices of accounting required to prepare financial statements which give a true and fair view of the financial position and transactions of a local authority. The Code 
applies to local government organisations across the UK including local authorities, police bodies, fire services and other local public service bodies.

This edition of the Code introduces a number of important amendments relating both to context and an understanding of requirements. Changes include:

• clarifying and expanding the applicability of the Code to Welsh authorities and bodies including corporate joint committees

• amendments to clarify the treatment of social benefits

• provisions which allow local authorities to account for leases in accordance with IAS 17, while also offering the option for local authorities to choose to adopt IFRS 16 on a voluntary basis. Where the latter 
option is taken, service concession arrangement liabilities must also be measured in accordance with the measurement requirements of IFRS 16.

The Code sets out the relevant requirements on local authority accounting including material developed as a result of an exceptional consultation which explored options which might help alleviate pressures 
on the timetable for publication and audit of local authority financial statements. However, preparers should be aware that further consultation has been undertaken in relation to accounting for infrastructure 
assets, and this may result in amendments and updates being made to this edition of the Code and potentially other earlier editions of the Code.

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/c/code-of-practice-on-local-authority-accounting-in-the-united-kingdom-202223-online

P
age 132

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/c/code-of-practice-on-local-authority-accounting-in-the-united-kingdom-202223-online


11

NATIONAL PUBLICATIONS
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities

5. Creation of the Audit Reporting and Governance Authority – May 2022

Plans to ensure councils and local bodies are delivering value for money for taxpayers, strengthening council finances and reducing risk to public funds have been published by the government.

The government consultation response confirms plans to establish a new regulator, the Audit Reporting and Governance Authority (ARGA), as the system leader for local audit within a new, simplified local 
audit framework.

Ahead of ARGA’s establishment, a shadow system leader arrangement will start at the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) from September 2022. This will be led by Neil Harris, who joins as the FRC’s first 
Director of Local Audit to start up a dedicated local audit unit.

The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities has been acting as interim system leader since July 2021, when it established and took the chair of the Liaison Committee of senior local audit 
stakeholders.

Work has already begun to address the challenges facing local audit with the government announcing a series of measures to improve local audit delays in December 2021.

The consultation response also announces plans to make audit committees compulsory for all councils, with each audit committee required to include at least one independent member. This will create 
greater transparency and consistency across local bodies.

The announcement comes as government today set out its wider plans to revamp the UK’s corporate reporting and audit regime through a new regulator, greater accountability for big business and by 
addressing the dominance of the Big Four audit firms.

The government continues to work closely with stakeholders, including local bodies and audit firms, to refine proposals for implementing our commitments around system leadership, as well the range of other 
commitments we have made in response to the Redmond Review.

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/greater-transparency-and-value-for-money-for-council-finance-system

P
age 133

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/greater-transparency-and-value-for-money-for-council-finance-system


12

NATIONAL PUBLICATIONS
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities

6. Guidance on flexible use of capital receipts, August 2022

This is an updated direction and statutory guidance to extend the freedom for local authorities to use eligible capital receipts to fund the revenue costs of projects that deliver ongoing savings or improved 
efficiency. This direction revokes and replaces the direction of the same name issued on 4 April 2022.

Capital receipts are the money councils receive from asset sales, the use of which is normally restricted to funding other capital expenditure or paying off debt. The receipts cannot usually be used to fund 
revenue costs. The direction introduces a new restriction that authorities may not use the flexibility to fund discretionary redundancy payments, i.e. those not necessarily incurred under statute. This does not 
affect other types of severance payments and, to be clear, does not restrict, including pension strain costs, which may still be qualifying expenditure.

The direction allows authorities to use the proceeds from asset sales to fund the revenue costs of projects that will reduce costs, increase revenue or support a more efficient provision of services. This is an 
extension of the flexibility that has been in place since 2016, and will allow this freedom to continue to 2024/25 to help authorities plan for the long-term.

This direction clarifies that the capital receipts obtained must be disposals by the local authority outside the “group” structure.

As introduced in the direction issued on 4 April 2022, this direction includes the requirement to submit the planned use of the flexibility in advance of use for each financial year. This condition can be met by 
sending the authority’s own strategy documents provided they contain the detail asked for in the direction. This is not an approval process, the information must be sent to ensure transparency and allow 
proper monitoring by central government.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/final-guidance-on-flexible-use-of-capital-receipts

P
age 134

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/final-guidance-on-flexible-use-of-capital-receipts


13

NATIONAL PUBLICATIONS
National Audit Office
7. Audit and Risk Assurance Committee effectiveness tool – May 2022

Audit and Risk Assurance Committees (ARACs) play a crucial role in supporting the effective governance of central government departments, their agencies and arm’s-length bodies.

ARACs are operating in a highly challenging context. Government organisations are managing many short- and long-term risks and are required to be resilient to a number of pressures. This has created an 
environment where ARACs need to be dynamic and responsive to the changing risk profiles and demands of their organisations. ARACs can see this as an opportunity to work out how they can most 
proactively work with the Board and accounting officer.

Against this background, NAO’s effectiveness tool provides a way for ARACs to assess their effectiveness against more than just the basic requirements. It provides aspects of good practice to give ARACs 
greater confidence and the opportunity to meet the requirements of their role.

The effectiveness tool is a comprehensive way for ARACs in central government to assess their effectiveness on a regular basis.

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/audit-and-risk-assurance-committee-effectiveness-tool/

8. Improving government data: A guide for senior leaders, July 2022

This guide is for senior leaders responsible for delivering government services. The NAO’s aim is to encourage decision-makers to realise the benefits of better use of data by helping them understand in more 
detail the core issues to be addressed which have held back progress in the past.

The guide focuses on data to support the operational delivery of public services, but the NAO intends that much of their guide will also be relevant to data for decision-making and to improve performance.

The guide discusses overcoming barriers in data sharing, data quality, data standards, resourcing, access to raw data and APIs (application programming interfaces), creating cross-government data sets for 
multiple users, data analytics.

Improving government data: A guide for senior leaders - National Audit Office (NAO) insight

P
age 135

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/audit-and-risk-assurance-committee-effectiveness-tool/
https://www.nao.org.uk/insights/improving-government-data-a-guide-for-senior-leaders/


14

NATIONAL PUBLICATIONS
Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd
9. Annual Quality Monitoring Report 2019/20 – April 2022

This covers the work of local auditors appointed by PSAA for the 2019/20 financial year, which was undertaken during a difficult time for all concerned. The systemic issues that were highlighted in Sir Tony 
Redmond’s Review continued and were compounded by the pandemic. 

In September 2020 Sir Tony Redmond’s review of local authority financial reporting and external audit was published. The report highlighted the significant challenges and turbulence within the new system of 
local audit, emphasising that at present local government audit is under-resourced, undervalued and is not having impact in the right areas. The report made a number of recommendations in relation to 
external audit regulation, smaller authorities’ audit regulation, the financial resilience of local authorities and the transparency of financial reporting.

In December 2020 the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) delivered its initial response to the Redmond Review setting out proposed actions to implement the majority of the 
recommendations made in the report. This was followed by a further announcement in May 2021 which proposed that the Audit, Reporting and Governance Authority (ARGA) would carry out the hugely 
important role of the local audit systems leader. ARGA is the new regulator being established to replace the FRC and will contain a dedicated local audit unit which will play a key leadership and coordination 
role in the local audit framework. MHCLG consulted in Summer 2021 on how the new arrangements would function.

The next year is likely to continue to be very challenging for all involved in local audit, but DLUHC (formerly MHCLG) will take forward and refine its proposals in its role as interim systems leader until ARGA is 
created, and the FRC will create a local audit unit in shadow form.

The problems that Sir Tony Redmond reported on continue to impact significantly on the timely completion of local government audits. Only 45% of audit opinions were completed by the publishing date of 30 
November 2020, compared with 58% in the previous year. This has now fallen even further with only 9% for 2020/21 audits of financial statement opinions completed (noting the reversion to a 30 September 
publishing date). Delayed audit opinions have a real public-facing impact, undermining the ability of local bodies to account effectively for their stewardship of public money to taxpayers. It is imperative that 
the whole system works together to restore timely completion of audits in order to rebuild public confidence and trust, especially as the lack of a statutory deadline for the audit opinion means that co-operation 
is essential to make the system work as the public has the right to expect it to.

https://www.psaa.co.uk/managing-audit-quality/annual-audit-quality-reports-from-2018-19/annual-reports/audit-quality-monitoring-report-2019-20/

P
age 136

https://www.psaa.co.uk/managing-audit-quality/annual-audit-quality-reports-from-2018-19/annual-reports/audit-quality-monitoring-report-2019-20/


15

NATIONAL PUBLICATIONS
Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd

10. Consultation on 2022/23 scale of audit fees, August 2022

PSAA is consulting on the fee scale for 2022/23 audits. This is the final fee scale under PSAA’s current audit contracts, which cover audits of the financial statements of opted-in bodies for the five-year period 
2018/19 to 2022/23. Audit work under the proposed 2022/23 fee scale will largely be undertaken from autumn 2023 onwards.

This fee scale consultation is separate from the procurement exercise PSAA is currently undertaking for audit contracts that will apply for the next five years, for audits from 2023/24. Audit work under the new 
contracts will take place from 2024 onwards. Any audit fee implications arising from the results of the procurement will be covered by our consultation on the 2023/24 fee scale in twelve months’ time.

Consultees will be aware that auditors and auditing have been subject to very high levels of scrutiny in recent times following a number of widely reported financial failures in the private sector. These changes 
have resulted in significant tensions and pressures in the wider audit market and profession and have led to a series of government-commissioned reviews of audit and audit regulation. The Department for 
Levelling Up Housing and Communities (DLUHC) has announced a range of measures to be implemented to address the issues identified in the local audit framework specifically. These include a new 
system leader role to be discharged by a new regulator, the Audit Reporting and Governance Authority (ARGA) when it is established under future legislation.

This consultation on the 2022/23 fee scale is taking place in the context of these pressures and changes. The consultation explains how PSAA proposes to calculate the audit fees which will make up the 
2022/23 fee scale, managing the impact of three key elements:

• fee variations approved in relation to 2019/20 and 2020/21 audit work which relate to recurrent audit work that is needed in subsequent audit years;

• changes in local audit requirements; and

• the impact of changes in inflation.

The consultation will close on Friday 30 September 2022.

https://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors-and-fees/list-of-auditor-appointments-and-scale-fees/2022-23-auditor-appointments-and-audit-fee-scale/

P
age 137

https://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors-and-fees/list-of-auditor-appointments-and-scale-fees/2022-23-auditor-appointments-and-audit-fee-scale/


Mazars

Mazars is an internationally integrated partnership, specialising in audit, accountancy, advisory, tax 
and legal services*. Operating in over 90 countries and territories around the world, we draw on the 
expertise of 40,400 professionals – 24,400 in Mazars’ integrated partnership and 16,000 via the 
Mazars North America Alliance – to assist clients of all sizes at every stage in their development.

*where permitted under applicable country laws.

www.mazars.com

Director: Mark Dalton

Email:  mark.dalton@mazars.co.uk

LinkedIn:
www.linkedin.com/company/Mazars
Twitter:
www.twitter.com/MazarsGroup
Facebook:
www.facebook.com/MazarsGroup
Instagram:
www.instagram.com/MazarsGroup
WeChat:
ID: Mazars

Contact Follow us:

Audit Manager: Dawn Watson

Email:  dawn.watson@mazars.co.uk

P
age 138



 
Report Title 

 
Code of Corporate Governance  
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram, Portfolio Holder 
for Policy, Reform and Resources 
 

Summary of decision being sought  The Liverpool City Region Audit and 
Governance Committee to approve the updated 
Code of Corporate Governance.  
 

Is this report exempt? No  
 
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

No   
 

Is the report urgent 
 

No 
 

Is this decision to be exempt from 
call in 
 

No 
 
 

Local Authorities affected  
 

All 

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 

 

Financial impact 
 

No 

Delegation (s) sought  
 

N/A 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
 

A Fairer City Region  √  

A Stronger City Region  √  

A Cleaner City Region  √  

A Connected City Region  √  

A Vibrant City Region 
 

√  

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 4.1. 

Risk and Mitigation Yes, see paragraph 4.2. 
 

Privacy implications No  

Page 139

Agenda Item 8



 
Communication and consultation 
implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 4.3. 

Contact Officer(s) Jill Coule, Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring 
Officer, Tel: 0151 330 1855,  
Email: Jill.Coule@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
 
Sharna Chowdhury, Trainee Solicitor, Tel: 0738 
896 4192,  
Email: Sharna.Chowdhury@liverpoolcityregion-
ca.gov.uk 
 
Louise Dempster, Trainee Solicitor, Email: 
Louise.Dempster@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
 

Appendices Yes 
 

Background Documents No  
 

 
  

Page 140

mailto:Jill.Coule@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Sharna.Chowdhury@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Sharna.Chowdhury@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Louise.Dempster@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance Committee 
 

29 September 2022 
 

REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER 
 

CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

The purpose of this report is to provide the updated Code of Corporate Governance 
to Members. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

It is recommended that the LCR Audit and Governance Committee approve the 
updated Code of Corporate Governance.  
  

 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1. To support the Committee in discharging its duties according to its Terms of 

Reference, this report sets out the organisation’s Code of Corporate Governance. 
This has been reviewed and updated. 

 
3.2. The Code of Corporate Governance is an important document, which provides 

guidance to officers and members in all matters concerning governance. The 
document includes the following: 

 

 Outlines the seven Principles of Public Life, also known as the Nolan 
Principles. An explanation is provided on what these are and what these mean 
for public servants; 

 Providing information of the organisation’s responsibilities under the 
CIPFA/SOLACE guidance “Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government” (CIPFA/SOLACE, 2016), which is the main document for good 
governance in the public sector; and 

 Evidence of how the organisation meets the above responsibilities, by 
highlighting the key policies, procedures, systems and processes that support 
this. 
 

3.3. The document has been updated to include additional evidence to detail the 
governance arrangements the organisation has in place to comply with the 
CIPFA/SOLACE guidance. This additional evidence has been provided for by the 
Annual Governance Statements for the LCRCA and Merseytravel for 2021/22. The 
updated areas on the document have been highlighted in yellow, as set out in 
Appendix 1 of this report.  

 

Page 141



3.4. Once the document has been approved, it will be circulated to all staff so that they 
are aware of the principles and their personal governance responsibilities.  

 
 
4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1. Legal  
 

The governance review process ensures that the Combined Authority discharges its 
statutory duties under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The Code of 
Corporate Governance also enables the Combined Authority to demonstrate how it 
complies with what is considered best practice guidance, “Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government” (CIPFA/SOLACE, 2016).  

 
4.2. Risks and Mitigation 
 

Ensuring that there is an effective system of corporate governance is important in 
order to minimise the Combined Authority’s exposure to risks. The existence and 
regular update of the Code of Corporate Governance is an imperative part of 
managing these risks.  

 
4.3. Communication and Consultation  
 

Members of the Combined Authority will be advised of the contents of this report 
following its consideration by the LCR Audit and Governance Committee. Should 
this report be approved, the updated Code of Corporate Governance will also need 
to be made available on the intranet and will need to be referenced via the LCRCA 
Constitution.  

 
 
5. CONCLUSION 
 

Regularly reviewing and updating the Code of Corporate Governance and the 
subsequent circulation and publication to all staff, is a key contributor to promoting 
good governance in the organisation.  
 

 
JILL COULE 

Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer 
METRO MAYOR STEVE ROTHERAM  
Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and 

Resources 
 
 

Appendices: 
Appendix 1 – Code of Corporate Governance   
 
Background Documents:  
None  

Page 142



 
 

 
 

Code of Corporate Governance 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Document Owner Monitoring Officer 

Document Version 0.3 

Approved By (Proposed) Audit and Governance Committee – 
29 September 2022 

Merseytravel –  3 October 2022 

Created Date June 2020 

Reviewed Date August 2022 

Date of Next Review September 2023 
 

This document is the property of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
(LCRCA) and Merseytravel. It may not be reproduced or used for any other 
purpose that that for which it is supplied without the written permission of 

LCRCA and Merseytravel. 
 

Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place 
 
 
 
 
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 1 
Page 143



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 2 

 

 

 

Contents  

 
Page 

1. Purpose 3 

2. Definitions 3 

3. The Principles of Good Governance 5 

4. Applying the Principles of Good Governance 6 

Page 144



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 3 

 

 

2. Definitions 

 

 
 

1.1 It is the responsibility of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) 
and Merseytravel (hereafter referred to as “the organisations”) to establish, and 
maintain under regular review, governance arrangements which are robust, 
appropriate and effective. 

 
1.2 The purpose of this Code of Corporate Governance (hereafter referred to as the 

“Code”) is to demonstrate how the organisations demonstrate good governance. 
 

1.3 The adoption of a Code is a key requirement of the relevant Statement of 
Recommended Practice: Delivering Good Governance in Local Government, 
(CIPFA/SOLACE, 2016) (hereafter referred to as “the guidance”) and this Code 
reflects how the principles embodied within this guidance have been adopted by 
the organisations. 

 
1.4 The adoption of, and compliance with, the Code is also one of the key areas for 

comment in the Annual Governance Statement (AGS), which the organisations 
are each required to produce and publish under the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015 (regulation 6(1)(a)). The Annual Governance Statement is 
produced by the Executive Director of Corporate Services and is based upon a 
„review of effectiveness‟ incorporating a number of sources of assurance, 
primarily: the work of Internal Audit and other providers of assurance, and through 
provision of assurance from management; all of which provide a commentary on 
how robust and consistently applied the governance framework is in practice. 

 
1.5 All staff have a key role to play in demonstrating good governance, and so should 

be aware of this Code and should seek to demonstrate the principles embodied 
within it in their work, in conjunction with the Corporate Behaviours: LCR First, 
Action Focus and Respect. 

 

 

 

2.1 The guidance defines corporate governance as that which “comprises the 
arrangements put in place to ensure that the intended outcomes for stakeholders 
are defined and achieved” (CIPFA/SOLACE, 2016). 

 
2.2 In order to demonstrate good corporate governance, the organisations should 

carry out their functions in a way that demonstrates accountability, transparency, 
effectiveness, integrity, and inclusivity. This means doing the right things, in the 
right way, for the right people, in a timely, inclusive, open, honest and 
accountable manner. 

 

2.3 This links directly to the Principles of Public Life, known as the Nolan Principles, 
which all public servants are expected to demonstrate in their work. The 
Committee on Standards in Public Life defines the principles as detailed in the 
table below: 

1. Purpose 

Page 145



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 4 

 

 

 
 

Principle Definition 

Selflessness 
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of 
the public interest. 

 

Holders of public office must avoid placing 
themselves under any obligation to people or 
organisations that might try inappropriately to 
influence them in their work. They should not act or 
take decisions in order to gain financial or other 
material benefits for themselves, their family, or their 
friends. They must declare and resolve any interests 
and relationships. 

 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions 
impartially, fairly and on merit, using the best 
evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

 

 

Holders of public office are accountable to the public 
for their decisions and actions and must submit 
themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

 Holders of public office should act and take decisions 
in an open and transparent manner. Information 
should not be withheld from the public unless there 
are clear and lawful reasons for so doing. 

 Holders of public office should be truthful. 

 

Holders of public office should exhibit these 
principles in their own behaviour and treat others 
with respect. They should actively promote and 
robustly support the principles and be willing to 
challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 

Page 146



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 5 

 

 

3. The Principles of Good Governance  

3.1 The guidance sets out seven Core Principles that detail the key requirements for 
the governance of the organisation. These are illustrated in the diagram below: 

 
 

Achieving the Intended Outcomes While Acting in the Public Interest at all 
Times 

 
Source: Delivering Good Governance in Local Government (CIPFA/SOLACE, 2016) 

 
 

3.2 Under each of the Core Principles detailed in the diagram, the guidance sets out 
a number of supporting principles which detail how the organisations should 
demonstrate good governance. 

Page 147



 

 

 

4. Applying the Principles of Good Governance  

4.1 In order to achieve good governance, the organisations will seek to apply each of the seven Core Principles, along with their 

Sub-Principles, and this is demonstrated via the supporting evidence detailed in the table below: 

 
Core Principle Sub-Principles Requirements Supporting Evidence 

A. Behaving 
with integrity, 
demonstrating 
strong 
commitment to 
ethical values 
and respecting 
the rule of the 
law 

Behaving with 
integrity 

 Ensuring members and officers behave 
with integrity and lead a culture where 
acting in the public interest is visibly 
and consistently demonstrated thereby 
protecting the reputation of the 
organisation 

 Ensuring members take the lead in 
establishing specific standard 
operating principles or values for the 
organisation and its staff and that they 
are communicated and understood. 
These should build on the Seven 
Principles of Public Life (the Nolan 
Principles) 

 Leading by example and using the 
behaviours and values as a framework 
for decision making and other actions 

 Demonstrating, communicating and 
embedding the behaviours or values 
through appropriate policies and 
processes which are reviewed on a 
regular basis to ensure that they are 

 Clear set of approved Corporate 
Behaviours. 

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 
Constitution. 

 Officer Code of Conduct. 

 Individual Performance Plan (IPP) process. 

 Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Protocol; 
and associated Policy Framework: 
Anti Bribery Protocol; 
Anti Money Laundering Protocol; 
Confidential Reporting (Whistle-blowing) 
Protocol; 
Investigation Protocol; 
Surveillance Protocol. 

 . 

 Gifts, Hospitality and Declarations of Interests 

Policy. 

 IT Acceptable Use Policy. 

 Information Security Incident Management 

Protocol. 

 
 

Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 

 

 Page | 6 

P
age 148



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 7 

 

 

 

Core Principle Sub-Principles Requirements Supporting Evidence 

  operating effectively 
 

 Public access to relevant meetings 
(including online public viewing – 
webcasting, and availability of meeting 
agendas and minutes). 

 Freedom of Information and 
Environmental Information 
Regulations Policy. 

 Publication Scheme. 

 Grievance Policy. 

 Corporate induction/staff handbook. 

 I4P system utilised to issue all new and 
revised policies to staff and monitor 
completion. 

 E-learning. 

Demonstrating 
strong 
commitment to 
ethical values 

 Seeking to establish, monitor and 
maintain the organisation‟s ethical 
standards and performance 

 Underpinning personal behaviour with 
ethical values and ensuring they 
permeate all aspects of the 
organisation‟s culture and operation 

 Developing and maintaining robust 
policies and procedures which place 
emphasis on agreed ethical values 

 Ensuring that external providers of 
services on behalf of the organisation 
are required to act with integrity and in 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Clear set of approved Corporate 
Behaviours. 

 Officer Code of Conduct. 

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 
Constitution. 

 Dignity at Work Policy. 

 Contract Procedure Rules incorporating 
social value considerations. 

 Corporate induction/staff handbook. 

 Equality Impact Assessment obligations. 

 Equality Strategy. 

 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
 

P
age 149



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 8 

 

 

 

Core Principle Sub-Principles Requirements Supporting Evidence 

  

 

 

 Respecting the  
 rule of law 

compliance with ethical standards 
expected by the organisation 

 

 Ensuring members and staff 
demonstrate a strong commitment to 
the rule of the law as well as adhering 
to relevant laws and regulations 

 Creating the conditions to ensure that 
the statutory officers, other key post 
holders, and members, are able to fulfil 
their responsibilities in accordance with 
legislative and regulatory requirements 

 Striving to optimise the use of the full 
powers available for the benefit of 
citizens, communities and other 
stakeholders 

 Dealing with breaches of legal and 
regulatory provisions effectively 

 Ensuring corruption and misuse of 
power are dealt with effectively 

Social Value Policy and Framework. 
 

 

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 
Constitution. 

 Legal team providing general support to 
officers; specialist advice, where required; 
and available for input at all Committee 
meetings. 

 Monitoring officer in place (review of reports 
and associated advice). 

 Individual Performance Plan (IPP) process. 

 Gifts, Hospitality and Declaration of Interests 

Policy. 

 Section in Committee reports to consider 
legal and risk implications. 

 Review of reports via Modern.Gov and Legal 
sign off required for all delegated decisions 
and Committee/Board reports. 

 Call-in procedure. 

B. Ensuring 
openness and 
comprehensive 
stakeholder 
engagement 

Openness  Ensuring an open culture through 
demonstrating, documenting and 
communicating the organisation‟s 
commitment to openness 

 Making decisions that are open about 
actions, plans, resource use, forecasts,  
outputs and outcomes. The 
presumption is for openness. If that  

 Public access to relevant meetings. 

 Minutes of relevant meetings. 

 Standard format for committee reports. 

 Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 Public consultations. 

 Statement of Accounts. 

 Freedom of Information and 

P
age 150



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 9 

 

 

 

Core Principle Sub-Principles Requirements Supporting Evidence 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

is not the case, a justification for the 
reasoning for keeping a decision 
confidential should be provided 

 Providing clear reasoning and 
evidence for decisions in both public 
records and explanations to 
stakeholders and being explicit about 
the criteria, rationale and 
considerations used. In due course, 
ensuring that the impact and 
consequences of those decisions are 
clear 

 Using formal and informal consultation 
and engagement to determine the most 
appropriate and effective interventions/ 
courses of action 

Environmental Information Regulations 
Policy. 

 Publication Scheme. 

 Annual Governance Statement. 

 Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit. 

 Liverpool City Region National Local 
Growth Assurance Framework. 

 Investment Strategy which provides 
detailed information relating to the Strategic 
Investment Fund (SIF). 

 Authors of formal reports seek to identify 
options and alternatives, and weigh up 
considerations. 

 Briefings of relevant lead members and 
Mayoral advisors in place. 

 Member induction and training. 

 Portfolio Boards. 
 

 Engaging  
 comprehensively  
 with institutional  
 stakeholders 

 Effectively engaging with institutional 
stakeholders to ensure that the 
purpose, objectives and intended 
outcomes for each stakeholder 
relationship are clear so that outcomes 
are achieved successfully and 
sustainably 

 Developing formal and informal 
 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Local Enterprise Partnership. 

   
Audit and Governance Committee 
has an independent member. 

 Stakeholder engagement in relation to 

P
age 151



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 10 

 

 

 

Core Principle Sub-Principles Requirements Supporting Evidence 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Engaging with 
individual 
citizens and 
service users 
effectively 

partnerships to allow for resources to 
be used more efficiently and outcomes 
achieved more effectively 

 Ensuring that partnerships are based 
on: 

o trust 
o a shared commitment to change 
o a culture that promotes and accepts 

challenge among partners and that 
the added value of partnership 
working is explicit 
 

 

 Establishing a clear policy on the type 
of issues that the organisation will 
meaningfully consult with or involve 
communities, individual citizens, 
service users and other stakeholders to 
ensure that service (or other) provision 
is contributing towards the 
achievement of intended outcomes 

 Ensuring that communication methods 
are effective and that members and 
officers are clear about their roles with 
regard to community engagement 

 Encouraging, collecting and evaluating 
the views and experiences of 
communities, citizens, service users 
and organisations of different 
backgrounds including reference to  

transport delivery. 

 Stakeholder engagement about what the 
LCRCA does and how it benefits the local 
area. 

 Transport Advisory Group in place. 

 Results of Transport Focus surveys inform 
aims of Bus Alliance. 

 LCR Listens. 

 Building Back Better economic recovery plan 

utilising stakeholder engagement. 
 

 Corporate Plan. 

 LCR Listens. 

 Public consultations. 

 Health and Safety Policy. 

 Communications Team. 

 Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 
Constitution. 

 Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit. 

 Stakeholder engagement in relation to 
transport delivery. 

 Merseytravel welcomes public participation 
in formal meetings through the facility for 
public petitions and questions. 

 Stakeholder engagement in relation to bus 
services. 

 

P
age 152



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 11 

 

 

 

Core Principle Sub-Principles Requirements Supporting Evidence 

  future needs 

 Implementing effective feedback 
mechanisms in order to demonstrate 
how views have been taken into 
account 

 Balancing feedback from more active 
stakeholder groups with other 
stakeholder groups to ensure 
inclusivity 

 Taking account of the impact of 
decisions on future generations of 
tax payers and service users 

 Stakeholder engagement about what the 
LCRCA does and how it benefits the local 
area. 

 Customer insight informs marketing 
campaigns. 

 Transport Advisory Group in place. 

 Results of Transport Focus surveys inform 
aims of Bus Alliance. 

  

 Corporate commercial agreements in 
place with Stadler, Merseyrail and 
Network Rail in relation to the Rolling 
Stock project, working positively in a 
collaborative manner. 

 Bus Alliance in place to encourage common 
shared view and continuous improvement in 
bus services. 

 Relationship/governance arrangements with 
Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP). 

 Stakeholder engagement in relation to the 
Spatial Development Strategy. 

 Stakeholder engagement in relation to the 
City Region Sustainable Transport 
Settlement.  

 Stakeholder consultation regarding the 
Liverpool City Region Freeport. 

 Stakeholder consultation regarding bus 
franchising. 
 

P
age 153



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 12 

 

 

 

Core Principle Sub-Principles Requirements Supporting Evidence 

 C. Defining  
 outcomes in  
 terms of  
 sustainable  
 economic, social  
 and  
 environmental  
 benefits 

Defining  
outcomes 

 

 Having a clear vision, which is an 
agreed formal statement of the 
organisation‟s purpose and intended 
outcomes containing appropriate 
performance indicators, which provide 
the basis for the organisation‟s overall 
strategy, planning and other decisions 

 Specifying the intended impact on, or 
changes for, stakeholders including 
citizens and service users. It could be 
immediately or over the course of a 
year or longer 

 Delivering defined outcomes on a 
sustainable basis within the 
resources that will be available 

 Identifying and managing risks to the 
achievement of outcomes 

 Managing expectations effectively 
with regard to determining priorities 
and making the best use of the 
resources available 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Service Plans. 

 Clear set of approved Corporate 
Behaviours. 

 Net Zero Carbon Action Plan. 

 Pathway to Net Zero. 

 One Year Climate Action Plan 
2021/22. 

 Risk Management Policy and 
associated Risk Registers. 

 The emerging work in Transport 
(LTP4 and Bus 
Decarbonisation). 

 

Sustainable 
economic, social 
and 
environmental 
benefits 

 Considering and balancing the 

combined economic, social and  
environmental impact of policies and 
plans when taking decisions about 
service provision 

 Taking a longer-term view with regard 
to decision making, taking account of 
risk and acting transparently where 

 

 Corporate Plan. 
 Annual Governance Statement. 

 Finance monitoring reports. 

 Public consultations. 

 Contract Procedure Rules incorporate social 
value considerations. 

 Net Zero Carbon target and action plan. 
 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority  

P
age 154



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 13 

 

 

 

Core Principle Sub-Principles Requirements Supporting Evidence 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 there are potential conflicts between 
the organisation‟s intended outcomes 
and short-term factors such as the 
political cycle or financial constraints 

 Determining the wider public interest 
associated with balancing conflicting 
interests between achieving the 
various economic, social and 
environmental benefits, through 
consultation where possible, in order to 
ensure appropriate trade-offs 

 Ensuring fair access to services 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Social Value Policy and Framework. 

 Environmental Policy. 

 Liverpool City Region National Local Growth 

Assurance Framework. 

 Investment Strategy which provides 
detailed information relating to the 
Strategic Investment Fund (SIF) . 

 LCRCA has approved long-term strategies 
for Rail, Bus, short journeys and Tunnels. 

 Integration of evidence and policy teams has 
allowed better evidential decisions, and 
integration of decision-making and forward 
planning across policy teams. 

  

 Stakeholder engagement in relation to the 
Spatial Development Strategy. 

 Mayor‟s vision and aims communicated 
through regular briefings and 
communications. 

 Relevant financial, social and environmental 
and risk considerations have to be included 
within Committee/Board reports. 

 Reporting performance to Members. 
 Race Equality Hub. 
 Zero Carbon Delivery Board. 

 

P
age 155



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 14 

 

 

 

Core Principle Sub-Principles Requirements Supporting Evidence 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 D. Determining  
 the interventions  
 necessary to  
 optimise the  
 achievement of  
 the intended  
 outcomes 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Determining  
 interventions 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Planning  
 interventions 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 Ensuring decision makers receive 

objective and rigorous analysis of a 

variety of options indicating how 

intended outcomes would be achieved 

and associated risks. Therefore 

ensuring best value is achieved however 

services are provided 

 Considering feedback from citizens 
and service users when making 
decisions about service improvements 
or where services are no longer 
required in order to prioritise competing 
demands within limited resources 
available including people, skills, land 
and assets and bearing in mind future 
impacts 
 

 Establishing and implementing robust 
planning and control cycles that cover 
strategic and operational plans, 
priorities and targets 

 Engaging with internal and external 
       stakeholders in determining how 

 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
Social Value Policy and Framework. 

 Liverpool City Region Fair Employment 
Charter. 

 Liverpool City Region Freeport. 

 Active Travel projects. 

 

 Public consultations – including options 

appraisal. 

 Business case evaluations.  

 Liverpool City Region National Local 
Growth Assurance Framework. 

 Investment Strategy which provides 
detailed information relating to the 
Strategic Investment Fund (SIF). 

  

 Training and workshops on risk. 

 Corporate Risk Registers. 

 Service Risk Registers. 

 

 

 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Service Plans. 

 Team Plans. 

 Individual Performance Plan (IPP) process. 

 Risk Management Policy. 

 Business Continuity Policy (and the  
 

P
age 156



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 15 

 

 

 

Core Principle Sub-Principles Requirements Supporting Evidence 

  services and other courses of action 
should be planned and delivered 

 Considering and monitoring risks 
facing each partner when working 
collaboratively, including shared risks 

 Ensuring arrangements are flexible and 
agile so that the mechanisms for 
delivering goods and services can be 
adapted to changing circumstances 

 Establishing appropriate key 
performance indicators (KPIs) as part 
of the planning process in order to 
identify how the performance of 
services and projects is to be 
measured 

 Ensuring capacity exists to generate 
the information required to review 
service quality regularly 

 Preparing budgets in accordance with 
objectives, strategies and the medium 
term financial plan 

 Informing medium and long term 
resource planning by drawing up 
realistic estimates of revenue and 
capital expenditure aimed at 
developing a sustainable funding 
strategy 

development of associated plans). 

 Public consultations. 

 Liverpool City Region National Local Growth 

Assurance Framework. 

 Investment Strategy which provides 
detailed information relating to the 
Strategic Investment Fund (SIF). 

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 
Constitution. 

 Delegated decisions system in place to 
record rationale and approval of decisions 
within delegated authority. 

 Briefings by Metro Mayor and senior leaders. 

 Regular briefings to members on the Rolling 
Stock project. 

 Operational and Executive Programme 
Boards in place for Rolling Stock project, 
with dashboard reports presented to these. 

 Delivery Boards in place with dashboard 
reports presented to these. 

 Contract Procedure Rules incorporating 
social value considerations. 

 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
Social Value Policy and Framework. 

 Continued management of delivery of 
required outputs under Devolution Deal. 

 Service Area Measures defined and 
reported throughout the year with remedial 
actions being put in place where this is  

P
age 157



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 16 

 

 

 

Core Principle Sub-Principles Requirements Supporting Evidence 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 E. Developing  
 the entity‟s   
 capacity,  
 including the  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Optimising  
 achievement of  
 intended  
 outcomes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Developing the  
 entity‟s capacity 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 Ensuring the medium term financial 
strategy integrates and balances 
service priorities, affordability and other 
resource constraints 

 Ensuring the budgeting process is all- 
inclusive, taking into account the full 
cost of operations over the medium 
and longer term 

 Ensuring the medium term financial 
strategy sets the context for ongoing 
decisions on significant delivery issues 
or responses to changes in the 
external environment that may arise 
during the budgetary period in order for 
outcomes to be achieved while 
optimising resource usage 

 Ensuring the achievement of „social 
value‟ through service planning and 
commissioning 
 

 Reviewing operations, performance 
and use of assets on a regular basis to 
ensure their continuing effectiveness 

 Improving resource use through 

falling below target. 

 Customer feedback obtained regarding 
transport and used to feed into plans 
and working with providers, e.g. Bus 
Alliance. 
 

 Corporate Plan. 

  

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 
Constitution. 

 Contract Procedure Rules incorporating 
social value considerations. 

 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

Social Value Policy and Framework. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Service Plans. 

 Team Plans. 

 Recruitment and Selection Policy. 

P
age 158



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 17 

 

 

Core Principle Sub-Principles Requirements Supporting Evidence 

 capability of its 
 leadership and    
 the individuals 
 within it 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 Developing the  
 capability of the  
 entity‟s leadership  
 and other  
 individuals 

appropriate application of techniques 
such as benchmarking and other 
options in order to determine how 
resources are allocated so that defined 
outcomes are achieved effectively and 
efficiently 

 Recognising the benefits of 
partnerships and collaborative working 
where added value can be achieved 

 Developing and maintaining an 
effective workforce plan to enhance 
the strategic allocation of resources 
 

 Developing protocols to ensure that 
elected and appointed leaders 
negotiate with each other regarding 
their respective roles early on in the 
relationship and that a shared 
understanding of roles and objectives 
is maintained 

 Publishing a statement that specifies 
the types of decisions that are 
delegated and those reserved for the 
collective decision making of the 
governing body 

 Ensuring the leader and the chief 
executive have clearly defined and 
distinctive leadership roles within a 
structure whereby the chief 
executive leads in implementing 

 Appropriate capacity maintained and 

developed so as to meet the needs of the 

organisation. 

 Permanent flexible and hybrid working 

patterns. 

 Mixture of in-person and remote meetings 

and sessions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 
Constitution. 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Service Plans. 

 Team Plans. 

 Individual Performance Plan (IPP) process. 

 Regular Heads of Service and Directors 
meetings held along with Management 
Conferences. 

 Learning and Development Procedure. 

 Employee Assistance Programme. 

 Attendance at Work Policy. 

 Job descriptions in place. 

 Management/1:1 meetings in place. 

 Corporate induction/staff handbook. 

 Member training and briefings in place. 

 

P
age 159



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 18 

 

 

Core Principle Sub-Principles Requirements Supporting Evidence 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

strategy and managing the delivery of 
services and other outputs set by 
members and each provides a check 
and a balance for each other‟s 
authority 

 Developing the capabilities of members 
and senior management to achieve 
effective leadership and to enable the 
organisation to respond successfully to 
changing legal and policy demands as 
well as economic, political and 
environmental changes and risks by: 
o ensuring members and staff have 

access to appropriate induction 
tailored to their role and that ongoing 
training and development matching 
individual and organisational 
requirements is available and 
encouraged 

o ensuring members and officers have 
the appropriate skills, knowledge, 
resources and support to fulfil their 
roles and responsibilities and 
ensuring that they are able to update 
their knowledge on a continuing 
basis 

o ensuring personal, organisational 
and system-wide development 
through shared learning, including 
lessons learnt from governance  

 

 Chief Executive and Metro Mayor briefings for 

staff. 

 Health and Safety Policy. 

 Permanent flexible and hybrid working 
patterns. 

 Mixture of in-person and remote meetings 
and sessions. 

 Leadership Development Programme. 

 Leadership Charter. 

 People Strategy. 

 Employee Survey. 

 City Region Sustainable Transport 
Settlement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 160



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 19 

 

 

Core Principle Sub-Principles Requirements Supporting Evidence 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 F. Managing  
 risks and  
 performance  
 through robust  
 internal control  
 and strong public 
 financial  
 management 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Managing risk 

weaknesses both internal and 
external 

 Ensuring that there are structures in 
place to encourage public participation 

 Taking steps to consider the 
leadership‟s own effectiveness and 
ensuring leaders are open to 
constructive feedback from peer review 
and inspections 

 Holding staff to account through 
regular performance reviews which 
take account of training or 
development needs 

 Ensuring arrangements are in 
place to maintain the health and 
wellbeing of the workforce and 
support individuals in maintaining 
their own physical and mental 
wellbeing 
 

 Recognising that risk management is 
an integral part of all activities and 
must be considered in all aspects of 
decision making 

 Implementing robust and integrated 
risk management arrangements and 
ensuring that they are working 
effectively 

 Ensuring that responsibilities for 
managing individual risks are clearly 
allocated 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Risk Management Policy. 

 Risk Group. 

 Corporate and Transport Risk Registers. 

 Service Risk Registers. 

 Risk management training sessions. 

 Sessions with Directors to identify key risks 
and produce fully updated Corporate Risk 
Registers. 

 Inclusion of risk management 
considerations in all Committee reports. 

P
age 161



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 20 

 

 

Core Principle Sub-Principles Requirements Supporting Evidence 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 Managing  
 performance 
 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
 
 
 

 Monitoring service delivery effectively 
including planning, specification, 
execution and independent post 
implementation review 

 Making decisions based on relevant, 
clear objective analysis and advice 
pointing out the implications and risks 
inherent in the organisation‟s financial, 
social and environmental position and 
outlook 

 Ensuring an effective scrutiny or 
oversight function is in place which 
provides constructive challenge and 
debate on policies and objectives 
before, during and after decisions are 
made thereby enhancing the 
organisation‟s performance and that of 
any organisation for which it is 
responsible 

 Providing members and senior 
management with regular reports on 
service delivery plans and on progress 
towards outcome achievement 

 Ensuring there is consistency between 
specification stages (such as budgets) 
and post implementation reporting 
(e.g. financial statements) 

 Information Security Incident Management 
Protocol. 

 Information Management Group. 
 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Business Continuity Policy (and the 
development associated plans). 

 Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 Committee reports and Member briefings. 

 Performance Management Framework. 

  

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 
Constitution. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 162



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 21 

 

 

Core Principle Sub-Principles Requirements Supporting Evidence 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 Robust internal  
 control 
 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 Aligning the risk management strategy 
and policies on internal control with 
achieving objectives 

 Evaluating and monitoring risk 
management and internal control on a 
regular basis  

 Ensuring effective counter fraud and 
anti-corruption arrangements are in 
place 

 Ensuring additional assurance on the 
overall adequacy and effectiveness of 
the framework of governance, risk 
management and control is provided 
by the internal auditor 

 Ensuring the audit committee which is 
independent of the executive and 
accountable to the governing body: 
o provides a further source of effective 

assurance regarding arrangements 
for managing risk and maintaining 
an effective control environment 

o that its recommendations are 
listened to and acted upon 

 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Service Plans. 

 Corporate and Transport Risk Registers. 

 Service Risk Registers. 

 Risk Management Policy. 

 Annual Governance Statement and 
supporting review. 

 Internal Audit review of risk management. 

 Internal Audit Annual Audit Plan. 

 Head of Internal Audit – Annual Report and 
Opinion. 

 Head of Internal Audit – regular reports to 
Audit and Governance Committee. 

 Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Protocol; 
and associated Policy Framework. 

 Protocols cover how to report a 
suspected fraud. 

 Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) 
Protocol. 

 Fraud Awareness training available as an e- 
learning package. 

 Fraud awareness campaigns – such as 
Fraud Awareness Week. 

 Internal Audit proactive counter-fraud work 
carried out. 
 

 
Core Principle Sub-Principles Requirements Supporting Evidence 

P
age 163



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 22 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

  

 

  
 

 

 Managing data 
 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 

 Ensuring effective arrangements are in 
place for the safe collection, storage, 
use and sharing of data, including 
processes to safeguard personal data 

 Ensuring effective arrangements are in 
place and operating effectively when 
sharing data with other bodies 

 Reviewing and auditing regularly the 
quality and accuracy of data used in 
decision making and performance 
monitoring 

 Participation in the National Fraud Initiative 
(NFI). 

 Information Security Incident Management 
Protocol. 
 

 Data Protection Policy. 
 CCTV Code of Practice. 
 Freedom of Information and 

Environmental Regulations Policy. 
 Publication Scheme. 
 Records Management Policy and 

Procedures. 
 Off-site Records Retrieval Guidance. 
 Corporate Retention Policy in place. 
 Social Media Policy. 
 IT Acceptable Use Policy. 
 Information Security Incident Management 

Protocol. 

 PCI Compliance Policy. 

 Data Protection/GDPR training including e- 
learning packages being available. 

 Portal for reporting data breaches 
maintained. 

 SIMO and SIRO in place. Annual self- 
assessment undertaken in relation to the 
role of SIRO (utilising the governance 
requirements detailed in Local Public 

Services Data Handling Guidelines 5th 

Edition, April 2018). 

 Corporate Retention Policy in place. 
 

 

P
age 164



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 23 

 

 

Core Principle Sub-Principles Requirements Supporting Evidence 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

  

 

  
 

 

  
 Strong public  
 financial  
 management 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 

 

 Ensuring financial management 
supports both long term achievement 
of outcomes and short-term financial 
and operational performance 

 Ensuring well-developed financial 
management is integrated at all levels 
of planning and control, including 
management of financial risks and 
controls 

 Physical controls in place to protect data 
held in paper format. 

 Electronic system access controls in place. 
 Information Asset Registers in place. 
 Data Breach Protocol. 

 

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 
Constitution. 

  

 Budget monitoring and reporting. 

 Monthly budget monitoring statements 
received by Heads of Service and 
discussions held. 

 Financial information available via Agresso 
access. 

 Financial implications of decisions included 
within Committee reports and Delegated 
Decisions, both of which require Finance 
sign off. 

 Agresso authorisation levels and delegated 
authority in place. 

 Income reconciliation at source within high 
volume transactional areas. 

  

 Budget proposals shared with Transport 
Committee and Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to allow consideration and 
scrutiny prior to formal approval. 

 Finance consideration and sign off required 
for reports to LCRCA and to Merseytravel – 

 

P
age 165



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 24 

 

 

Core Principle Sub-Principles Requirements Supporting Evidence 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
G. Implementing 
good practices in 
transparency, 
reporting and 
audit to deliver 
effective 
accountability  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

  

 

  
 

 

  
  
 

 

  
 
 Implementing  
 good practice in   
 transparency 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 Implementing  
 good practices in  
 reporting 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Writing and communicating reports for 
the public and other stakeholders in a 
fair, balanced and understandable style 
appropriate to the intended audience 
and ensuring that they are easy to 
access and interrogate 

 Striking a balance between providing 
the right amount of information to satisfy 
transparency demands and enhance 
public scrutiny while not being 
too onerous to provide and for users to 
understand 
 

 Reporting at least annually on 
performance, value for money and 
stewardship of resources to 
stakeholders in a timely and 
understandable way 

 Ensuring members and senior 

facilitates robust discussion regarding 
financial implications of decisions. 

 Annual self-assessment undertaken in 
relation to the role of the Chief Financial 
Officer in Local Government (utilising CIPFA 
document „The Role of the Chief Financial 
Officer in Local Government‟ 2016). 

 Compliance with the Financial Management 
Code (CPIFA, 2019) is being worked 
towards. 

 

 Public access to relevant meetings. 

 Standard committee report template. 

 Heads of Service have responsibility for 
ensuring data on website and intranet is up 
to date. 

 Freedom of Information requests and 
responses published on website. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Review of Committee reports by a range of 
officers to ensure that issues are expressed 
clearly. Members then scrutinise the reports 
and ask questions. 

 Consideration of internal audit work at 
LCRCA Audit and Governance Committee. 

 

P
age 166



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 25 

 

 

 
Core Principle Sub-Principles Requirements Supporting Evidence 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

  

 

  
 

 

  
  
 

 

  
 
  
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 Assurance and  
 effective  
 accountability 

management own the results reported 

 Ensuring robust arrangements for 
assessing the extent to which the 
principles contained in this Code have 
been applied and publishing the 
results on this assessment, including 
an action plan for improvement and 
evidence to demonstrate good 
governance (the annual governance 
statement) 

 Ensuring that this Framework is 
applied to jointly managed or shared 
service organisations as appropriate 

 Ensuring the performance information 
that accompanies the financial 
statements is prepared on a 
consistent and timely basis and the 
statements allow for comparison with 
other, similar organisations 

 

 Ensuring that recommendations for 
corrective action made by external 
audit are acted upon 

 Ensuring an effective internal audit 
service with direct access to members 
is in place, providing assurance with 
regard to governance arrangements 
and that recommendations are acted 
upon 

 

 Annual Governance Statement. 

 Statement of Accounts. 

 Risk Group. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 External Audit Reports to LCRCA Audit 
and Governance Committee and 
Merseytravel. 

 Internal Audit Annual Audit Plan. 

 Head of Internal Audit – Annual Report 
and Opinion. 

 Head of Internal Audit – regular update 
reports to LCRCA Audit and Governance 

 

P
age 167



Code of Corporate Governance 2022-23 Page | 26 

 

 

Core Principle Sub-Principles Requirements Supporting Evidence 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

  

 

  
 

 

  
  
 

 

  
 
  
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
  
 

 Welcoming peer challenge, reviews 
and inspections from regulatory bodies 
and implementing recommendations 

 Gaining assurance on risks associated 
with delivering services through third 
parties and that this is evidenced in 
the annual governance statement 

 Ensuring that when working in 
partnership, arrangements for 
accountability are clear and the need 
or wider public accountability has been 
recognised and met. 

Committee. 

 Compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards. 

 Annual Governance Statement. 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Liverpool City Region National Local Growth 

Assurance Framework. 

 Investment Strategy which provides detailed 

information relating to the Strategic 

Investment Fund (SIF). 

 Self-assessment undertaken in relation to 
the role of the Head of Internal Audit in 
Public Sector Organisations (utilising 
CIPFA document „The Role of the Head of 
Internal Audit in Public Sector 
Organisations‟ 2019 edition). 

 Risk-based Internal Audit Plan. 

 Annual bus survey used to shape service 
going forward. 

 Annual Conversation – positive 
relationship with government in place 
and developing. 

 Ferries Domestic Safety Management 
external review. 

 All reports require approvals from Head of 
Service/Assistant Director/Executive 
Director, to enable any issues of clarity or 
accuracy to be challenged or questioned. 

 

P
age 168


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the last meeting
	Minutes

	4 Internal Audit Update
	Enc. 1 for Internal Audit Update

	5 Risk Management Update
	Enc. 1 for Risk Management Update
	Enc. 2 for Risk Management Update
	Enc. 3 for Risk Management Update
	Enc. 4 for Risk Management Update_v1
	Sheet1
	Guidance


	6 External Audit Annual Report 2020/21
	Enc. 1 for External Audit Annual Report 2020/21
	Slide Number 1
	Contents
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16


	7 External Audit 2021/22 Progress Update
	Enc. 1 for External Audit 2021/22 Progress Update
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16


	8 Code of Corporate Governance
	Appendix 1 - Code of Corporate Governance 2022-2023


